


In 2024, Hagerty will celebrate our 40th year as a company. Along the way, we 

have enjoyed many significant milestones, but few as big as the transformation 

we undertook to adopt and implement a more efficient business model, one 

that allows us to significantly improve our profitability (necessary to reinvest 

back into our competitive advantages) while maintaining our high rates of 

growth and excellent brand reputation.

This transformation began 
at the end of 2022 with a 
sober assessment of how 
we operate. From 2020-
2022, we grew the business 
58%, a very impressive 
growth rate, but at the cost 
of our historical margins, 
so we decided to start 
from scratch and examine 
everything – our planning, 
operations, technology, etc.– all with a goal 
of adding sustainable profitability to our 
longstanding growth story. 

Our team aligned around our 2023 goals 
and executed well, allowing us to increase 
our 2023 outlook throughout the year and 
change the tide of analyst sentiment. My 
favorite headline was: “Cost cuts, capital 

raise put specialty insurer 
Hagerty back on solid 
footing.” My other favorite 
was, “AM Best Assigns 
Credit Ratings to Hagerty 
Reinsurance Limited.” 
They gave us an A-, which 
means “excellent” and, 
we think, is reflective of 
Hagerty Re’s strong balance 
sheet, strong operating 

performance, neutral business profile and 
risk management. 

I am proud of that rating. Most companies 
struggle to institute the financial discipline 
necessary to thrive in the public markets, 
but we have been doing exactly that in 
2023 without sacrificing our top-line  
momentum. Our full year numbers attest  
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to that fact with total revenue growth 
of 27% on top of last year’s 27% growth. 
We’ve also seen strong growth in written 
premiums, which are up 17%. That 
increase, along with adjacent revenue 
and profit streams from our buy-sell-
finance business (Hagerty Marketplace), 
our popular membership organization 
(Hagerty Drivers Club) and our 
underwriting business, have resulted  
in a rapidly scaling business. 

2024’s trajectory should look a lot like 
2023, with another year of double-digit, 
compounding growth as we increase 
our share of a very large addressable 
market with 67 million car enthusiasts, 
and work toward, and eventually past, 
prior peak margins. We intend to keep 
the momentum going by improving 
customer experience through continuous 
improvements in our business processes 
and smart technology investments.  
This strategy should allow us to further 
expand our operating margins beyond  
the 960 bps improvement we delivered  
in 2023.

What’s most satisfying to me about our 
transformation is the loud-and-clear 
message it sends to our employees, 
partners and the financial community: 
“We did what we said we would do.” To us, 
that’s nothing new. We have methodically 
built trust with our members for four 
decades by delivering on our promises. 
When we tell people they’re going to have 
a great time at our automotive events, 

we make sure that they do. When we tell 
them that our Valuation Tools are going 
to help them transact their vehicle at an 
appropriate price, we’ve always backed it 
up with rich, meaningful data. And when 
we tell them that they can trust our live 
and digital car auctions, people know it’s 
true because we’ve long since built a track 
record of trust with them. 

The synergy that exists between promises 
made and promises fulfilled fuels our 
growth. Our insurance customers – happy 
with our performance and charmed by 
our incredible Member Service Center 
experts, who know cars and talk to 
members the way they would like to be 
talked to if they were calling in about a 
claim - often choose to join our Club. 
And go to our events. And consume our 
top-quality automotive media content. 
And buy and sell cars at our auctions 
nationwide. And once someone buys a car, 
guess what: they often want to insure it 
with us. It’s a virtuous cycle. Our vision is 
to not only protect people’s pride and joy, 
but make it easier to buy, sell and enjoy 
the vehicles that are at the heart of what 
we do. 

As always, thank you for being on this 
long, wonderful road trip with us. 

Onward and upward! 

McKeel Hagerty 
CEO, Hagerty
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Where You Can Find More Information

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Annual Report"), "we," "our," "us," "Hagerty," "HGTY," and the "Company" 
refer to Hagerty, Inc., formerly known as Aldel Financial Inc. ("Aldel"), and its consolidated subsidiaries including The 
Hagerty Group, LLC ("The Hagerty Group"), unless the context requires otherwise. We file annual, quarterly, and current 
reports, proxy statements and other information with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). 
General information about us can be found at investor.hagerty.com. Our Annual Report, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q 
and Current Reports on Form 8-K, as well as any amendments to those reports, are available free of charge through our 
website at investor.hagerty.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we file them with, or furnish them to, the SEC. 
The SEC also maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements, and other information 
regarding SEC registrants, including Hagerty, Inc.

We use our investor relations website, investor.hagerty.com, as a means of disclosing information which may be of 
interest or material to our investors and for complying with disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Accordingly, 
investors should monitor our investor relations website, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings, public 
conference calls, webcasts, and social media channels. Information contained on or accessible through, including any 
reports available on, our website or social media channels is not a part of, and is not incorporated by reference into, this 
Annual Report or any other report or document we file with the SEC. Any reference to our website in this Form 10-K is 
intended to be an inactive textual reference only.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report, as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made by us, contain 
statements that constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995. All statements contained in this Annual Report other than statements of historical fact, are forward-looking 
statements, including statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and 
plans, products, services, and technology offerings, market conditions, growth and trends, expansion plans and 
opportunities, and our objectives for future operations. Forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as 
"anticipate," "believe," "envision," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may," "plan," "predict," "project," "target," "potential," 
"will," "would," "could," "should," "continue," "ongoing," "contemplate," and other similar expressions, although not all 
forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. 

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events 
and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-
term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of 
risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including those described in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" in this Annual Report. 
In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this Annual Report may 
not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking 
statements. 

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in forward-looking statements 
include, among other things, our ability to:

• compete effectively within our industry and attract and retain our insurance policyholders and paid HDC
subscribers (collectively, "Members");

• maintain key strategic relationships with our insurance distribution and underwriting carrier partners;

• prevent, monitor, and detect fraudulent activity;

• manage risks associated with disruptions, interruptions, outages or other issues with our technology platforms or
our use of third-party services;

• accelerate the adoption of our membership products as well as any new insurance programs and products we
offer;

• manage the cyclical nature of the insurance business, including through any periods of recession, economic
downturn or inflation;

• address unexpected increases in the frequency or severity of claims;

• comply with the numerous laws and regulations applicable to our business, including state, federal and foreign
laws relating to insurance and rate increases, privacy, the internet, and accounting matters;

• manage risks associated with being a controlled company; and

• successfully defend any litigation, government inquiries, and investigations.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the 
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, 
performance, or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will occur. Moreover, we operate in 
a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our 
management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the effect of all factors on our business or the extent to which any 
factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statements we may make. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report represent our views as of the 
date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason 
after the date of this Annual Report or to conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations.
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PART I

ITEM 1: BUSINESS

Company Overview

We are a market leader in providing insurance for classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. Through our insurance model, we 
act as a Managing General Agent ("MGA") by underwriting, selling and servicing classic car and enthusiast vehicle 
insurance policies. Then, due to our consistent track record of delivering strong underwriting results, we reinsure a large 
portion of the risks written by our MGA subsidiaries through our wholly owned subsidiary, Hagerty Reinsurance Limited 
("Hagerty Re"). In addition, we offer Hagerty Drivers Club ("HDC") memberships, which can be bundled with our 
insurance policies and give subscribers access to an array of products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club 
Magazine, automotive enthusiast events, our proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside assistance, and 
special vehicle-related discounts. Lastly, to complement our insurance and membership offerings, we also offer Hagerty 
Marketplace ("Marketplace"), where car enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance collector cars. Through these offerings, our 
goal is to be the world's most trusted and preferred brand for enthusiasts to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy the special cars 
that are their passion.

The backbone of our ecosystem is our fast-growing insurance business. People take excellent care of the things they love, 
and we take great pride in protecting and preserving their treasured vehicles. For almost 40 years, we have consistently 
grown our insurance business and currently insure approximately 2.4 million classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. We have 
built a strong reputation for providing excellent customer service through our passionate member service center, resulting 
in a Net Promoter Score ("NPS") of at least 82 in recent years, an insurance policy retention rate close to 90%, and a 
typical policy life of approximately nine years. 

HDC and Marketplace, as well as our media and entertainment platforms, work synergistically with our insurance 
business to drive retention and loyalty and enable auto enthusiasts to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy their special cars, 
whether it be on the road, on the track, in the garage, at an event, or through our media content. We believe the 
combination of these complementary offerings creates an enthusiast-centered ecosystem of products and services, 
generating multiple points of monetization, resulting in an attractive recurring revenue business model with relatively low 
customer acquisition costs that benefit from increasing scale.

With a rich heritage spanning over 40 years, the first Hagerty company was founded in 1984. Hagerty, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation, was formed in 2020 and became a public company traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") in 
2021.

Industry and Market Opportunity

We love cars and we are not alone, as evidenced by the large and growing collector car market. We estimate that there are 
approximately 46 million insurable collector cars in the United States ("U.S."), of which approximately 11 million are 
pre-1981 and 35 million are post-1980 collectibles. On this basis, we estimate that the U.S. market translates into 
$18 billion of annual premium for insurable collector cars based on our average vehicle premium of approximately $381 
per year. Over the last decade, we have increased our written premium by a compound annual growth rate ("CAGR") of 
13%, powered primarily by strong growth in the number of our insurance policies in force. While we have become one of 
the leading providers of insurance for pre-1981 classics, with an estimated market share of 13.3% in that cohort, we 
estimate our market share for post-1980 collectibles is only 1.7%, resulting in an overall collector car market share of 
under 5%. We believe that our strong brand and value proposition focused on our "Guaranteed Value" insurance policies 
position us well to capture a larger share of this growing market over the coming decade.
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In order to fully capitalize on this opportunity, we perform a data-driven Member and vehicle analysis to understand 
vehicle ownership data, demographic data, vehicle usage, and values. Based upon this analysis, we are able to identify key 
vehicle markets, explore additional opportunities within these markets, overlay demographic and usage data to enrich our 
approach and leverage the information to better serve the auto enthusiast community.

Business Model and Competitive Strengths

The Hagerty brand has been carefully curated over the last four decades by providing Members with excellent customer 
service through our passionate team of automotive experts. We have become known as an auto enthusiast brand for car 
people, by car people. We believe that consumers who feel a part of an enthusiast community or club are more engaged 
and have higher renewal rates than those who simply purchase a good or service. With an insurance policy retention rate 
of nearly 90% and an average policy life of nine years, we have demonstrated a strong recurring revenue model that 
benefits from a combination of high insurance policy retention, new Member growth, and increases in premium rates 
driven, in part, by increasing valuation. 

The enthusiast community created by our insurance, membership and Marketplace offerings is enhanced by our media and 
entertainment platforms, as well as our renowned car events, which generate positive ongoing engagement with current 
Members, as well as interest from prospective members, in our brand, products and services. Our media content features 
the work of talented automotive content creators, journalists, and storytellers who bring the automotive world to life in 
exciting and unexpected ways across a variety of digital, print, and video media formats. Our media team covers 
entertainment, news, market information, and vehicle valuation trends, all of which helps generate an engaged audience 
that drives retention and brings new Members into our ecosystem.

Our enthusiast-centered ecosystem is built for car lovers, enabling them to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy the special cars 
that are their passion, thereby increasing our share of their discretionary spending. We believe that this enthusiast-centered 
business model, with a focus on community and engagement, is a significant advantage over competitors who, without 
strong affinity or engagement, are left to compete mainly on price.
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Insurance

We provide insurance for approximately 2.4 million classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. Our insurance business model 
positions us to control the pricing and underwriting of the insurance policies, benefit from steady commission income and 
engage directly with consumers. We operate an omnichannel distribution model, including our direct sales channel 
serviced by our employee agents, our vast network of independent agents and brokers, and our insurance distribution 
partners. We believe this system of cooperation and partnership creates a win-win situation that allows us to capture more 
of the collector car and enthusiast vehicle insurance market.

Our insurance business generates two types of revenue: (1) commissions and fees earned by our MGA subsidiaries from 
the underwriting, sale and servicing of classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies, and (2) insurance premiums 
earned for the risk assumed by Hagerty Re. 

We utilize our data science capabilities to benefit both our MGA activities, as well as our risk-taking activities through 
Hagerty Re. Some examples of how we utilize data science include:

• Underwriting and Risk Assessment: Decades of data allow us to accurately assess the risk associated with insuring
collector cars through actuarial analysis, which leads to more efficient underwriting and appropriate pricing.

• Market Analysis: Machine learning algorithms are designed to analyze data on collector car sales and values to
identify trends and initiate automated marketing, sales and servicing workflows.

• Customer Service: AI-powered tools provide instant and accurate responses to Member inquiries, freeing up our
member service agents to handle more complex issues and improve the Member experience.

• Claims Processing: Streamlining the claims process by automating routine tasks and flagging potential fraud.

We are investing substantial resources in research and development to enhance our platform, develop new products and 
features, and improve the speed, scalability, and security of our platform infrastructure. Our research and development 
organization consists of world-class engineering, product, data, and design teams. These teams work collaboratively to 
bring our products to life, from conception and validation to implementation.

Managing General Agent

We earn commission revenue from the underwriting, sale, and servicing of classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance 
policies on behalf of our insurance carrier partners. Our insurance products are unique due to our omnichannel distribution 
approach, meaning we sell our insurance wherever our policyholders need us. This omnichannel approach allows us to 
offer our insurance products across three channels: (1) directly to consumers; (2) through independent agents and brokers; 
and (3) through strategic distribution partnerships with large traditional auto insurers. Historically, our MGA subsidiaries 
have earned a base commission of approximately 32% of written premium, as well as an additional contingent 
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underwriting commission ("CUC") of up to 10%. In December 2023, our alliance agreement and associated agency 
agreement with Markel Group, Inc. ("Markel"), which generated approximately 95% of our total commission revenue in 
2023, was amended to increase the base commission rate on our personal lines U.S. auto business to 37% and to adjust the 
profit share commission factors to scale annually from -5% to a maximum of +5% of written premium, with 80% of the 
expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024. Refer to the section titled "Markel Alliance" below. Markel is a 
related party to the Company. Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report 
for additional information.

Our insurance offerings are centered around our "Guaranteed Value" insurance policy which differentiates our coverage 
from the standard auto insurance market by insuring covered vehicles at their agreed upon value, rather than the 
depreciated value typically provided by standard auto coverage. We work closely with our Members to determine the right 
amount of coverage for their vehicle, utilizing Hagerty Valuation Tools ("HVT"), which has been built over decades of 
collecting vehicle sales information. If a vehicle experiences a covered total loss, we pay the full amount of the vehicle's 
insured value without any depreciation. 

In addition, our MGA subsidiaries also handle the claims for our insurance products to ensure our Members receive a high 
level of service focused on the unique requirements of repairing vintage and rare vehicles. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, MGA commission and fee revenue represented 37%, 39%, and 
44%, respectively, of our total revenue.

Direct Sales Channel

Our direct sales channel is serviced by our employee agents working across all 50 states and three countries to drive new 
business flow. Approximately 45% of our total U.S. auto written premium is generated through direct sales. As discussed 
above under "Business Model and Competitive Strengths", we have created an auto enthusiast ecosystem that connects 
with Members across multiple points of engagement whereas typical insurance companies engage with their customers 
only at the point of purchase and upon renewal. 

Independent Agent and Broker Channel

Approximately 33% of our total U.S. auto written premium is generated by our relationships with over 49,000 
independent agents and brokers, including the independent agents in our partnership channel, as discussed below. These 
independent agents and brokers represent all top 10 brokers in the U.S. by revenue. We are often told by agents and 
brokers that partnering with us brings value and joy to their enthusiast clients that is unmatched in the industry. Our high-
engagement and experiential approach to the market is often co-branded by independent agents and brokers to deliver auto 
enthusiasts an experience the agent or broker could not deliver themselves. As a result, both brands benefit symbiotically 
through longer-lasting and more intimate customer relationships.

Partnership Channel

We also market our insurance products through our insurance distribution partners, who account for approximately 22% 
of our U.S. auto total written premium. This channel consists of partnerships with 9 of the top 10 largest auto insurers, as 
ranked by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners based upon 2022 direct premiums written, including 
State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm"). Under these arrangements, we generally make our 
specialty insurance products and related services available to the carrier's agents, who then refer or present Hagerty to 
their customers. Our track record of expertise and growth creates opportunities for cultivating strong, mutually beneficial 
partnerships that allow us to continue to meaningfully grow our share of the collector car market in the U.S.

Most insurance companies offer and compete for multi-line insurance: auto, homeowners, umbrella, watercraft, aircraft, 
and other exclusive collectibles. Our focus on collector car products and services reduces competitive threats for partners 
and raises their confidence in transacting with us. Furthermore, we focus our investments on developing capabilities that 
serve the interests of the car enthusiast market. This depth and discipline of focus has enabled us to maintain a "neutral" 
and non-threatening partner of choice position with the highest quality automobile insurance companies in the market as 
we help them reduce the risk of losing a customer and the total value of the bundled insurance and membership offerings. 

Our approach to partnerships enables complementary growth. Our business model is attractive to our partners because we 
offer a full-service solution for their customers and their special cars. We handle product development and pricing, sales 
and service, underwriting, and claims services on behalf of our carrier partners, and we offer Member benefits tailored to 
the enthusiast all through our proprietary technology and by our sales and service teams. For partners, our focus on the 
collector car space allows them to focus on other parts of their business portfolios. We then align financial interests so 
both parties benefit from the relationship, which creates strong and more durable institutional bonds. When our partners 
win and grow, we do as well. We take great care to build partnerships with companies who share our intense focus on 
customer service. 
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Strategic Agreements

State Farm Alliance

Hagerty has a 10-year master alliance agreement with State Farm under which State Farm's customers, through State Farm 
agents, are able to access Hagerty's features and services. This program began issuing policies in four initial states in 
September 2023. Under this agreement, State Farm paid Hagerty an advanced commission of $20.0 million in 2020, 
which is being recognized as "Commission and fee revenue" over the remaining life of the arrangement.

In conjunction with the master alliance agreement, the Company also entered into a managing general underwriter 
agreement whereby the State Farm Classic+ policy is offered through State Farm Classic Insurance Company, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of State Farm. The State Farm Classic+ policy is available to new and existing State Farm customers 
through their agents on a state-by-state basis. Hagerty is paid a commission under the managing general underwriter 
agreement and ancillary agreements for servicing the State Farm Classic+ policies. Additionally, we have the opportunity 
to offer HDC membership to State Farm Classic+ customers which provides Hagerty an additional revenue opportunity. 

State Farm is a related party to the Company. Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions in Item 8 of Part II of this 
Annual Report for additional information.

Markel Alliance

Markel is the ultimate parent company of Essentia Insurance Company ("Essentia"), which serves as the dedicated carrier 
for the specialty classic and collector vehicle insurance policies sold by our U.S. MGA subsidiaries. Essentia is exclusive 
to our U.S. MGA subsidiaries and only writes insurance policies we produce. Under this arrangement, we are licensed and 
appointed as Essentia’s MGA and are authorized to develop insurance products, underwrite, bill, and perform claims 
services for policies written through Essentia. State laws govern many of the activities under this relationship and our 
MGA subsidiaries must maintain the appropriate licensing as a producer and, where required, as an MGA, plus additional 
requirements in some states for claims adjusting.

Essentia cedes premiums and risk through quota share reinsurance agreements to three of our key insurance distribution 
partners with the remaining retained premium being ceded to its affiliate, Evanston Insurance Company ("Evanston"). 
Evanston, in turn, cedes a portion of the business it reinsures from Essentia to Hagerty Re. For Evanston to take credit for 
reinsurance under applicable state law, Hagerty Re maintains funds in trust for the benefit of Evanston. 

On December 18, 2023, the Markel Alliance Agreement was amended to, among other things, (i) include a new definition 
of "Enthusiast Business", and remove Enthusiast Business from both definitions of "Restricted Business" and "Alliance 
Business"; (ii) delay the Company's acquisition rights to Essentia until 2026 at the earliest and 2030 at the latest and; (iii) 
grant the Company a new waiver to pursue a strategic opportunity with a third party insurance company. In connection 
with the amendments to the Markel Alliance Agreement, the Company and Markel also amended the agency agreement 
referenced in the Markel Alliance Agreement to increase the base commission rate on our personal lines U.S. auto 
business to 37% and to adjust the profit share commission factors to scale annually from -5% to a maximum of +5% of 
written premium, with 80% of the expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024. The Markel and Hagerty 
agreements governing the relationship expire at the end of 2030 and include extension periods. 

Markel is a related party to the Company. Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions in Item 8 of Part II of this 
Annual Report for additional information.

Aviva Canada Alliance

Aviva Canada Inc. ("Aviva") is the parent company of Elite Insurance Company which serves as the carrier for our 
Canadian MGA subsidiary ("Hagerty Canada") collector vehicle insurance program. The relationship with Aviva in 
Canada is exclusive with respect to specialty, enthusiast, classic, and collector vehicle insurance, with the exception of the 
Quebec province, where a third-party insurance agency carries the appropriate licenses and authority to submit business to 
Elite Insurance Company. Elite Insurance Company and Hagerty Re have a reinsurance quota share agreement. The terms 
of the Aviva agreements expire in 2030 and include a 5-year extension. Canadian provincial laws govern many of the 
activities under this relationship and, in addition to appropriate carrier licensing requirements, Hagerty Canada must 
maintain the appropriate licensing.

Hagerty Re

Because we have confidence in the risks underwritten by our MGA subsidiaries, we reinsure a large portion of that risk 
and share in the underwriting profit through Hagerty Re, which is registered as a Class 3A reinsurer under the Bermuda 
Insurance Act of 1978. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share, or 
assumed risk, was approximately 80%, 70%, and 60%, respectively. We anticipate that Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share will 
remain at 80% going forward.

10



Hagerty Re allows us to efficiently deploy capital and create steady, consistent underwriting results due to our deliberate 
approach to managing risk and employing actuarial discipline to the underwriting process, which has resulted in an 
attractive average loss ratio of 43% over the last three years. This compares favorably to the overall auto insurance 
industry average of approximately 69%, excluding loss adjustment expenses.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, Hagerty Re earned premium represented 53%, 51%, and 48%, 
respectively, of our total revenue.

Membership

We offer HDC memberships to our insurance policyholders as a way to strengthen the bonds of those relationships. As of 
December 31, 2023, approximately three-quarters of new insurance policyholders also purchase a subscription to HDC. In 
addition, we offer HDC memberships as a stand-alone product to continue to build the broader enthusiast community. Our 
focus on HDC membership offerings is intended to build a community of car lovers that are loyal to the Hagerty brand 
due to the multiple valuable points of engagement we provide.

Typical insurance businesses engage with their customers only a few times a year. Through our diverse Membership 
offerings, we deploy an ecosystem of engagement, including both physical (through events and social functions) and 
digital platforms (through media content, social media engagement, market news and valuation data) that can result in 
numerous touchpoints with Members each year. We believe our leading NPS and strong retention rates reflect the 
effectiveness of our enthusiast ecosystem. 

Marketplace 

The market for buying and selling collector cars is substantial, encompassing live and time-based online auctions, as well 
as private sales. We estimate that there are approximately 46 million insurable collector cars in the U.S., valued at 
approximately $1.0 trillion. In 2023, we observed approximately 300,000 buy/sell collector car transactions representing 
approximately $14.2 billion in total value trading hands in our U.S. insurance book, or approximately 1.4% of the 
estimated U.S. market value. We believe we can differentiate ourselves from other platforms and services by injecting a 
higher level of trust into this marketplace by using our existing size, scale, improved processes, and trusted brand status. 

Marketplace leverages the power of our ecosystem by providing a platform where enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance 
collector cars. At the high-end of the collector car market, where values typically exceed $100,000, our wholly owned 
subsidiary, Broad Arrow Group, Inc. ("Broad Arrow"), helps collectors and enthusiasts buy and sell at live auctions and 
also facilitates private sales. At lower price points, typically below $100,000, Hagerty Marketplace offers time-based 
online auctions, as well as classified listings through Hagerty Classifieds, which enables collectors and enthusiasts to buy 
and sell collector cars through our digital platform. Lastly, through Broad Arrow Capital LLC ("BAC"), we provide 
financing solutions to qualified collectors and businesses in the U.S., Canada, the U.K., and certain European countries by 
structuring loans secured by their collector cars. Loans underwritten by BAC are typically $250,000 or higher, with a 
focus on classic and collector cars that are typically not financed by traditional banks and lenders.

Marketplace utilizes HVT, our valuation tool used by over three million people each year to access current and historic 
pricing data on more than 48,000 collector vehicle models based on our robust proprietary database.

Business Attributes

Intellectual Property

We believe our intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business. We rely on trademarks, patents, 
copyrights, trade secrets, license agreements, intellectual property assignment agreements, confidentiality procedures, 
non-disclosure agreements, and electronic and physical security measures to establish and protect our proprietary rights. 
Though we rely in part upon these legal, contractual, and other protections, we believe that factors such as the skill and 
ingenuity of our employees and the functionality and frequent enhancements to our platform are large contributors to our 
success. We intend to pursue additional intellectual property protection on such enhancements to the extent we believe it 
would be beneficial and cost-effective.

As of December 31, 2023, we have two issued patents in the U.S. and one in Canada. The issued patents generally relate 
to (i) our vehicle information number decoder, which allows us to determine vehicle configuration details and associated 
vehicle values and (ii) our method and system for storage and selective sharing of vehicle data. The issued patents are 
expected to expire in August 2030, May 2031, and May 2033, respectively. We continually review our development 
efforts to assess the existence and the ability to protect new intellectual property.
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We have trademark rights in our name, our logo, and other brand indicia, and have trademark registrations for select 
markets in the U.S., Canada, U.K., European Union ("E.U."), and Australia. We have copyrights for our media and 
entertainment content and registered copyrights for our vehicle information tools in the U.S. We also have registered 
various domain names related to our brand for websites that we use in our business, including Hagerty.com.

Although we believe our intellectual property rights are valuable and strong, intellectual property rights are sometimes 
subject to invalidation or circumvention. Refer to the section titled "Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business — Our 
intellectual property rights are extremely valuable and if they are not properly protected, our products, services, and 
brand could be adversely impacted." within Part I, Item IA — Risk Factors, in this Annual Report for additional 
information.

Seasonality

Due to our significant North American footprint, our revenue streams, and in particular, commission and fee revenue, 
exhibit seasonality, with a larger percentage of revenue derived in the second and third quarters, while the first and fourth 
quarters generate lower revenue and profitability. This seasonality is due to the fact that more vehicles are driven and 
purchased during the second and third quarters, and our twelve-month insurance policies renew during those same 
quarters. We expect to experience seasonal fluctuations in our quarterly operating results, which may not fully reflect the 
underlying performance of our business.

Competition

We believe that our business model of integrated products and services is unique. While there are a number of other 
specialty insurance companies that offer collector car insurance, we believe our enthusiast-centered ecosystem, with a 
focus on community and engagement, is a significant competitive advantage over competitors who, without strong affinity 
or engagement, are left to compete primarily based on price. We experience some competition in the larger standard auto 
insurance market as the majority of collectible vehicles are currently insured through national carriers. However, in lieu of 
competing directly with standard auto insurance carriers, we have formed relationships with many of them to offer their 
customers our membership subscription model coupled with our specialty insurance products. These relationships with the 
largest auto insurance carriers allows us to provide a high-touchpoint experience resulting in more appropriate levels of 
cost coverage and higher overall service satisfaction of Members. 

Government Regulation

We operate across jurisdictions in North America and Europe and our businesses (in particular, insurance) are subject to 
comprehensive and detailed regulation and supervision. Each jurisdiction in which we operate has established supervisory 
agencies with broad administrative powers for various business practices (for example, financial services consumer 
protection and data protection). While we are not aware of any proposed or recently enacted domestic or international 
regulation that would have a material impact on our operations, earnings, or competitive position, we cannot predict the 
effect that future regulatory changes might have on us. 

Investments

As of December 31, 2023, the substantial majority of our portfolio of investable assets was held by Hagerty Re, which 
holds only cash and cash equivalents and Canadian Sovereign and Provincial fixed income securities. As we continue to 
grow and strengthen our track record, Hagerty Re intends to prudently diversify its portfolio, while maintaining a low 
tolerance for risk. Hagerty Re manages its investment portfolio in accordance with an investment policy approved by its 
Board of Directors, which seeks to generate an attractive total return on an after-tax basis on its investment assets, over the 
long-term, subject to compliance with all of the following constraints and objectives: (i) comply with certain portfolio-
level and asset-level class constraints; (ii) preserve capital by assuming only a modest amount of risk of principal loss; 
(iii) ensure sufficient liquidity to meet obligations; (iv) comply with all legal, regulatory, and contractual requirements;
and (v) employ an efficient portfolio in terms of assumed risk and relative to expected return.

Human Capital

Our performance-based culture is shaped by our people, and their engagement, accountability and alignment with our key 
objectives as an organization. Our strategy involves hiring great people, providing challenging and meaningful work, and 
investing in their professional and personal development, and we believe this creates a strategic advantage for us. In 2022, 
we transitioned to a "remote-first" work model, which we believe enables us to attract top talent and provide employees 
the flexibility they increasingly seek. Our objectives include effectively identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing, 
and integrating our existing and additional employees. As of December 31, 2023, we had 1,732 total employees, 1,726 of 
which were full-time employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by collective 
bargaining agreements. 
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Compensation

Our compensation programs are designed to attract, retain and motivate talented, deeply qualified and committed 
individuals who believe in our mission, while rewarding employees for long-term value creation. We have a pay-for-
performance culture in which employee compensation is aligned to company performance, as well as individual 
contributions and impacts. The potential for stock-based compensation awards through our equity incentive plan, as well 
as the opportunity to participate in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan are designed to align employee compensation to the 
long-term interests of our stockholders, while encouraging them to think and act like owners. We strive for a fair, 
competitive, transparent and equitable approach in recognizing and rewarding our employees.

Health and Wellness

The health and wellness of our employees and their families is integral to our success. We have a comprehensive benefits 
program to support the physical, mental and financial well-being of our employees. We have a self-insured medical plan 
in which our employees pay up to 29% of the monthly estimated premiums. In addition to core medical benefits, we offer 
maternity and paternity benefits, as well as employee assistance programs to support the mental health of our employees. 
Additionally, aside from our competitive paid time off program, we offer caregiver time off, which provides employees 40 
hours each year of paid time off for caregiver responsibilities. 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

Our diversity, equity, and inclusion objective is to be a company where each employee genuinely belongs, is respected 
and valued, and can do their best work. We take this to heart not just within our Company, but also within the broader 
automotive enthusiast community.

To help achieve our goals, we ensure fair and transparent processes in talent assessment and hiring, performance 
management and career progression and retention. We are creating a stronger sense of inclusion and belonging for our 
employees in general with a lens on representation. Engagement and belonging are fueled by having a meaningful 
connection to others and opportunities to grow and develop careers. Across these dimensions, we are building programs, 
systems and tools that foster greater belonging.

We intend to continue to invest and further develop our leadership training and support to ensure that all leaders — those 
promoted, developing or hired — understand how to lead, keeping our diversity and inclusion principles top of mind in 
every aspect of their role.

Business Combination

On December 2, 2021, The Hagerty Group, LLC completed a business combination with Aldel Financial Inc. ("Aldel"), 
and Aldel Merger Sub LLC ("Merger Sub"), a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of Aldel 
(the "Business Combination"). In connection with the closing, (i) Aldel changed its name from Aldel Financial Inc. to 
Hagerty, Inc., and (ii) we were organized in what is commonly known as an "Up-C" structure in which substantially all of 
the assets and liabilities of Hagerty, Inc. are held by The Hagerty Group.

Refer to Note 8 — Business Combination in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information on the 
Business Combination. 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Described below are certain risks and uncertainties that we believe are applicable to our business and the industry in 
which we operate, and some of which are beyond our control. The following factors are not the only risks and 
uncertainties we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not 
material, may also become important factors that affect us. You should carefully read the following risks as well as the 
cautionary statements referred to in "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" herein. If any of 
the risks and uncertainties described below or elsewhere in this Annual Report actually occur, our business, financial 
condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected, the trading price of our securities could decline, 
and you might lose all or part of your investment.

Risk Factors Summary

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties of which you should be aware. Among others, these risks 
relate to: 

• our ability to attract and retain Members and compete effectively within our industry;

• our dependence on a limited number of insurance distribution and underwriting carrier partners;
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• our ability to prevent, monitor and detect fraudulent activity;

• our reliance on a limited number of payment processing services;

• our reliance on a highly skilled and diverse management team and workforce and a unique culture;

• our ability to successfully execute and integrate future acquisitions, partnerships and investments;

• issues with our technology platforms and our ability to anticipate or prevent cyberattacks;

• the limited operating history of some or our membership products and the success of any new insurance programs
and products we offer;

• our susceptibility to inflation, interest rate, and foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

• our ability to continue to develop, implement, and maintain the confidentiality of our proprietary technology and
prevent the misappropriation of our data;

• the cyclical nature of the insurance business and our dependence on our ability to collect vehicle usage and
driving data;

• compliance with the numerous laws and regulations applicable to our business, including state, federal and
foreign laws relating to insurance and rate increases, privacy, the internet, accounting matters, tax, and economic
sanctions;

• unexpected increases in the frequency or severity of claims, including increases caused by catastrophic events;

• our reinsurers may not pay claims on a timely basis, or at all, which may materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations;

• unexpected changes in the interpretation of our coverage or provisions, including loss limitations and exclusions;

• significant fluctuations in the collector car market and asset values may materially impact our ability to obtain and
sell consigned property within our Marketplace business;

• our only material asset is our interest in The Hagerty Group, and, accordingly, we will depend on distributions
from The Hagerty Group to pay our taxes, including payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement ("TRA");

• whether investors or securities analysts view our stock structure unfavorably, particularly our dual-class structure;

• Hagerty Holding Corp. ("HHC") controls us, and its interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future;

• we are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the NYSE listing requirements, as a result, we will qualify
for, and intend to rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements; and

• our common stock, including trading price declines from missed earnings guidance, trading volatility, lack of
dividends, and anti-takeover provisions in our governing documents.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have experienced significant Member growth over the past several years, and our continued business and revenue 
growth are dependent on our ability to continuously attract and retain Members and we cannot be sure we will be 
successful in these efforts, or that Member retention levels will not materially decline. 

If consumers do not perceive our service offerings to be of value, including if we introduce new or adjust existing 
features, adjust pricing, coverage or service offerings, or change the mix of offerings in a manner that is not favorably 
received by consumers, we may not be able to attract and retain Members. We may, from time to time, adjust the pricing 
or the pricing model itself, which may not be well received by consumers, and which may result in existing Members 
canceling their membership or obtaining services from a competitor and may result in fewer new Members joining our 
programs. In addition, many of our Members are referred to us through word-of-mouth from existing Members. If our 
efforts to satisfy our existing Members are not successful, we may not be able to attract new Members, and as a result, our 
ability to maintain and/or grow our business will be adversely affected.

A large percentage of our revenues are derived from sales through direct-to-consumer sales, including through digital 
channels. If we fail to meet consumer expectations for the Member experience through digital or other sales channels, our 
growth may be impacted through the loss of existing Members or inability to attract new Members.
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A large percentage of our products and services are distributed through a few relationships and the loss of business 
provided by any one of them could have an adverse effect on us.

In addition to our direct sales efforts and independent channels, we market our insurance products through several 
insurance distribution partners. For the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately 16% of our commission revenues 
were attributable to four distribution partner marketing relationships. For two of these distribution partners, we have long-
term arrangements, one of which has an expiration date in 2029 and the other in 2030. The other relationships have shorter 
durations. Upon expiration or termination of these agreements, these partners may decide not to continue to distribute our 
products and services or may be unwilling to do so on terms acceptable to us. If we are not successful in maintaining 
existing relationships and in continuing to expand our distribution relationships, or if we encounter regulatory, 
technological, or other impediments to delivering our services to Members through these relationships, our ability to retain 
Members and grow our business could be adversely impacted. In addition, the broker/agent relationships with many of the 
partners we work with may change and their own internal strategy about how products are marketed may change, and, 
where we do not have exclusivity, we face competition by providers who seek to build or strengthen the relationships 
without distribution partners, which could cause a loss of focus on or exposure to our products and services, adversely 
impacting new sales.

We may not be able to prevent, monitor, or detect fraudulent activity, including transactions with insurance policies or 
payments of claims as well as transactions through our Marketplace business.

If we fail to maintain adequate systems and processes to prevent, monitor, and detect fraud, including employee fraud, 
agent fraud, fraudulent policy acquisitions, vendor fraud, buyer or seller marketplace sales fraud, fraudulent claims 
activity, or if an inadvertent error occurs because of human or system error, our business could be materially adversely 
impacted. Fraud schemes have become increasingly more sophisticated and are ever evolving into different avenues of 
fraudulent activity. While we believe that any past incidents of fraudulent activity have been relatively isolated, we cannot 
be certain that our systems and processes will always be adequate as fraudulent activity and schemes continue to evolve. 
Our employees are required to take anti-fraud training, and we use a variety of tools to protect against fraud, but the 
trainings and these tools may not always be successful at preventing fraud.

Instances of fraud may result in increased costs, including possible settlement and litigation expenses, and could have a 
material adverse effect on our business and reputation. In addition, failure to monitor and detect fraud and otherwise 
comply with state Special Investigation Unit requirements can result in regulatory fines or penalties.

We rely on the expertise of our Chief Executive Officer, senior management team, and other key employees. If we are 
unable to attract, retain, or motivate key personnel, our business may be severely impacted.

Our success depends on the ability to attract, retain, and motivate a highly skilled and diverse management team and 
workforce. Our Chief Executive Officer is well known and respected in our industry. He is an integral part of our brand 
and his departure would likely create difficulty with respect to both the perception and execution of our business. 
Additionally, the loss of a member of our senior management team, specialized insurance experts or key personnel might 
significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our strategic business objectives and could harm our business. We rely 
on a small number of highly specialized insurance experts, the loss of any one of whom could have a disproportionate 
impact on our business. Our compensation arrangements, such as our equity award programs, may not always be 
successful in attracting new employees and retaining and motivating our existing employees. Moreover, if and when our 
equity awards are substantially vested, employees under such equity arrangements may be more likely to leave, 
particularly if the underlying shares have seen a significant appreciation in value.

Our inability to ensure that we have the depth and breadth of management and personnel with the necessary skills and 
experience could impede our ability to deliver growth objectives and execute our operational strategy. As we continue to 
expand and grow, we will need to promote or hire additional staff, and it may be difficult to attract or retain such 
individuals in a timely manner and without incurring significant additional costs. If we are not able to integrate new team 
members or if they do not perform adequately, our business may be harmed.

Our unique culture has contributed to our success, and if we are not able to maintain this culture in the future, our 
business could be harmed.

Our culture supports a high level of employee engagement, which translates into a service model that produces a high 
level of Member satisfaction and retention. We face a number of challenges that may affect our ability to sustain our 
culture, including:

• failure to identify, attract, reward, and retain people in leadership positions in our organization who share and 
further our culture, values, and mission;

• the size and geographic diversity of our workforce and our ability to promote a uniform and consistent culture 
across all our offices and employees working remotely;
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• competitive pressures to move in directions that may divert us from our mission, vision, and values;

• the continued challenges of a rapidly evolving industry; and

• the increasing need to develop expertise in new areas of business needed to execute our growth plans and
strategy.

If we are not successful in instilling our culture in new employees, or maintaining our culture as we grow, our operations 
may be disrupted, and our financial performance may suffer.

Our future growth and profitability may be affected by new entrants into the market or current competitors developing 
preferred offerings.

Our business is rapidly growing and evolving, and we have many competitors across our different offerings. The markets 
in which we operate are highly competitive and we may not continue to compete effectively within our industry. We face 
competition from large, well-capitalized national and international companies, including other insurance providers, 
technology companies, automotive media companies, automotive auction and marketplace providers, other well-financed 
companies seeking new opportunities, or new competitors with technological or other innovations. Many of our 
competitors have substantial resources, experienced management, strong marketing, underwriting, and pricing 
capabilities. Because collector auto insurance constitutes a significant portion of our overall business, we may be more 
sensitive than other providers of insurance to, and more adversely affected by, trends that could decrease auto insurance 
rates or reduce demand for auto insurance over time, such as industry advances in mileage-based or usage-based insurance 
offerings, changes in vehicle technology, autonomous or semi-autonomous vehicles, or vehicle sharing arrangements. In 
addition, there are limited barriers to entry in the automotive lifestyle business. Accordingly, more established brands with 
significantly more resources may compete against us in the automotive lifestyle business in the future. If we are unable to 
compete effectively, we may not be able to grow our business and our financial condition and results of operations may be 
adversely affected.

As a result of a number of factors, including increasing competition, negative brand or reputational impact, changes in 
geographic mix or product mix, and the continued expansion of our business into a variety of new areas, we may not be 
able to continue to grow our revenues at a high rate or at all. We may also experience a decline in our revenue growth rate 
as our revenues increase to higher levels. Our revenue growth may be impacted if there is a deceleration or decline in 
demand for our products and services due to changing market dynamics or demographic shifts.

Future acquisitions or investments contain inherent strategic, execution, and compliance risks that could disrupt our 
business and harm our financial condition.

We may pursue acquisitions or investments to grow our business in line with our strategic objectives. Any acquisition or 
investment (whether for service offerings, technology, or product offerings, or for other external uses) may not achieve the 
desired return sought. These acquisitions or investments may also result in unforeseen liabilities or expenses, such as 
higher than expected costs due to market competition, regulatory approval requirements, delays in implementation, lost 
opportunities that could have been pursued with cash being used, litigation or regulatory enforcement post-acquisition or 
investment, contingent liabilities, implementation cost, misalignment of culture, loss of technology through theft or trade 
secrets exchanged, loss of key partners/vendors, currency exchange rate for foreign investment, timing within overall 
economic environment, carrying costs, and tax liabilities. Additionally, the risks from future acquisitions or investments 
could result in impairment charges against goodwill and intangible assets or increases in the liabilities on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, as well as missed earnings results. 
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We may be subject to cyberattacks, and our reliance on third party providers for technology and service mean our 
operations could be disrupted due to the lack of resiliency in the operations of other companies, or a breach in their 
obligations to us, and could impair the operability of our website and other technology-based operations.

Cyberattacks, denial-of-service attacks, ransomware attacks, business email compromises, computer malware, viruses, 
social engineering (including phishing) and other malicious internet-based activity are prevalent in our industry and such 
attacks continue to increase. We also utilize third-party providers to host, transmit, or otherwise process electronic data in 
connection with our business activities. We or our vendors and business partners may experience attacks, unavailable 
systems, unauthorized access, or disclosure due to employee or other theft or misuse, denial-of-service attacks, 
sophisticated attacks by nation-state and nation-state supported actors, and advanced persistent threat intrusions. Despite 
our efforts to ensure the security, privacy, integrity, confidentiality, availability, and authenticity of information 
technology networks and systems, processing and information, we may not be able to anticipate, or to implement, 
preventive and remedial measures effective against all data security and privacy threats. The recovery systems, security 
protocols, network protection mechanisms, and other security measures that we have integrated into our systems, 
networks, and physical facilities, may not be adequate to prevent or detect service interruption, system failure, data loss or 
theft, or other material adverse consequences. No security solution, strategy, or measures can address all possible security 
threats or block all methods of penetrating a network or otherwise perpetrating a security incident. The risk of 
unauthorized circumvention of our security measures, or those of our third-party providers, clients, and partners has been 
heightened by advances in computer and software capabilities and the increasing sophistication of hackers who employ 
complex techniques, including without limitation, the theft or misuse of personal and financial information, counterfeiting, 
"phishing" or social engineering incidents, ransomware, extortion, publicly announcing security breaches, account 
takeover attacks, denial or degradation of service attacks, malware, fraudulent payment, and identity theft.

In 2021, we experienced an unauthorized access into our online insurance quote feature whereby attackers used personal 
information already in their possession to obtain additional consumer data, including driver’s license numbers. While 
none of our systems or databases were compromised or significantly disrupted as part of this incident and the costs 
associated with the incident and our remediation efforts were not material, we could be subject to litigation or regulatory 
enforcement actions. In 2023, the Company accrued an estimated liability related to this incident based on the facts known 
by management and developed through its assessment of the current status of ongoing dialog with the regulatory 
investigators. The amount of the estimated liability is not material to our Consolidated Financial Statements, though any 
actual fines, penalties, or settlements may differ from our estimates and the amounts accrued.

Any regulatory enforcement actions, or future cyberattacks on our systems, could cause irreparable harm to our reputation 
and lead our current and prospective Members away from using our services. Further, we may be required to expend 
significant financial and operational resources in response to a security breach, including repairing system damage, 
increasing security protection costs by deploying additional personnel and protection technologies, and defending against 
and resolving legal and regulatory claims, all of which could be costly and divert resources and the attention of our 
management and key personnel away from our business operations.

Some of our membership products are newer and have limited operating history, which makes it difficult to forecast 
operating results. We may not show profitability from these newer products as quickly as we anticipate or at all.

The success of new product and service introductions depends on a number of factors, including timely and successful 
development, market acceptance, our ability to manage the risks associated with new product production ramp-up issues, 
the availability of application software for new products, the effective management of purchase commitments and vendor 
relationships in line with anticipated product demand, the availability of products in appropriate quantities and at expected 
costs to meet anticipated demand, and the risk that new products and services may have quality or other defects or 
deficiencies. Accordingly, we cannot determine in advance the ultimate effect of new product and service introductions 
and transitions. If our new products or services are not well received, or if we are unable to introduce them in a cost-
effective manner, we may not be able to realize a profit on those products and services and may, in fact, recognize losses 
for some time. This could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to payment processing risks which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We currently rely on a limited number of payment processing services, including the processing of payments from credit 
cards and debit cards, and our business would be disrupted if any of the vendors become unwilling or unable to provide 
these services to us, and we are unable to find a suitable replacement on a timely basis. If we or our processing vendors 
fail to maintain adequate systems for the authorization and processing of credit card transactions, it could cause one or 
more of the major credit card companies to disallow our continued use of their payment products. In addition, if these 
systems fail to work properly and, as a result, we do not charge our customers’ credit cards on a timely basis, or at all, our 
business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed.
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The payment methods that we offer also subject us to potential fraud and theft by criminals, who are becoming 
increasingly more sophisticated, seeking to obtain unauthorized access to, or exploit weaknesses that may exist in the 
payment systems. There are potential legal, contractual, and regulatory risks if we are not able to properly process 
payments. If we are unable to comply with applicable rules or requirements for the payment methods that we accept, or if 
payment-related data is compromised due to an incident or a breach, we may be liable for significant costs incurred by 
payment card issuing banks and other third parties, subject to fines and higher transaction fees, subject to potential 
litigation or enforcement action, or our ability to accept or facilitate certain types of payments may be impaired.

In addition, our customers could lose confidence in certain payment types, which may result in a shift to other payment 
types or potential changes to our payment systems that may result in higher costs. If we fail to adequately control 
fraudulent credit card transactions, we could face civil liability, diminished public perception of our security measures, 
and significantly higher credit card-related costs, each of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Rising inflation and interest rates may affect demand for our products and services.

Global economic conditions, including increases in inflation and interest rates, have resulted in uncertainty in consumer 
discretionary spending, employment rate fluctuations and overall volatility in the financial markets. These unfavorable 
economic conditions have led, and in the future may lead, consumers to reduce their spending on collectible cars and 
related services, which in turn could lead to a decrease in the demand for our products and services. Our sensitivity to 
economic cycles and any related fluctuation in consumer demand may have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations, and financial condition.

Rising interest rates increase our cost of borrowing and could adversely affect our results of operations.

The Federal Reserve Board significantly increased the federal funds rate in 2023 and while it has indicated that rates are 
expected to decrease in 2024, there is no certainty how significant, if any, such rate cuts will be. A sustained elevated 
interest rate environment will have a corresponding impact to our costs of borrowing and may have an adverse impact on 
our ability to raise funds through the offering of our securities or through the issuance of debt due to higher debt capital 
costs, diminished credit availability, and less favorable equity markets. Any significant additional federal fund rate 
increases may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As we continue to grow operations in different geographic locations, additional risk related to foreign currencies may 
have an impact on revenue and our results of operations.

We have foreign operations, and in some instances, collect from customers in foreign currencies. The exchange rates we 
use to consolidate our foreign entities may be less favorable to us than the actual exchange rates used to convert the funds 
into U.S. dollars. These foreign exchange risks could have a material negative impact on our financial condition and 
results of operations.

Our technology platforms may not function properly, which might subject us to loss of business and revenue, breach of 
contractual obligations, and place us out of compliance with state and federal rules and regulations.

We utilize numerous technology platforms throughout our business for various functions, including to gather Member 
data in order to determine whether or not to write and how to price our insurance products, to process many of our claims, 
to issue and service our membership products, and to provide valuation services. We use proprietary artificial intelligence 
algorithms in certain circumstances within our underwriting processes for efficiency. Our technology platforms are 
expensive and complex. The continuous development, maintenance, and operation of our technology platforms may entail 
unforeseen difficulties, including material performance problems or undetected defects or errors. We may encounter 
technical obstacles, and it is possible that we may discover additional problems that prevent our technology from 
operating properly. If our platforms do not function reliably, we may incorrectly select our Members, bill our Members, 
price insurance products, or incorrectly pay or deny insurance claims made by our Members. These errors could result in 
inadequate insurance premiums paid relative to claims made, resulting in increased financial losses. These errors could 
also cause Member dissatisfaction with us, which could cause Members to cancel or fail to renew their insurance policies 
with us or make it less likely that prospective Members obtain new insurance policies from us. Additionally, technology 
platform errors may lead to unintentional bias and discrimination in the underwriting process, which could subject us to 
legal or regulatory liability and harm our brand and reputation. Any of these eventualities could result in a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our future success depends on the ability to continue to develop and implement technology to transform or replace 
legacy technology, and to maintain the security and confidentiality of this technology in compliance with evolving 
privacy laws.

Our future success depends on our ability to continue to develop, implement, and maintain the security and confidentiality 
of our proprietary technology in compliance with evolving privacy laws. Changes to existing laws, their interpretation or 
implementation, or the introduction of new laws could impede our use of this technology or require that we disclose our 
proprietary technology to our competitors, which could negatively impact our competitive position and result in a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We rely on internet and mobile technologies and applications to market our products and services. Any future legal or 
regulatory requirements impacting these applications or that restricts our ability to collect or use personal data may 
impact how we interact with our Members and prospective Members, and could potentially have an adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and operations.

We rely in part on internet and mobile applications to execute our business strategy. We are subject to domestic and 
international laws and regulations governing our activity and transactions both offline and online through the internet and 
mobile applications, including (i) how personal data can be collected, used, shared, transferred, stored, or otherwise 
processed ("Privacy Laws"), (ii) cybersecurity and data security obligations, and (iii) protections relating to our marketing 
and advertising activities (together with Privacy Laws, "Internet Laws"). Existing and future Internet Laws may impede 
our use of the internet to interact with current and future Members and to effectively market our products and services. In 
particular, an increasing number of Privacy Laws regulate our ability to use personal data for targeted or cross-context 
behavioral advertising, as well as give individuals the ability to opt out of such advertising.

It is possible that (i) the Internet Laws or general business laws and regulations may be interpreted and applied in a 
manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules or our practices; (ii) as new 
Internet Laws and consumer expectations are adopted, our compliance obligations may increase; (iii) government 
regulatory authorities may interpret and amend their Internet Laws and may require us to incur substantial costs to 
comply, and we may be penalized or precluded from carrying on our current activities; (iv) we may be subject to 
individual or class action claims by plaintiffs using both new and pre-existing Internet Laws based on new technologies, 
some of which are part of our marketing efforts, and; (v) our practices have not historically complied, do not currently 
comply, or will not fully comply in the future with all Internet Laws.

Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any Internet Laws could result in: (i) damage to our reputation, 
including consumer trust, (ii) a loss in business potentially leading to lower revenue and Member growth; (iii) proceedings 
or actions against us by governmental entities or private litigants including, for example, the Data Security Incident 
referenced in Note 24 — Commitments and Contingencies in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report; (iv) significant 
additional expense and time in defending regulatory proceedings or legal actions; (v) imposition of monetary liability; (vi) 
disgorgement of personal data and any algorithms trained on, or products or services derived from, such personal data; 
(vii) regulatory proceedings or legal actions distracting management; (viii) increased cost of doing business; (ix) 
decreased use of our mobile applications or websites by current and future Members; (x) contractual liability to indemnify 
and hold harmless third parties from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with the Internet Laws. In addition, our 
insurance coverage relating to any damages or expenses may not be sufficient to compensate for the liabilities we may 
incur. Any legal or regulatory requirements that restrict how we interact with our Members and future Members, or our 
actual or perceived failure to comply with Internet Laws, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.   

We may not be able to prevent or address the misappropriation of Hagerty-owned data.

From time to time, third parties may misappropriate our data through website scraping, bots, or other means and aggregate 
this data on their websites with data from other companies. In addition, copycat websites or mobile apps may 
misappropriate data and attempt to imitate our brand or the functionality of our website or our mobile app. If we become 
aware of such websites or mobile apps, we intend to employ technological or legal measures in an attempt to halt their 
operations. However, we may be unable to detect all such websites or mobile apps in a timely manner and, even if we 
could, technological and legal measures may be insufficient to halt their operations.

In some cases, particularly in the case of websites operating outside of the U.S., our available remedies may not be 
adequate to protect us against the effect of the operation of such websites or mobile apps. Regardless of whether we can 
successfully enforce our rights against the operators of these websites or mobile apps, any measures that we may take 
could require us to expend significant financial or other resources, which could harm our business, financial condition or 
results of operations. In addition, to the extent that such activity creates confusion among consumers or advertisers, our 
brand and business could be harmed.
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Changes in social attitudes may make ownership of collector vehicles less desirable, leading to a decline in demand for 
our products and services.

Changing consumer preferences and social attitude toward options such as electric vehicles and/or autonomous driving 
could have a material impact on our business. The traditional business model of car sales is starting to be complemented 
by a range of diverse, on-demand mobility solutions, especially in dense urban environments that proactively discourage 
private-car use. This shift, along with a significant rise in the annual growth of car sharing members and autonomous and 
electric vehicles in the markets we currently conduct business, could have a trickle-down effect to the collector car space 
and create a drop in demand for our products and services, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

An inadequate strategy to address and respond to issues of diversity, equity, and inclusion could leave us insufficiently 
prepared for significant cultural shifts affecting our marketplace and may create a negative brand image, leading to 
the alienation of our employees and clients.

Companies must achieve diversity if they want to acquire and retain talent, build employee engagement, and improve 
business performance. Diversity, equity, and inclusion have been shown to drive higher innovation, enhanced job 
performance, less employee turnover, and greater profits. If there is not a focus on developing a cohesive strategy to create 
a sense of belonging with clear and impactful diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives, we could potentially put 
ourselves in a position where our brand and/or sales are impacted as a result of a failure to create a successful strategy.

Performance of our investment portfolio is subject to a variety of investments risks that may adversely affect our 
financial results.

Our results of operations depend, in part, on the performance of our investment portfolio. We seek to hold a portfolio of 
investments in accordance with our investment policy and routinely reviewed by our Investment Committee.

The significant majority of our investment portfolio is invested in cash and cash equivalents and fixed maturity securities. 
This portfolio mix may change over time if we elect to diversify our holdings into other asset classes. In recent years, 
interest rates have been at or near historic lows, however, throughout 2023, interest rates have steadily risen. Should the 
recent rate increases cease or decline, including as a result of steps taken by the federal government to slow inflation, such 
as the passage of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, a low interest rate environment would continue to place pressure on 
our net investment income, particularly as it relates to these securities and short-term investments, which, in turn, may 
adversely affect our operating results. Recent and future increases in interest rates could cause the values of our fixed 
income securities portfolios to decline, with the magnitude of the decline depending on the duration of securities included 
in our portfolio and the amount by which interest rates increase. 

Risks for all types of securities are managed through the application of our investment policy, which establishes 
investment parameters that include, but are not limited to, maximum percentages of investment in certain types of 
securities and minimum levels of credit quality. We cannot be certain that our investment objectives will be achieved, and 
results may vary substantially over time. In addition, although we seek to employ investment strategies that are not 
correlated with our insurance and reinsurance exposures, losses in our investment portfolio may occur at the same time as 
underwriting losses and, therefore, exacerbate the adverse effect of the losses on us.

We may require additional capital in the future, which may not be available or may only be available on unfavorable 
terms. We may also encounter difficulty in obtaining funds to meet our commitments.

We are exposed to credit risk, or liquidity risk, through our banking partners. If we were to experience operating losses 
and are not able to generate additional liquidity through a capital raise or other cash infusion, we may need to secure 
additional sources of funds, which may or may not be available. Additionally, a failure to generate additional liquidity 
could negatively impact our ability to operate our business.
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To the extent that cash flows generated by our operations are insufficient to fund future operating requirements, or that our 
capital position is adversely impacted by a decline in the fair value of our investment portfolio, losses from catastrophic 
events or otherwise, we may need to raise additional funds. We also may be required to liquidate fixed maturity securities, 
which may result in realized investment losses. Any further sources of capital, including capacity needed for letters of 
credit, if available at all, may be on terms that are unfavorable to us. Our access to additional sources of capital will 
depend on a variety of factors, such as market conditions, the general availability of credit, the availability of credit to the 
industries in which we operate, our financial condition, results of operations, credit ratings and credit capacity, as well as 
pending litigation or regulatory investigations. Our ability to borrow under our revolving credit facilities and letter of 
credit facilities is contingent on our compliance with the covenants and other requirements under those facilities. 
Similarly, our access to capital may be impaired if regulatory authorities or rating agencies take negative actions against 
us. Additionally, to reduce the risk of a bank failure, we engage only with high-quality counterparties with high credit 
ratings. Our inability to obtain adequate capital when needed could have a negative impact on our ability to invest in, or 
take advantage of opportunities to expand our businesses, such as possible acquisitions or the creation of new ventures, 
and inhibit our ability to refinance our existing indebtedness on terms acceptable to us. Any of these effects could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our day-to-day operations create transactions, events, and conditions that may give rise to the need for accounting 
estimates to be recognized or disclosed in the financial statements. There is a risk that these estimates are incorrect, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and/or financial condition for accounting 
purposes.

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts 
of our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. If these estimates or assumptions are incorrect, it could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations and/or financial condition. We have identified several accounting estimates as 
being "critical" to the fair presentation of our financial condition and results of operations because they involve major 
aspects of our business and require us to make judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain. Refer to "Critical 
Accounting Estimates" within Item 7 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information.

Risks Related to Our Insurance Products and Services

The insurance products that we develop and sell for our underwriting carriers are subject to regulatory approval, and 
we may incur significant expenses in connection with the development and filing of new products before revenue is 
generated from new products.

The insurance products that we develop and sell require regulatory approvals in each respective jurisdiction. This product 
development and filing cycle can take time. The product development and filing process can be challenging and 
expensive. The process can also be delayed, given the unknown timelines in which insurance departments might take to 
review and approve filings. Questions and objections from insurance departments can also delay the product launch date. 
Moreover, there could be an inability to obtain regulatory approval on a product filing.

The nature of the product development and filing cycles may cause us to experience delays between the time we incur 
expenses associated with research and development and the time we generate revenues, if any, from the new products. If 
we spend a significant amount of resources on research and development, and our efforts do not lead to the successful 
introduction or improvement of products that are competitive in the marketplace, this could materially and adversely 
affect our business and results of operations.

Additionally, there could be a change in the anticipated Member demand for a product we are developing before the 
product is released. Member demand could decrease after the development cycle has begun. A decrease in Member 
demand for a new or improved product could cause us to fall short of our sales targets, and we might not be able to avoid 
the substantial costs associated with the product’s development or improvement. If we are unable to complete product 
development and filing cycles successfully, in a timely manner, that meets Member demand for new or improved 
products, and generate revenues from these future products, the growth of our business could be harmed.
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As an MGA, we operate in a highly regulated environment for our insurance product distribution and face risks 
associated with compliance requirements, some of which cause us to make judgment calls that could have an adverse 
effect on us.

The insurance industry in which we operate is subject to extensive regulation. We are subject to regulation and 
supervision both federally and in each applicable local state or provincial jurisdiction. In general, these regulations are 
designed to protect Members, policyholders, and insureds and to protect the integrity of the financial markets, rather than 
to protect stockholders or creditors. Our ability to conduct business in these jurisdictions depends on our compliance with 
the rules and regulations promulgated by federal and state or provincial regulatory bodies and other regulatory authorities. 
Maintaining compliance with rules and regulations is often complex and challenging, and it sometimes requires us to 
make determinations that require judgments regarding uncertain issues that ultimately may be resolved differently than we 
have determined, which could have an adverse effect on us.

We may not be able to adapt effectively and timely to any changes in law.

A failure to comply with regulatory requirements, or changes in regulatory requirements or interpretations, can result in 
actions by regulators, potentially leading to penalties and enforcement actions, and in extreme cases, revocation of an 
authority to do business in one or more jurisdictions. This could result in adverse publicity and potential damage to our 
brand and reputation in the marketplace. In addition, we could face lawsuits by Members and other parties for alleged 
violations of these laws and regulations.

State insurance laws grant supervisory agencies, including state insurance departments, broad administrative authority. 
Canadian, Bermuda, and U.K. insurance regulators and, in the U.S., state insurance regulators and the National 
Association of Insurance Commissioners continually review existing laws and regulations, some of which affect our 
business. These supervisory agencies regulate many aspects of the insurance business, including the licensing of insurance 
brokers and agents and other insurance intermediaries; the handling of third-party funds held in a fiduciary capacity; and 
trade practices, such as marketing, advertising, and compensation arrangements entered into by insurance brokers and 
agents. Individuals who engage in the solicitation, negotiation, or sale of insurance, or provide certain other insurance 
services, generally are required to be licensed individually. Insurance laws and regulations govern whether licensees may 
share commissions with unlicensed entities and individuals. We believe that generally any payments we make to third 
parties are in compliance with applicable laws. However, should any regulatory agency take a contrary position and 
prevail, we will be required to change the manner in which we pay fees to individuals and entities for placing insurance 
policies through us.

Regulatory review or the issuance of interpretations of existing laws and regulations may result in the enactment of new 
laws and regulations that could adversely affect our operations or our ability to conduct business profitably. It is difficult 
to predict whether, and to what degree, changes resulting from new laws and regulations will affect the industry or our 
business.

We do business with a limited number of key underwriting carrier partners in our insurance markets, and we may not 
be able to find suitable replacements for our existing carriers.

We work with a limited number of carriers in the U.S., Canada, and the U.K. for our personal lines insurance products, 
and there is a risk that if one or more of the carriers becomes impaired or terminates its relationship with us that our 
profitability may be adversely affected. If a carrier partner relationship terminates or there is loss of strategic support or 
alignment, we may be unable to transition to a new relationship without disruption, increased cost, lost profits, or lost 
market share, or a combination of the foregoing.

We derive a large portion of our revenue from commissions and quota share reinsurance on the sale of personal lines 
insurance products in the U.S. primarily through our exclusive relationship with Essentia, in Canada through our exclusive 
relationship with Aviva's Canadian subsidiary, Elite Insurance Company, and in the U.K., through our relationship with 
Aviva. If these carriers were to experience liquidity problems or other financial (such as rating agency downgrades) or 
operational difficulties, we could encounter business disruptions as a result, and our results of operations may suffer.

Our contracts with each of Markel and State Farm, regarding the State Farm Classic+ program, contain provisions that 
allow those partners to terminate our agreements with them at any time upon the occurrence of a change of control. One of 
the events triggering a change of control would occur if the Hagerty family ceases to own shares representing a majority 
of our voting power. Accordingly, if we experience a change of control, including as a result of the Hagerty family's sale 
of a sufficient number of shares to result in their controlling less than a majority of their voting power, we could lose our 
agreements with one or both of these partners, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and 
financial results.
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A regulatory environment that requires rate increases to be approved and that can dictate underwriting and pricing 
and mandate participation in loss sharing arrangements may adversely affect our financial condition and results of 
operations.

Political events and positions can affect the insurance market on occasion, including efforts to reduce rates to a level that 
may prevent us from being profitable or may not allow us to reach our goals. If the loss ratio for the insurance programs 
that we administer is favorable to that of the industry, regulatory authorities could impose rate restrictions, require 
payment of premium refunds to policyholders, or could challenge or delay efforts to raise rates. Rate changes may be 
required for us to achieve our goals related to profitability and return on equity. If we were to experience challenges in 
obtaining approvals for rate changes, that could limit us in reaching our targeted goals and profitability. For example, 
certain states have enacted laws that require an insurer conducting business in that state to participate in assigned risk 
plans, reinsurance facilities, and joint underwriting associations. Certain states also require insurers to offer coverage to all 
consumers, often restricting an insurer’s ability to charge the price it might otherwise charge. Laws and regulations of 
many states also limit an insurer’s ability to withdraw from one or more lines of insurance there, except pursuant to a plan 
that is approved by the state insurance department. This limitation can prolong and provide additional challenges for 
strategic business plans related to conversions, transfers, and book rolls. Although we are not an insurer, our business, 
financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected by any of these factors, as they are applicable to 
the insurance programs we administer.

The underwriting companies that we work with, and our insurance agencies, are periodically subject to examinations 
and audits by insurance regulators, which could result in adverse findings, enforcement actions, require payments of 
fines or penalties, and necessitate remedial actions.

In the U.S., our insurance agencies operate as an MGA for Essentia and also operate in this capacity for State Farm 
Classic Insurance Company in order to service the State Farm Classic+ program. Essentia is currently domiciled in 
Missouri and has a classic auto insurance program in all 50 United States, plus the District of Columbia. We operate as the 
MGA for the Essentia program in all 51 jurisdictions. We also operate a similar auto insurance program in Canada 
(underwritten by Elite Insurance Company) and in the U.K. (underwritten by Aviva).

Additionally, under its license as a Class 3A insurer, Hagerty Re must meet and maintain the relevant solvency margin, 
and liquidity and other ratios applicable under Bermuda law. Hagerty Re's license limits it to accepting only business 
produced through our MGA that is underwritten by carriers rated A- or better by A.M. Best or similar rating agency.

Insurance regulators periodically subject the underwriting companies that we work with to conduct audits and 
examinations to assess compliance with applicable laws and regulations, financial condition, and the conduct of regulated 
activities. These examinations and audits may be conducted during a jurisdiction’s normal review cycle, or because of a 
targeted investigation. Our insurance agencies can also be subject to regulatory audits and exams. A formal examination 
or audit provides insurance regulators with a significant opportunity to review and scrutinize the underwriting companies 
we work with, the insurance programs we administer, and our operations.

As a result of an examination or an audit, an insurance regulator could determine that an underwriting company’s 
financial condition or capital resources are less than satisfactory. An insurance regulator could also determine that there 
are other aspects of either the underwriting company or our operations that are less than satisfactory, or that either us or 
the underwriting company that we work with are in violation of applicable laws or regulations. These types of 
examination or audit findings could lead an insurance regulator to require either us or the underwriting company that we 
work with to take one or more remedial actions or otherwise subject us to regulatory scrutiny, impose fines and penalties, 
or take further actions.

We cannot predict with precision the likelihood, nature, or extent, including the associated costs, of any necessary 
remedial actions, or any financial impact that could result from an examination or audit. Any regulatory or enforcement 
action or any regulatory order imposing remedial, injunctive, or other corrective action against us or any of the 
underwriting companies we work with resulting from these examinations or audits could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.
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We rely on external data and our digital platform to collect and evaluate information that we utilize in producing, 
pricing, and underwriting insurance policies (in accordance with the rates, rules, and forms filed with regulators, 
where required), managing claims and customer support, and improving business processes. Any future legal or 
regulatory requirements that might restrict our ability to collect or utilize this data could potentially have an adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, and prospects.

We use our digital platform to collect data points that we evaluate in pricing and underwriting insurance policies, 
managing claims and customer support, and improving business processes. Our business model is dependent on our ability 
to collect vehicle and personal data. If federal, state, or international regulators were to determine that the type of data we 
collect, the process we use for collecting this data, or how we use it, unfairly discriminates against a protected class of 
people or otherwise violates applicable data Privacy Laws and regulations, regulators could prohibit or restrict our 
collection or use of this data. In addition, if legislation were to restrict our ability to collect personal data, it could impair 
our capacity to underwrite insurance cost effectively, negatively impacting our revenue and earnings.

The insurance business, including the market for property and casualty insurance, is historically cyclical in nature, 
and there may be periods with excess underwriting capacity and unfavorable premium rates, which could adversely 
affect our business.

We operate primarily in North America and the seasonality of driving in that region has caused a large portion of our 
revenue to be generated in the spring and summer months of each year. This in turn impacts operational cash flows and 
could produce volatility in our earnings. Fluctuations in our operating results could be due to a number of other factors, 
many of which may be outside of our control, including competition, frequency and severity of catastrophic events, levels 
of capacity, adverse litigation trends, regulatory constraints, general economic conditions, and agreement on underwriting 
appetite with our carrier partners, and other factors. The supply of insurance is related to prevailing prices, the level of 
insured losses, and the level of capital available to the industry that, in turn, may fluctuate in response to changes in rates 
of return on investments being earned in the insurance industry. As a result, the auto insurance business historically has 
been a cyclical industry characterized by periods of intense price competition due to excessive underwriting capacity, as 
well as periods when shortages of capacity increased premium levels. We operate in a specialty sector of the auto 
insurance market and need to be mindful of these and other factors which could impact our operations. Demand for 
insurance depends on numerous factors, including the frequency and severity of catastrophic events, levels of capacity, the 
introduction of new capital providers, and general economic conditions. All of these factors fluctuate and may contribute 
to price declines generally in the insurance industry. We cannot predict with certainty whether market conditions affecting 
the auto insurance market and the insurance market in general will improve, remain constant, or deteriorate. Negative 
market conditions may impair our ability to underwrite insurance at rates we consider appropriate and commensurate 
relative to the risk assumed. Additionally, negative market conditions could result in a decline in policies sold, an increase 
in the frequency or severity of claims and premium defaults, and an uptick in the frequency of fraud, including the 
falsification of claims. If we cannot underwrite insurance at appropriate rates, our ability to transact business will be 
materially and adversely affected. Any of these factors could lead to an adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

The reinsurance that Hagerty Re purchases to protect against catastrophic and large losses may be unavailable at 
current coverage terms, limits, or pricing.

The business that Hagerty Re reinsures is exposed to catastrophic events that are inherently unpredictable and may cause 
capacity in the reinsurance market to become scarcer leading to rate increases or changes in coverage terms, or a 
combination of both. This in turn may cause Hagerty Re to retain more risk, be unable to accept risk and grow, or require 
greater capital investment that may not be available, in each case resulting in lower profits, as well as a material effect on 
our financial condition and results of operations.

Unexpected increases in the frequency or severity of claims may adversely affect our operations and financial 
condition.

We may experience increases in claim frequency on occasion. Short-term trends with an increase in claim frequency may 
not continue over the longer term. Any changes in claim frequency might be derived from changes in miles driven, 
driving behaviors, macroeconomics, weather-related events, or other factors. A significant increase in claim frequency 
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We could also experience increases in the severity of claims. Changes in bodily injury claim severity can be impacted by 
inflation in medical costs, litigation trends and precedents, regulation, and the overall safety of automobile travel. Changes 
in auto property damage claim severity can be driven by inflation in the cost to repair vehicles, including parts and labor 
rates, the mix of vehicles that are declared total losses, the availability of parts to repair vehicles, and an increase in value 
for collector vehicles. Unanticipated increases in claim severity can arise from events that are inherently difficult to 
predict. Although we pursue various loss management initiatives to mitigate future increases in claim severity, these 
initiatives may not successfully identify or reduce the effect of future increases in claim severity. A significant increase in 
claim severity could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Severe weather events, catastrophes, and unnatural events are unpredictable, and we may experience losses or 
disruptions from these events.

Our business may be exposed to catastrophic events such as tornadoes, tsunamis, tropical storms (including hurricanes), 
earthquakes, windstorms, hailstorms, severe thunderstorms, wildfires and other fires, as well as non-natural events such as 
explosions, riots, pandemics, terrorism, or war, which could cause operating results to vary significantly from one period 
to the next. We may incur catastrophe losses in our business in excess of: (i) those experienced in prior years, (ii) the 
average expected level used in pricing, (iii) current reinsurance coverage limits, or (iv) loss estimates from external 
tornado, hail, hurricane, and earthquake models at various levels of probability. In addition, we are subject to Member 
insurance claims arising from weather events such as winter storms, rain, hail, and high winds.

There is generally an increase in the frequency and severity of Member insurance claims when severe weather conditions 
occur. The incidence and severity of severe weather conditions and catastrophes are inherently unpredictable and the 
occurrence of one catastrophe does not render the possibility of another catastrophe greater or lower. The extent of losses 
from a catastrophe is a function of both the total amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the event and the 
severity of the event. In particular, severe weather and other catastrophes could significantly increase our costs due to a 
surge in claims following such events and/or legal and regulatory changes in response to catastrophes that may impair our 
ability to limit our liability under our policies. Severe weather conditions and catastrophes can cause greater losses, which 
can cause our liquidity and financial condition to deteriorate.

Climate change may affect the occurrence of certain natural events, such as an increase in the frequency or severity of 
wind and thunderstorm events, eruptions of volcanoes, and tornado or hailstorm events due to increased convection in the 
atmosphere; more frequent wildfires and subsequent landslides in certain geographies; higher incidence of deluge flooding 
and the potential for an increase in severity of the hurricane events due to higher sea surface temperatures. Additionally, 
climate change may cause an impact on the demand, price and availability of insurance, as well as the value of our 
investment portfolio. Due to significant variability associated with future changing climate conditions, we are unable to 
predict the impact climate change will have on our business.

If the risks within the insurance programs that we offer on behalf of our underwriting carriers are not priced and 
underwritten accurately with competitive, yet profitable, rates, our business and financial condition could be adversely 
affected.

As an MGA, we operate under delegated underwriting authority in the U.S. In general, the premiums for the insurance 
policies in our program are established at the time a policy is issued and, therefore, before all of the underlying costs are 
known. The accuracy of the pricing is subject to our ability to adequately assess risks, estimate losses, and comply with 
insurance laws and regulations. Like others in the industry, we rely on estimates and assumptions in setting the premium 
rates. We also utilize the data that we gather through our interactions with Members.

Establishing adequate premium rates is necessary, together with investment income, if any, to generate sufficient revenue 
to offset losses, loss adjustment expenses, and other costs. If we do not accurately assess the risks that are underwritten, 
adequate premiums may not be charged to cover losses and expenses, which would adversely affect our results of 
operations and our profitability. Moreover, if we determine that the prices are too low, insurance regulations may prevent 
non-renewing insurance contracts, non-renewing Members, or raising prices. Alternatively, we could set the premiums too 
high, which could reduce our competitiveness and lead to lower revenues, which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Pricing involves the acquisition and analysis of historical loss data and the projection of future trends, loss costs, 
expenses, and inflation trends, among other factors, for each of the products in multiple risk levels and many different 
markets. In order to accurately price the policies, we must, among other factors:

• collect and properly and accurately analyze a substantial volume of data from our Members;

• develop, test, and apply appropriate actuarial projections and rating formulas;

• review and evaluate competitive product offerings and pricing dynamics;

• closely monitor and timely recognize changes in trends;

• project both frequency and severity of our Members’ losses with reasonable accuracy; and

• in many jurisdictions, obtain regulatory approval for the resulting rates.
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We may not have success in implementing a pricing methodology accurately in accordance with our assumptions. Our 
ability to accurately price policies is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to:

• insufficient, inaccurate, or unreliable data;

• incorrect or incomplete analysis of available data;

• uncertainties generally inherent in estimates and assumptions;

• our inability to implement appropriate actuarial projections and rating formulas or other pricing methodologies;

• incorrect or incomplete analysis of the competitive environment;

• regulatory constraints on rate increases or coverage limitations;

• our inability to accurately estimate investment yields and the duration of our liability for loss and loss adjustment 
expenses; and

• unanticipated litigation, court decisions, and legislative or regulatory actions or changes to the existing regulatory 
landscape.

To address the potential errors or desired or required changes in our current business model, we may be compelled to 
increase the amount allocated to cover policy claims, or to address other economic factors resulting in an increase in 
future premium rates, or to additionally or alternatively adopt different underwriting standards. Any of these changes may 
result in a decline in new business and renewals and, as a result, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.

Reinsurance subjects Hagerty Re to counterparty risk where reinsurers fail to pay or timely pay claims due to 
insolvency or otherwise fail to honor their obligations.

Hagerty Re is legally obligated to pay claims under the reinsurance agreements where Hagerty Re has assumed risk, 
regardless of whether Hagerty Re is able to secure its own reinsurance for ceded reinsurance coverages. If one or more of 
Hagerty Re's reinsurance providers become insolvent or default in payment when reimbursement is sought by Hagerty Re, 
this may have a material effect on Hagerty Re's financial condition and results of operations as well as its ability to accept 
risk. Such an event may cause Hagerty Re to require capital investments that may not be available.

Unexpected changes in the interpretation of coverage or provisions, including loss limitations and exclusions, in the 
insurance policies we sell and service could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.

We have specifically negotiated loss limitations and exclusions in the policies we sell and service, and these limitations 
and exclusions may not be enforceable in the manner we intend. As industry practices and legal, judicial, social, and other 
conditions change, unexpected and unintended issues related to claims and coverage may emerge. While these limitations 
and exclusions help us assess and mitigate our loss exposure, it is possible that a court or regulatory authority could 
nullify or void a limitation or exclusion, or legislation could be enacted modifying or barring the use of such limitations or 
exclusions. These types of governmental actions could result in higher than anticipated losses and loss adjustment 
expenses, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. In addition, court 
decisions have eliminated long standing coverage limitations by a narrow reading of policy exclusions. Under the 
insurance laws, the insurer typically has the burden of proving an exclusion applies and any ambiguities in the terms of a 
loss limitation or exclusion provision are typically construed against the insurer. These types of cases and the issues they 
raise may adversely affect our business by either broadening coverage beyond our underwriting intent or by increasing the 
frequency or severity of claims. In some instances, these changes may not become apparent until sometime after we have 
issued insurance contracts that are affected by the changes. As a result, the full extent of liability under the insurance 
contract may not be known for many years after a contract is issued. There could also be additional exposure with claims 
for other household vehicles that are not covered under an insurance policy issued by us, such as for someone’s regular 
use vehicle. It is possible that our underwriting companies that we write business through may share in liability with these 
types of claims in certain instances.
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Hagerty Re's actual ultimate loss liability could potentially be greater than our loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Significant periods of time often elapse between the occurrence of an insured or reinsured loss, the reporting of the loss to 
us, and our payment of that loss. To recognize liabilities for unpaid losses, we establish reserves as balance sheet liabilities 
representing estimates of amounts needed to pay reported and unreported losses and the related loss adjustment expenses. 
The process of estimating loss reserves is a difficult and complex exercise involving many variables and subjective 
judgments. As part of the reserving process, we review historical data and consider the impact of such factors as:

• trends in claim frequency and severity;

• changes in operations;

• emerging economic and social trends;

• trends in insurance rates;

• changing mix of insured risks;

• inflation or deflation; and

• changes in the regulatory and litigation environments.

This process assumes that past experience, adjusted for the effects of current developments and anticipated trends, is an 
appropriate basis for predicting future events. There is no precise method, however, for evaluating the impact of any 
specific factor on the adequacy of reserves, and actual results will differ from original estimates. As part of the reserving 
process, we regularly review our loss reserves and make adjustments as necessary. Future increases in loss reserves for 
our underwriting operations will, and for our program’s services operations may, result in additional charges to earnings, 
which may be material. Our estimates could prove to be inadequate, and this underestimation could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition.

Hagerty Re is required to maintain its reserves and financial condition in accordance with Bermuda law and the Bermuda 
Solvency Capital Requirement ("BSCR") administered by the Bermuda Monetary Authority ("BMA"). Inadequate current 
reserves may adversely affect earnings in future periods, as well as the ability to continue to accept risk, and Hagerty Re's 
ability to maintain its financial condition and meet solvency requirements necessary to maintain its license in Bermuda. 
Under Bermuda law, Hagerty Re is prohibited from declaring or making payment of a dividend if it fails to meet its 
minimum solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio. Prior approval from the BMA is also required if Hagerty Re's 
proposed dividend payments would exceed 25% of its prior year-end total statutory capital and surplus.

Our expansion into different insurance products and jurisdictions may subject us to additional costs and expenses, and 
our plans might not be as profitable as projected.

We believe that the growth of our business and revenue depends in part upon our ability to: (i) retain our existing 
Members and add new Members in our current, as well as new, geographic markets; (ii) add new insurance programs and 
products; and (iii) add to and continue to grow our offering of non-insurance automotive enthusiast-related products.

Expanding into new geographic markets and introducing new products takes time, requires us to navigate and comply 
with extensive regulations, and may happen more slowly than we expect or than it has occurred in the past. If we were to 
lose Members, our value might diminish. A future loss of Members could lead to higher loss ratios, loss ratios that cease 
to decline, or declining revenue — any of which would adversely impact our profitability. If we are unable to remain 
competitive on Member experience, pricing, or insurance coverage options, our ability to grow and retain our business 
may also be adversely affected. In addition, we might not be able to accurately predict risk segmentation of new and 
renewal Members or potential Members, which could also reduce our profitability.

While a key part of our business strategy is to retain and add Members in our existing markets, we may also seek to 
expand our operations into new markets and new products. In doing so, we may incur losses or otherwise not be 
successful in entering new markets or introducing new products. Our expansion into new markets and new products may 
place us in unfamiliar competitive environments and involve various risks, including competition, government regulation, 
the need to invest significant resources, and the possibility that returns on such investments might not be achieved for 
several years, or at all.
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We may not be successful in these efforts, and even if we are successful, these efforts may increase or create the following 
risks, among others:

• we might not be able to effectively use search engines, social media platforms, content-based online advertising, 
and other online sources for generating traffic to our website;

• potential Members in a particular marketplace could generally not meet the underwriting guidelines;

• demand for new products or expansion into new markets may not meet our expectations;

• new products and expansion into new markets may increase or change our risk exposures, and the data and models 
we use to manage those exposures may not be as effective as those we use in existing markets or with existing 
products;

• models underlying automated underwriting and pricing decisions may not be effective;

• efforts to develop new products or expand into new markets or to change commission terms may create or increase 
distribution channel conflicts;

• in connection with the conversion of existing policyholders to a new product, some policyholders’ pricing may 
increase while the pricing for other policyholders may decrease, the net impact of which could negatively impact 
retention and profit margins;

• changes to our business processes or workflow, including the use of new technologies, may give rise to execution 
risk;

• our products might not be competitive in terms of Member experience, pricing, or insurance coverage options;

• there could be barriers in obtaining the governmental and regulatory approvals, licenses, or other authorizations 
necessary for expansion into new markets or in relation to our products (such as line, form, underwriting, and rating 
approvals), or such approvals could contain conditions that impose restrictions on our operations (such as 
limitations on growth);

• our digital platform might experience disruptions;

• we could suffer reputational harm to our brand resulting from negative publicity, whether accurate or inaccurate;

• we may not be able to offer new and competitive products, to provide effective updates to our existing products, or 
to keep pace with technological improvements in our industry;

• we might not be able to maintain traditional retail agent relationships;

• Members may have difficulty installing, updating, or otherwise accessing our website on mobile devices or web 
browsers as a result of actions by us or third parties;

• Members may be unable or unwilling to adopt or embrace new technology;

• technical or other problems may frustrate the Member experience, particularly if those problems prevent us from 
generating quotes or paying claims in a fast and reliable manner;

• we might not be able to address Member concerns regarding the content, data privacy, and security generally or for 
our digital platform specifically;

• we may not identify or enter joint ventures with strategic partners or we may enter into joint ventures that do not 
produce the desired results; or

• there may be challenges in, and with the cost of, complying with various laws and regulatory standards, including 
with respect to the insurance business and insurance distribution, capital and outsourcing requirements, data 
privacy, tax, and regulatory restrictions.

These efforts may require additional investments by us, some of which could be significant. These costs may also include 
hiring additional personnel, as well as engaging third-party service providers, and other research and development costs. If 
we grow our geographic footprint or product offering at a slower rate than expected, or if we are unable to overcome the 
challenges listed above, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely 
affected.
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Our reliance on technology and intellectual property from third parties for pricing and underwriting insurance 
policies, handling claims, and maximizing automation, could cause an adverse impact on our business and operations 
if these third parties become unavailable or provide us with inaccurate information.

We use data, technology, and intellectual property licensed from unaffiliated third parties in certain components of our 
products, including insurance industry proprietary information that we license, and we may license additional third-party 
technology and intellectual property in the future. Any errors or defects in this third-party technology and intellectual 
property could result in errors that could harm our brand and business. In addition, licensed technology and intellectual 
property may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Also, should a company refuse to 
license its proprietary information to us on the same terms that it offers to our competitors, we could be placed at a 
significant competitive disadvantage. If any technology and intellectual property we license from others becomes 
unavailable, we may not be able to find replacement technologies at a reasonable cost or at all, which could materially 
harm our business and results of operations.

Denial of claims or the failure to accurately and timely pay claims on behalf of our underwriting carriers could have 
an adverse impact on our own business, financial condition and prospects.

We must accurately and timely evaluate and pay claims that are made under the insurance policies in our program. There 
are many factors that could affect our ability to pay claims accurately and timely, including the efficiency of our claims 
processing, the training and experience of our claim’s adjusters, and our ability to develop or select and implement 
appropriate procedures and systems to support our claims functions.

The risks included in our insurance programs are typically those of an antique, classic, or collectible vehicle nature. 
Adjusting claims on these types of risks often requires specialized knowledge of collector vehicles, so our claims staff is 
trained to have collectible vehicle expertise to provide an efficient, yet comprehensive, claims experience. The manner in 
how we handle claims is a differentiating factor for our business, and an inability to be able to continue to offer a timely 
and comprehensive claims experience could undermine our brand and position in the insurance marketplace. Additionally, 
any failure to pay claims accurately or timely could also lead to regulatory and administrative actions or material 
litigation, loss or reduction in reinsurance recoverable, or result in damage to our reputation, any one of which could 
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
If our claims adjusters are unable to effectively process our volume of claims in the manner that our Members expect, our 
ability to grow our business while maintaining high levels of Member satisfaction could be compromised, which in turn, 
could adversely affect our reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

A downward change in Essentia’s financial strength rating may adversely affect our ability to conduct business as 
currently conducted.

Essentia’s ability to underwrite business is dependent upon its financial strength rating as evaluated by independent rating 
agencies. In the event that Essentia is downgraded (or if Evanston is downgraded), we believe our ability to write business 
through Essentia would be adversely affected. In the normal course of business, we evaluate Essentia’s capital needs to 
support the amount of business it writes in order to maintain its financial strength ratings.

Hagerty Re is subject to regulatory requirements to maintain its license in Bermuda as a Class 3A insurer.

Hagerty Re is registered as a Class 3A insurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act. The BMA issues regulations and other 
guidance prescribing requirements that Bermuda-licensed insurance companies, like Hagerty Re, are required to comply 
with. For example, the BMA requires Bermuda-licensed insurers to maintain a minimum level of capital and surplus, 
comply with restrictions on dividends, make financial statement filings, prepare a financial condition report, maintain a 
head office in Bermuda from which insurance business is directed and managed and allow for the performance of certain 
periodic examinations of financial condition. These statutes and regulations may restrict Hagerty Re's ability to write 
reinsurance contracts, distribute funds and pursue its investment strategy.

Under its license as a Class 3A insurer, Hagerty Re must meet and maintain the relevant solvency margin, and liquidity 
and other ratios applicable under Bermuda law. For example, Hagerty Re's license limits it to reinsuring business that is 
underwritten by carriers rated A- or better by A.M. Best or similar rating agencies. Additional operational requirements 
for Hagerty Re in Bermuda include:

• maintaining a principal office in Bermuda and having a certain number of Bermuda-domiciled managers involved in 
overseeing operations;

• obtaining prior approval for changes in ownership/transfers of shares;

• having restrictions on dividends;

• complying with Bermuda know-your-customer and anti-bribery type laws;
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• having audited financial statements and being subject to BMA examination; and

• carrying out operations in accordance with its filed and approved business plan.

Failure to operate properly in accordance with Bermuda law could cause Hagerty Re's license to be restricted or revoked, 
result in possible supervisory control of Hagerty Re and its assets and termination of reinsurance agreements with its 
ceding insurers. Additionally, Bermuda insurance statutes, regulations and the policies of the BMA are less restrictive 
than U.S. insurance statutes and regulations. Insurance supervisors in the U.S. may review Hagerty Re's activities and 
determine that Hagerty Re is subject to a U.S. jurisdiction’s licensing requirements or determine that our U.S.-domiciled 
underwriting partners cannot transact business with us. Any such determination would have an adverse impact on Hagerty 
Re's operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Hagerty Marketplace

If we are unable to realize the anticipated synergies and cost savings from the Broad Arrow acquisition and 
integration, or if we are unable to retain the key employees, the business, financial condition and results of operations 
of our Marketplace business could be materially and adversely affected.

In 2022, Hagerty purchased Broad Arrow and its consolidated subsidiaries in an all-stock transaction. Broad Arrow offers 
services for buying, selling and financing collector cars, primarily through auctions and facilitating private sales, and 
enables the Company to further leverage respective product offerings under Marketplace.

It is possible that the synergies and cost savings anticipated by the acquisition and integration of Broad Arrow into 
Hagerty could take longer than anticipated and could result in the loss of valuable employees, Member and supplier 
relationships, the disruption of each party’s ongoing businesses, processes, and systems, or inconsistencies in standards, 
controls, procedures, practices, policies, and compensation arrangements, any of which could adversely affect our ability 
to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Broad Arrow acquisition.  

Broad Arrow is largely a service business in which the ability of its employees to develop and maintain relationships with 
potential sellers and buyers of collector cars is essential to its success. Broad Arrow's business, financial condition, and 
results of operations are highly dependent on a small number of team members who generate substantially all of Broad 
Arrow's revenues. Therefore, our ability to attract, motivate, and/or retain those key employees is critical, and the loss of 
any key revenue generator could have a disproportionate impact on our Marketplace business. Our compensation 
arrangements, such as our sales incentive plan and equity award programs, may not always be successful in attracting new 
employees and motivating and retaining key employees.  

Competition in the global collector car sales market and the variability of the value, demand and availability of quality 
collector cars for sale may adversely impact the business, results of operations, and financial condition of our 
Marketplace business.

We compete with other collector car auction houses, dealers, brokers and classifieds platforms to obtain valuable 
consignments to offer for sale either at auction or through private sale. The level of competition is intense and can 
adversely impact our ability to obtain valuable consignments for sale, as well as the commission margins achieved on 
such consignments.

The values and availability of quality collector cars for sale is influenced by a number of factors not within our control. 
The supply and demand for collector cars, and therefore the values of collector cars, are influenced not only by overall 
economic conditions, but also by changing trends in the collector car market as to which vehicles and provenance are most 
sought after and by the collecting preferences of individual collectors. Marketplace businesses generate revenues through 
fees and commissions generally based on a percentage of the final sale price, which can fluctuate based on the market 
dynamics. Further, the fees and commissions we charge may be lowered based on both the level of compensation and the 
market dynamics between supply and demand for collector cars. These conditions and trends are difficult to predict and 
may adversely impact our ability to obtain and sell consigned property and our ability to maintain our fee structure, which 
may cause significant variability in our results of operations from period to period.

Many major consignments, and specifically large single-owner collection sale consignments, are often driven by personal 
circumstances of the owner, including but not limited to death, divorce, and/or other financial circumstances, all of which 
are unpredictable and may cause significant variability in our results of operations from period to period.
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We could be exposed to losses in the event of title, authenticity or other claims related to damage or theft.

The assessment of collector cars offered for auction or private sale can involve potential claims regarding title, 
authenticity of chassis and vehicle identification numbers, provenance, and condition. The vehicles we sell may be subject 
to statutory warranties as to title or other limited warranties that cannot be disclaimed under our General Conditions of 
Sale that are published online or in our auction sale catalogs and the terms stated in, and the laws applicable to, 
agreements governing private sale transactions. Our assessment of the vehicles we offer is based on scholarship and 
research, but necessarily requires a degree of judgment from our car specialists and researchers. In the event of a title, 
authenticity or other claim against us, we may have recourse against the consignor or seller of the property and may have 
the benefit of insurance, but a claim could nevertheless expose us to losses and to reputational risk.

Valuable collector cars are exhibited and stored at events and facilities around the world. Although we maintain security 
measures at our premises and insurance, valuable property may be subject to damage or theft. The damage or theft of 
valuable property despite these security measures and insurance could have a material adverse impact on our business and 
reputation.

If we are unable to maintain or obtain our dealer licenses, auctioneer licenses, and/or other applicable permits and 
licenses as required in certain jurisdictions in which we operate, or plan to operate, such licensing issues may 
adversely impact the business results of operation, and financial condition of our Marketplace business.

Several businesses underneath our Marketplace business operate under a dealer license, auctioneer license, and/or other 
permits and licenses in certain jurisdictions in which we operate as a dealer, auction house, lender, or intermediary to 
facilitate the auction, sale, purchase, or financing of collector cars. Our inability to maintain the necessary licenses or 
permits as required in those jurisdictions may adversely impact the business, results of operations, and financial condition 
of our Marketplace business. Also, our inability to obtain the necessary licenses or permits as required in new jurisdictions 
in which we plan to operate may adversely impact the growth of the business, results of operations, and financial 
condition.

The limited operating history of BAC may not represent BAC’s future operating results, as minimal loan losses on the 
BAC loan portfolio to date may not be indicative of future loan loss experience and our ability to realize proceeds from 
the sale of collateral for BAC loans may be delayed or limited.

BAC, our wholly owned collector car financing business, has a limited operating history and has incurred minimal losses 
on its loan portfolio. Accordingly, despite our conservative loan underwriting standards, our current loan loss experience 
may not be indicative of the future performance of the loan portfolio. In situations when there are competing claims on the 
collateral or mispricing of the collateral value for BAC loans and/or when a borrower and/or the collateral becomes 
subject to a dispute, including but not limited to bankruptcy, litigation or insolvency laws, our ability to realize proceeds 
from the sale of collateral may be limited and/or delayed.

Changes to tax laws may affect the volume of collector vehicle inventory available for our Marketplace business, and 
increase our compliance risks.

Our collectors reside in various tax jurisdictions. Changes to tax laws or tax reporting obligations in any of these 
jurisdictions could adversely impact the ability and/or willingness of our collectors to sell or purchase collector cars. 
Additionally, we are subject to laws and regulations involving sales, use, and other indirect taxes which are assessed by 
various governmental authorities and imposed on certain transactions between us and our collectors. Changes to the laws 
and regulations involving such sales, use, and other indirect taxes could increase the complexity of our compliance 
obligations. Generally, we are not responsible for these indirect tax liabilities unless we fail to collect the appropriate 
amount of sales, use, or other indirect taxes or applicable tax exemption documentation. Failure to collect the correct 
amount of indirect tax or applicable tax exemption documentation on a transaction may expose us to claims from tax 
authorities.
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Legal, Regulatory and Political Risks

The legal and regulatory requirements applicable to our business are extensive. If we are not able to comply, it could 
have an adverse effect on us. Extensive regulation and potential further restrictive regulation could increase our 
operating costs and limit our growth.

We are subject to extensive laws, regulations, and supervision in the jurisdictions in which we transact business. These 
laws are complex and subject to change. Changes can sometimes lead to additional expenses, increased legal exposure, 
increased required capital and surplus, delays in implementing desired rate increases or business operations, and 
additional limits on our ability to grow or achieve targeted goals and profitability. Our business is highly dependent on the 
ability to engage on a daily basis in financial and operational activities, many of which are highly complex, including, but 
not limited to, insurance underwriting, claim processing, and providing products and services to businesses and consumers 
in a hospitable and efficient manner. These activities are subject to internal guidelines and policies, as well as legal and 
regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to, those related to:

• data privacy and security;

• anti-corruption and anti-bribery;

• domestic and international economic sanctions;

• restrictions on advertising and marketing;

• restrictions on rebating and inducements related to insurance transactions;

• restrictions on sharing insurance commissions and payments of referral fees;

• restrictions related to underwriting and pricing of insurance;

• approval of policy forms and premiums;

• restrictions on the adjustment and settlement of insurance claims;

• restrictions on the sale, solicitation, and negotiation of insurance;

• rules regarding licensing, affiliations, and appointments;

• state-mandated premium rebates, refunds, or reductions as a result of potentially lower risk exposure due to 
emergency orders;

• regulation of registered securities, corporate governance and risk management; and

• periodic examinations of operations, finances, market conduct and claims practices.

While we believe that we have adopted adequate and effective risk management and compliance programs, compliance 
risks remain, especially as we become subject to additional rules and regulations. The requirement to oversee and monitor 
the increasing speed and volume of regulatory changes could hinder our ability to appropriately review, analyze, and 
implement processes to ensure compliance in a timely manner. Failure to comply with, or to obtain, appropriate 
authorizations or exemptions under any applicable laws and regulations could result in restrictions on our ability to do 
business or undertake activities that are regulated in one or more of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Any 
such failure could also subject us to fines, penalties, equitable relief, and changes to our business practices.
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Future regulatory changes could limit or impact our business model.

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations is time consuming and personnel- and systems-intensive. The current 
political environment, and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial 
new regulations and compliance obligations. Any changes in, or the enactment of new, applicable laws and regulations 
may increase the complexity of the regulatory environment in which we operate, which could materially increase our 
direct and indirect compliance costs and other expenses of doing business and have a material adverse effect on financial 
condition and results of operations. Although state insurance regulators have primary responsibility for administering and 
enforcing insurance regulations in the U.S., such laws and regulations are further administered and enforced by a number 
of additional governmental authorities, each of which exercises a degree of interpretive latitude, including state securities 
administrators; state attorneys general, as well as federal agencies including the SEC, the Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority, the Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Insurance Office, the U.S. Department of Labor, the U.S. Department 
of Justice, and the National Labor Relations Board. Similarly, there are governmental authorities in U.K., such as the 
Financial Conduct Authority; the BMA in Bermuda; and numerous federal and provincial governmental and oversight 
organizations in Canada. Consequently, compliance with any particular regulator’s or enforcement authority’s 
interpretation of a legal issue may not result in compliance with another’s interpretation of the same issue, particularly 
when compliance is judged in hindsight. Such regulations or enforcement actions are often responsive to current consumer 
and political sensitivities, which may arise after a major event. Such rules and regulations may result in rate suppression, 
limit our ability to manage our exposure to unprofitable or volatile risks, or lead to fines, premium refunds, or other 
adverse consequences.

The federal government may also regulate aspects of our business, such as the protection of consumer confidential 
information or the use of consumer insurance (credit) scores to underwrite and assess the risk of customers under the Fair 
Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA") in the U.S. Among other things, for insurance purposes, the FCRA requires that (i) there 
is a permissible purpose before obtaining and using a consumer report for underwriting purposes, and (ii) there is 
compliance with related notice and recordkeeping requirements. Failure to comply with federal requirements under the 
FCRA or any other applicable federal laws could subject us to regulatory fines and other sanctions. In addition, there is 
risk that a particular regulator’s or enforcement authority’s interpretation of a legal issue or the scope of a regulator’s 
authority may change over time to our detriment. There is also a risk that changes in the overall legal environment may 
cause us to change our views regarding the actions we need to take from a legal risk management perspective. This would 
necessitate changes to our practices that may adversely impact our business.

Legal or regulatory requirements impacting the use of personal data may impact how we interact with our insurance 
customers and how we market to future Members, and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and operations.

We are subject to insurance regulatory requirements in the handling of personal data of our insurance customers and 
applicants in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Existing and future Privacy Laws applicable to our regulated insurance 
activities may impact our ability to: (i) interact with existing insureds; (ii) effectively market to future insurance 
customers; and, (iii) cross-sell additional products and services.  

Laws and regulations govern how insurance related personal data can be collected, used, shared, transferred, and stored. 
As new Privacy Laws, regulations and expectations are adopted, our compliance obligations may increase, and our ability 
to market to and reach Members may be impacted, potentially leading to lower revenue and Member growth. We are 
subject to government regulatory authorities’ power to impose fines and penalties in their interpretation and enforcement 
of insurance regulations regarding our processing and use of personal data. Such authorities may require us to incur 
substantial costs in order to comply with such laws and regulations. Laws and regulations are broad in scope and subject 
to differing interpretations. In some areas of our business, we act on the basis of our own or the industry’s interpretations 
of applicable laws or regulations, which may conflict from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In the event those interpretations 
prove different from the interpretations of regulatory authorities, we may be penalized or precluded from carrying on our 
previous activities. Additionally, we may be exposed to plaintiffs bringing class action claims. We cannot be sure that our 
practices have complied, currently comply, or will comply fully with all such laws and regulations. Any failure, or 
perceived failure, by us to comply with any of these laws or regulations could result in damage to our reputation, a loss in 
business, and proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or private litigants. Any such proceedings or 
actions require us to spend significant amounts in defense of these proceedings or actions, distract our management, 
increase our costs of doing business, decrease the use of our mobile application or website by consumers and suppliers, 
and may result in the imposition of monetary liability. We may also be contractually liable to indemnify and hold 
harmless third parties from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with any such laws or regulations. Our insurance 
coverage relating to any data security and privacy damages and claim expenses may not be sufficient to compensate for all 
liabilities we may incur.
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Our intellectual property rights are extremely valuable and if they are not properly protected, our products, services, 
and brand could be adversely impacted.

As we continue expanding our development of intellectual property across all channels, we may be unable to adequately 
protect and/or obtain appropriate rights, leading to increased risk. Competitors may target certain products or services and 
seek to assert competing rights. If appropriate contractual measures are not maintained, employees, contractors, and 
vendors may divulge trade secrets or claim ownership over our intellectual property.

New legislation or legal requirements impacting the use of petroleum-based vehicles and/or supporting autonomous 
vehicles could significantly challenge and impact our core insurance model and company purpose.

A significant majority of our Members currently drive gas-powered vehicles and engage in automotive enthusiast 
activities where they are able to drive and enjoy their vehicles. Changes in the law that create higher barriers to the use 
and enjoyment of their vehicles may in turn reduce the need or desire for many of our products and services, leading to 
lost revenue and lower profits and the inability to deliver on our purpose in an impactful manner.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

Our stock may be diluted by future issuances of additional Class A Common Stock in connection with our incentive 
plans, acquisitions or otherwise; future sales of such shares in the public market or the expectations that such sales 
may occur could lower our stock price.

We may issue additional shares of Class A Common Stock in several ways:

By the Board of Directors (the "Board"). Our Amended and Restated Charter authorizes us to issue shares of our Class A 
Common Stock and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to our Class A Common Stock and on the 
terms and conditions established by our Board in its sole discretion, whether in connection with acquisitions or otherwise.

Under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. We have reserved 38,317,399 shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance under 
our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as defined in Note 21 — Share-Based Compensation in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual 
Report). As of December 31, 2023, we have issued 965,517 shares under this Plan.

Under the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. We have reserved 11,495,220 shares of Class A Common Stock for 
issuance under our 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as defined in Note 21 — Share-Based Compensation in Item 8 
of Part II of this Annual Report). As of December 31, 2023, we have issued 197,819 shares under this Plan.

Under the Contribution and Exchange Agreement. We reserved 4,724,560 shares of Class A Common Stock for exchange 
under our Contribution and Exchange Agreement (as defined within the Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability 
Company Agreement of The Hagerty Group, incorporated by reference within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual Report). As 
of December 31, 2023, we have exchanged 259,302 shares under the Contribution and Exchange Agreement.

The compensation committee of our Board may determine the exact number of shares to be reserved for future issuance 
under its equity incentive plans at its discretion. We will file one or more registration statements on Form S-8 under the 
Securities Act to register shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common 
Stock issued pursuant to our equity incentive plans. Any such Form S-8 registration statements will automatically become 
effective upon filing. Accordingly, shares registered under such registration statements will be available for sale in the 
open market.

Any stock that we issue or exchange would dilute the percentage ownership held by the investors who purchase Class A 
Common Stock. The market price of shares of our Class A Common Stock could decline as a result of newly issued or 
exchanged stock, or the perception that we might issue or exchange stock. A decline in the price of our Class A Common 
Stock might impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of Class A Common Stock or 
other equity securities.

Substantial blocks of our total outstanding shares may be sold into the market. If there are substantial sales of shares 
of our Class A Common Stock, the price of our Class A Common Stock could decline.

The price of our Class A Common Stock could decline if there are substantial sales of our Class A Common Stock, 
particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and significant stockholders, or if there is a large number of shares 
of our Class A Common Stock available for sale. As of March 1, 2024, we have 84,655,539 shares of our Class A 
Common Stock outstanding. All of the shares of Class A Common Stock sold at the completion of our Business 
Combination are available for sale in the public market. Shares held by directors, executive officers and other affiliates are 
subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and 
various vesting agreements.
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The market price of the shares of our Class A Common Stock could decline as a result of the sale of a substantial number 
of our shares of Class A Common Stock in the public market or the perception in the market that the holders of a large 
number of such shares intend to sell their shares.

Certain warrants to purchase our Class A Common Stock are now exercisable and could become exercisable in 2024, 
which could increase the number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our 
stockholders.

PIPE Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 12,147,300 shares of Class A Common Stock became exercisable on the 30th 
day following the closing of the Business Combination in accordance with the terms of the warrant agreement governing 
those securities. In addition, Public Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 5,750,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 
Underwriter Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 28,750 shares of Class A Common Stock became exercisable on April 
12, 2022 in accordance with the warrant agreement covering those securities. Each such PIPE Warrant, Underwriter 
Warrant and Public Warrant entitles its holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of 
$11.50 per share and will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York time, five years after the closing of the Business Combination or 
earlier upon redemption or our liquidation. In addition, the Private Placement Warrants and OTM Warrants became 
exercisable on December 2, 2022, subject to the achievement of certain trading thresholds pursuant to the terms of the 
Sponsor Warrant Lock-up Agreement. To the extent warrants are exercised, additional shares of Class A Common Stock 
will be issued, which will result in dilution to our then existing stockholders and increase the number of shares eligible for 
resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could depress the market 
price of our common stock.

We qualify as an "emerging growth company" within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of 
certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies, it could make our securities 
less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance to the performance of other 
public companies.

We qualify as an "emerging growth company" as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the 
JOBS Act. As such, we are eligible for and intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting 
requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies for as long as we continue to 
be an emerging growth company, including (i) the exemption from the auditor attestation requirements with respect to 
internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended ("Sarbanes-
Oxley") and (ii) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-on-golden parachute voting requirements and 
(iii) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements. We will 
remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market value of 
Class A Common Stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of that fiscal year, (ii) the last 
day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more during such fiscal year (as 
indexed for inflation), (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior 
three-year period or (iv) December 31, 2026. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging 
growth company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided 
in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act as long as we are an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company 
can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private 
companies. We intend to avail ourselves of such extended transition period and, therefore, we may not be subject to the 
same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies or that have 
opted out of using such extended transition period. Investors may find the Class A Common Stock less attractive because 
we will rely on these exemptions, which may result in a less active trading market for the Class A Common Stock and its 
price may be more volatile.

We qualify as, and have elected to be treated as, a "controlled company" within the meaning of the NYSE listing 
standards and, as a result, our stockholders may not have certain corporate governance protections that are available 
to stockholders of companies that are not controlled companies.

So long as more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held by an individual, a group, or another 
company, we will qualify as a "controlled company" under the NYSE listing requirements. As of December 31, 2023, 
HHC controls approximately 67.7% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. As a result, we qualify as, and 
elect to be treated as, a "controlled company" under the NYSE listing standards and will not be subject to the requirements 
that would otherwise require us to have: (i) a majority of "independent directors," as defined under the listing standards of 
the NYSE; (ii) a nominating committee comprised solely of independent directors; (iii) compensation of our executive 
officers determined by a majority of the independent directors or a compensation committee comprised solely of 
independent directors; and (iv) director nominees selected, or recommended for the board of directors’ selection, either by 
a majority of the independent directors or a nominating committee comprised solely of independent directors.

HHC may have its interest diluted due to future equity issuances or its own actions in selling shares of common stock, in 
each case, which could result in a loss of the "controlled company" exemption under the NYSE listing rules. We would 
then be required to comply with those provisions of the NYSE listing requirements.
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The dual class structure of our common stock may adversely affect the trading market for our Class A Common Stock.

S&P Dow Jones and FTSE Russell limit their eligibility criteria for inclusion of shares of public companies on certain 
indices, including the S&P 500, namely, to exclude companies with multiple classes of shares of common stock from 
being added to such indices. In addition, several stockholder advisory firms have announced their opposition to the use of 
multiple class structures. As a result, the dual class structure of our common stock may prevent the inclusion of our Class 
A Common Stock in such indices and may cause stockholder advisory firms to publish negative commentary about our 
corporate governance practices or otherwise seek to cause us to change our capital structure. Any such exclusion from 
indices could result in a less active trading market for our Class A Common Stock. Any actions or publications by 
stockholder advisory firms critical of our corporate governance practices or capital structure could also adversely affect 
the value of our Class A Common Stock.

The dual class structure of our common stock will have the effect of concentrating voting power with two stockholders, 
which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control.

Our Class V Common Stock has 10 votes per share and our Class A Common Stock has one vote per share. Markel and 
HHC, who currently hold all of the Class V Common Stock, together will hold a substantial majority of the voting power 
of our outstanding capital stock. Because of the 10-to-1 voting ratio between our Class V and Class A Common Stock, the 
holders of our Class V Common Stock will collectively control a majority of the combined voting power of common 
stock and, therefore, will be able to control all matters submitted to our stockholders until the earlier of (i) 15 years from 
the date of the consummation of the Business Combination and (ii) the date on which such share of Class V Common 
Stock is transferred other than pursuant to a Qualified Transfer (as defined in our Amended and Restated Charter). This 
concentrated control will limit or preclude your ability to influence the outcome of important corporate matters, including 
a change in control, for the foreseeable future.

Transfers by holders of Class V Common Stock will generally result in those shares losing their super voting rights, 
subject to limited exceptions, such as certain transfers effected for estate planning or charitable purposes.

Our three largest stockholders hold significant voting power, have the right to designate directors to our Board and are 
entitled to preemptive rights with respect to the issuance of new Class A Common Stock, which provides these 
stockholders with significant power to influence our business and affairs.

Our three largest stockholders are HHC, Markel and State Farm. HHC controls approximately 67.7% of the voting power, 
Markel controls approximately 29.0% of the voting power, and State Farm controls approximately 2.1% of the voting 
power. Pursuant to the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement among HHC, Markel and State Farm, HHC has the right to 
designate two directors to our Board, and Markel and State Farm have each designated one director to our Board. Pursuant 
to the Investor Rights Agreement, each of HHC, Markel and State Farm has agreed to vote for the election of any director 
nominated by HHC, Markel and State Farm in furtherance of the director designation rights described above. As a 
consequence, at present, the re-election in 2024 of the directors designated by HHC, Markel and State Farm is assured.

Moreover, under the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, each of HHC, Markel and State Farm has a contractual 
preemptive right. Specifically, under the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, for so long as HHC, Markel and State 
Farm, as applicable, are entitled to nominate a director, each of HHC, Markel and State Farm, as applicable, subject to 
certain conditions, has a preemptive right to purchase up to the amount of any new securities we propose to issue or sell as 
is necessary to maintain the relative pro rata ownership position (determined on a fully diluted basis at the time of 
determination) of HHC, Markel and State Farm, as applicable. Therefore, while other holders of our stock would risk 
suffering a reduction in percentage ownership in connection with a new issuance of securities by us, HHC, Markel and 
State Farm would, through this preemptive right, have the opportunity to avoid a reduction in percentage ownership. As 
long as HHC, Markel and State Farm continue to hold a significant portion of our outstanding common stock, each will 
have the ability to influence the vote in any election of directors and over decisions that require stockholder approval.

By virtue of their voting power and Board designation rights, preemptive right to purchase additional equity securities in 
future stock offerings and approval rights, HHC, Markel and State Farm, collectively and separately, have the power to 
significantly influence our business and affairs and the outcome of matters required to be submitted to stockholders for 
approval, including the election of our directors, amendments to our charter, mergers, or sales of assets. Their influence 
over our business and affairs may not be consistent with the interests of some or all of our other stockholders and might 
negatively affect the market price of our common stock.
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We may redeem unexpired warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to the holders of such 
warrants, thereby making such warrants worthless.

We have the ability to redeem outstanding warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, 
at a price of $0.01 per warrant, provided that the last reported sales price of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds 
$18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 
trading days within a 30 trading-day period commencing once the warrants become exercisable and ending on the third 
trading day prior to the date on which we give proper notice of such redemption and provided certain other conditions are 
met. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may not exercise our redemption right if the issuance of 
shares of Class A Common Stock upon exercise of the warrants is not exempt from registration or qualification under 
applicable state blue sky laws or we are unable to effect such registration or qualification. We will use our best efforts to 
register or qualify such shares of Class A Common Stock under the blue sky laws of the state of residence in those states 
in which the warrants were offered. Redemption of the outstanding warrants could force you (i) to exercise your Public 
Warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for you to do so, (ii) to sell your 
warrants at the then-current market price when you might otherwise wish to hold your warrants or (iii) to accept the 
nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be 
substantially less than the market value of your warrants. None of the Private Placement Warrants or Underwriter 
Warrants are redeemable by us so long as they are held by the Sponsor, FG SPAC Partners LP, the underwriter in Aldel's 
initial public offering, or their permitted transferees.

Because we have no current plans to pay cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock for the foreseeable future, you 
may not receive any return on investment unless you sell your Class A Common Stock for a price greater than that 
which you paid for it.

We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and there are no current 
plans to pay any cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock for the foreseeable future. The declaration, amount and 
payment of any future dividends on shares of our Class A Common Stock will be at the sole discretion of our Board. Our 
Board may take into account general and economic conditions, our financial condition and results of operations, our 
available cash and current and anticipated cash needs, capital requirements, contractual, legal, tax, and regulatory 
restrictions, implications on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us and such other 
factors as our Board may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends is limited by covenants of our existing 
and outstanding indebtedness and may be limited by covenants of any future indebtedness we incur. As a result, you may 
not receive any return on an investment in our Class A Common Stock unless you sell our Class A Common Stock for a 
price greater than that which you paid for it.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and applicable insurance laws could delay or prevent a 
change of control.

Certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter and Amended and Restated Bylaws may have an anti-takeover 
effect and may delay, defer or prevent a merger, acquisition, tender offer, takeover attempt or other change of control 
transaction that a stockholder might consider in its best interest, including those attempts that might result in a premium 
over the market price for the shares held by our stockholders.

These provisions provide for, among other things:

• the ability of our Board to issue one or more series of preferred stock;

• advance notice for nominations of directors by stockholders and for stockholders to include matters to be considered 
at our annual meetings;

• certain limitations on convening special stockholder meetings; and

• limiting the ability of stockholders to act by written consent;

These anti-takeover provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if the third party’s offer 
may be considered beneficial by many of our stockholders. As a result, our stockholders may be limited in their ability to 
obtain a premium for their shares. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for 
you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions you desire.

Further, the insurance laws applicable to our regulated insurance subsidiaries prohibit any person from acquiring direct or 
indirect control of us or our regulated insurance subsidiaries, generally defined as owning or having the power to vote 
10% or more of our outstanding voting stock, without the prior written approval of state regulators.

37



Our Amended and Restated Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and 
exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could 
limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, 
employees or stockholders.

Our Amended and Restated Charter provides that, subject to limited exceptions, any (1) derivative action or proceeding 
brought on behalf of us under Delaware law, (2) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current 
or former director, officer, or other employee to us or our stockholders, (3) action asserting a claim against us, our 
directors, officers or other employees arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"), our Amended and 
Restated Charter or our Amended and Restated Bylaws (in each case, as may be amended from time to time), (4) action 
asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers or other employees governed by the internal affairs doctrine of 
the State of Delaware or (5) other action asserting an "internal corporate claim," as defined in Section 115 of the DGCL, 
in all cases subject to the court having personal jurisdiction over all indispensable parties named as defendants shall, to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court 
does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, another state or federal court located within the State of Delaware. Any 
person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have 
notice of and to have consented to the provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter described above. This choice of 
forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes 
with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, 
officers and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find these provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter 
inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur 
additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business 
and financial condition.

There is no public market for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

There is no established public trading market for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and we do not expect a market 
to develop. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is not currently listed on any securities exchange or nationally 
recognized trading system, including the New York Stock Exchange, and we may choose not to apply to list it in the 
future. Without an active market, the liquidity of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be limited.

Risks Related to Tax

We are a holding company, and our only material asset is our interest in The Hagerty Group, and we will therefore be 
dependent upon distributions made by The Hagerty Group to pay taxes, make payments under the TRA and pay other 
expenses.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our ownership of The Hagerty Group units and our 
managing member interest in The Hagerty Group. As a result, we will have no independent means of generating revenue 
or cash flow. Our ability to pay taxes, make payments under the TRA and pay dividends (in the event that any dividends 
are declared) and other expenses will depend on the financial results and cash flows of The Hagerty Group and the 
distributions we receive from The Hagerty Group. Deterioration in the financial condition, earnings or cash flow of The 
Hagerty Group for any reason could limit or impair The Hagerty Group’s ability to pay such distributions. Additionally, to 
the extent that we need funds and The Hagerty Group is restricted from making such distributions under applicable law or 
regulation or under the terms of any financing arrangements, or The Hagerty Group is otherwise unable to provide such 
funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

38



The Hagerty Group will be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not 
be subject to any entity-level U.S. federal or state income tax. Instead, the taxable income of The Hagerty Group will be 
allocated to the members of The Hagerty Group, including us. Accordingly, we will be required to pay income taxes on 
our allocable share of any net taxable income of The Hagerty Group. Under the terms of The Hagerty Group, LLC 
Agreement, The Hagerty Group is obligated to make tax distributions to the members of The Hagerty Group (including 
us) calculated at certain assumed tax rates. In addition to tax expenses, we will also incur expenses related to our 
operations, including payment obligations under the TRA (and the cost of administering such payment obligations), which 
could be significant. We intend to cause The Hagerty Group to make distributions to the members of The Hagerty Group 
in amounts sufficient to cover all applicable taxes (calculated at assumed tax rates) and payments under the TRA. 
However, The Hagerty Group’s ability to make such distributions may be subject to various limitations and restrictions 
including, but not limited to, restrictions on distributions that would either violate any contract or agreement to which The 
Hagerty Group is then a party, including debt agreements, or any applicable law, or that would have the effect of 
rendering The Hagerty Group insolvent. If our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the TRA and 
to fund our obligations, we may be required to incur additional indebtedness to provide the liquidity needed to make such 
payments, which could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition and subject us to various 
restrictions imposed by any such lenders. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the TRA for any 
reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid; provided, however, that nonpayment for a 
specified period may constitute a breach of a material obligation under the TRA and therefore accelerate payments due 
under the TRA.

Hagerty, Inc. is required to pay Legacy Unit Holders and any other persons that become parties to the TRA for certain 
tax benefits we may receive and the amounts payable may be substantial.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into a TRA with HHC and 
Markel ("Legacy Unit Holders"). The Hagerty Group intends to have in effect an election under Section 754 of the 
Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") for each taxable year in which TRA exchanges occur, which is expected to result in 
adjustments to the tax basis of the assets of The Hagerty Group as a result of such TRA exchanges. The TRA generally 
provides for the payment by Hagerty, Inc. to Legacy Unit Holders of 85% of the cash tax benefits, if any, realized as a 
result of (i) tax basis adjustments resulting from TRA exchanges in connection with or following the Business 
Combination, (ii) certain other tax benefits related to entering into the TRA, including tax benefits attributable to making 
payments under the TRA. We expect that the payments required under the TRA could be substantial. Estimating the 
amount and timing of realization of tax benefits subject to the TRA is by its nature imprecise. 

Payments under the TRA will be based on the tax reporting positions determined, and the Internal Revenue Service 
("IRS") or another tax authority may challenge all or a part of the existing tax basis, tax basis increases, or other tax 
attributes subject to the TRA, and a court could sustain such challenge. The parties to the TRA will not reimburse 
Hagerty, Inc. for any payments previously made if such tax basis or other tax benefits are subsequently disallowed, except 
that any excess payments made to a party under the TRA will be netted against future payments otherwise to be made 
under the TRA, if any, after the determination of such excess. In addition, the TRA provides that if (1) Hagerty, Inc. 
breaches any material obligations under the TRA (including in the event payments are more than three months late under 
the TRA, subject to certain exceptions), (2) Hagerty, Inc. is subject to certain bankruptcy, insolvency or similar 
proceedings, or (3) at any time, Hagerty, Inc. may elect an early termination of the TRA, the obligations under the TRA 
(with respect to all The Hagerty Group units, whether or not such units have been exchanged or redeemed before or after 
such transaction) would accelerate and become payable in a lump sum amount equal to the present value of the anticipated 
future tax benefits calculated based on certain assumptions, including that Hagerty, Inc. would have sufficient taxable 
income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the tax deductions, tax basis and other tax attributes subject to the TRA.

The TRA also provides that, upon certain changes of control or other significant transactions, in the discretion of HHC 
and Markel, obligations under the TRA may be accelerated and become payable in a lump sum as described above. Such 
acceleration would be based on certain assumptions, including that Hagerty, Inc. would have sufficient taxable income to 
fully utilize the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits covered by the TRA. As a result, upon any 
acceleration of the obligations under the TRA (including a change of control), Hagerty, Inc. could be required to make 
payments under the TRA that are greater than 85% of actual cash tax savings, which could negatively impact liquidity. 
The change of control provisions in the TRA may also result in situations where HHC and Markel have interests that 
differ from or are in addition to those of our Class A stockholders.
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To the extent we receive tax distributions in excess of our actual tax liabilities and retain such excess cash, HHC and 
Markel may benefit from such accumulated cash balances if they exercise their exchange rights.

Under the terms of The Hagerty Group LLC Agreement, The Hagerty Group is obligated to make tax distributions to the 
members of The Hagerty Group calculated at certain assumed tax rates. Because tax distributions will be made pro rata 
based on ownership and due to, among other items, differences between the tax rates applicable to us and the assumed 
individual income tax rate used in the calculation and requirements under the applicable tax rules that The Hagerty 
Group’s net taxable income be allocated disproportionately to its unit holders in certain circumstances, tax distributions 
may significantly exceed the actual tax liability for certain The Hagerty Group unit holders. If Hagerty, Inc. retains the 
excess cash we receive, Markel and HHC could benefit from any value attributable to such accumulated cash balances as 
a result of their rights under the Exchange Agreement with the Legacy Unit Holders.

If The Hagerty Group were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes, we and The Hagerty Group might be subject to potentially significant tax inefficiencies, and we would not be 
able to recover payments previously made by us under the TRA even if the corresponding tax benefits were subsequently 
determined to have been unavailable due to such status.

The Hagerty Group intends to operate such that it does not become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A "publicly traded partnership" is a partnership the interests of which are listed for 
trading on an established securities market or are readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent 
thereof. Applicable U.S. Treasury regulations provide for certain safe harbors from treatment as a publicly traded 
partnership, and The Hagerty Group intends to operate such that it will qualify for one or more of such safe harbors, 
although it may be unable to do so.

If The Hagerty Group were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes, significant tax inefficiencies might result for Hagerty, Inc. and for The Hagerty Group, for example, if Hagerty, 
Inc. is not able to file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with The Hagerty Group. In addition, Hagerty, Inc. 
may not be able to realize tax benefits covered under the TRA, and Hagerty, Inc. would not be able to recover any 
payments previously made under the TRA, even if the corresponding tax benefits (including any claimed increase in the 
tax basis of The Hagerty Group’s assets) were subsequently determined to have been unavailable.

Increases in applicable tax rates, changes in applicable tax laws or disagreements with tax authorities can adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Hagerty, Inc. will have no material assets other than the interest in The Hagerty Group, which holds, directly or indirectly, 
all of the operating assets of The Hagerty Group’s business. The Hagerty Group, with the exception of certain corporate 
subsidiaries, will not be subject to U.S. federal or state income tax. Hagerty, Inc. is a U.S. corporation that will be subject 
to U.S. corporate income tax on our worldwide operations, including our allocable share of any net taxable income of The 
Hagerty Group. We will be subject to various U.S. federal, state and local taxes, in addition to taxes in other countries.

New U.S. laws and policy relating to income and non-income-based taxes may have an adverse effect on our business and 
future profitability. Further, existing U.S. tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed, 
modified or applied adversely to us. Increases in income tax rates or other changes in income tax laws in any particular 
jurisdiction in which we operate or are otherwise subject to tax can reduce our after-tax income from such jurisdiction and 
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Existing tax laws have been and could in the 
future be subject to significant change.

We will be subject to reviews, examinations and audits by the IRS and other taxing authorities with respect to income and 
non-income-based taxes. Economic and political pressures to increase tax revenues in jurisdictions in which we operate, 
or the adoption of new or reformed tax legislation or regulation, may make resolving tax disputes more difficult and the 
final resolution of tax audits and any related litigation can differ from The Hagerty Group’s historical provisions and 
accruals, resulting in an adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, the provision for income taxes involves a significant amount of judgement regarding the interpretation of 
relevant facts and laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Our income tax expense and recorded tax balances can 
change significantly between periods due to a number of complex factors including but not limited to, changes in the 
valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as well as increases or decreases to valuation allowances recorded 
against our deferred tax assets.
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General Risk Factors

The price of our securities may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance and you could lose 
all or part of your investment as a result.

The trading price of our common stock and warrants is likely to be volatile. The stock market recently has experienced 
extreme volatility. This volatility often has been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular 
companies. You may not be able to resell your shares or warrants at an attractive price due to a number of factors such as 
those listed elsewhere in this "Risk Factors" section and this Annual Report, as well as the following:

• results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

• results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;

• public float and trading volume of our securities is low;

• changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates and investment 
recommendations by securities analysts and investors;

• declines in the market prices of stocks generally;

• strategic actions by us or our competitors;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, joint ventures, other strategic 
relationships or capital commitments;

• any significant change in our management;

• changes in general economic or market conditions or trends in our industry or markets;

• changes in business or regulatory conditions, including new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing 
laws or regulations applicable to our business;

• future sales of our Common Stock or other securities;

• investor perceptions or the investment opportunity associated with our Common Stock relative to other investment 
alternatives;

• the public’s response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our filings 
with the SEC;

• litigation involving us, our industry, or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our 
competitors;

• guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or our failure to meet this guidance;

• the development and sustainability of an active trading market for our Common Stock;

• actions by institutional or activist stockholders;

• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles; and

• other events or factors, including those resulting from pandemics or epidemics, natural disasters, war, acts of 
terrorism or responses to these events.

These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our Class A Common Stock and 
Public Warrants, regardless of our actual operating performance.

In the past, following periods of market volatility, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation. If we were 
involved in securities litigation, it could have a substantial cost and divert resources and the attention of executive 
management from our business regardless of the outcome of such litigation.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research reports about 
our business, or if they downgrade our stock or our sector, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A Common Stock will rely in part on the research and reports that industry or financial 
analysts publish about us or our business. We will not control these analysts. In addition, some financial analysts may 
have limited expertise with our business model and operations. Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who do cover 
us downgrade our stock or industry, or the stock of any of our competitors, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research 
about our business, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to 
publish reports on it regularly, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading 
volume to decline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

Our cybersecurity strategy is predicated on a risk-based approach, which is continuously informed by the standards 
provided by organizations such as the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the National Institute of 
Standards and Technology ("NIST"), the International Organization for Standardization, the Payment Card Industry, and 
others. Cybersecurity represents an important input to our overall approach to enterprise risk management ("ERM").

Our cybersecurity program is based on a framework designed to safeguard the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of 
our information assets. This program encompasses enterprise security policies, procedures, and technical measures to 
manage risks, protect sensitive data, and ensure compliance with relevant regulations. Our information security program 
utilizes a layered defense approach where components such as risk assessments, access controls, network security, 
encryption, employee training, and continuous monitoring and response processes provide layers of protection for our 
systems and assets. 

As part of our cybersecurity program, our information security team identifies and assesses material risks based on the 
NIST risk assessment model and then collaborates with internal business and technical partners to proactively create 
internal risk treatment plans that address identified risk exposures. In addition, we assess and manage cybersecurity risks 
through an incident security program which consolidates input from three primary departments, including our ERM 
department, which operates out of the Office of the Chief Financial Officer, our Privacy department which operates out of 
the Office of the Chief Legal Officer, and the Information Security department which operates out of the Office of the 
Chief Information Officer ("CIO"). Together, these departments provide subject matter expertise and specialized resources 
to deliver concentric layers of risk management and defense against both internal and external threats. 

In addition, our cybersecurity program includes third-party cyber risk assessments which evaluate the security posture of 
our vendors and partners to mitigate potential vulnerabilities introduced through external connections. Data loss 
prevention controls are systematically implemented to prevent unauthorized data exfiltration and to protect sensitive 
information from compromise.

Our information security program undergoes assessments conducted by both internal and external experts. The outcomes 
of these evaluations are communicated to senior management and the Board for review. 

Governance

The Board, through the Audit Committee, oversees our risk assessment and risk management activities, including our 
cybersecurity program. The Audit Committee receives periodic reports from our CIO and is notified any time our incident 
security program has determined that a cybersecurity incident is material or requires reporting to a regulatory body. 
Further, the Chair of the Audit Committee is regularly informed of both material and non-material cybersecurity risks and 
incidents.   

Our cybersecurity program is led by an experienced CIO and an experienced Chief Information Security Officer 
("CISO"). Our CIO has extensive experience in our industry with over 30 years of information technology experience, 
including extensive experience leading large global teams at several companies in his tenure. Our CISO has over 35 years 
of information technology experience, including 24 years of experience as a CISO leading large cybersecurity teams at 
four different insurance companies. Our CISO also has several industry recognized designations. 

As part of our cybersecurity risk management program, our information security department identifies, assesses, and 
manages cybersecurity risks, whether material or non-material. Through our Information Security department, the CIO 
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and CISO work to ensure that key stakeholders are informed about the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation 
of cybersecurity risks and incidents. 

We have established and maintain incident response and recovery plans that address the detection, reporting, analysis, 
response, recovery, communication, documentation, and post-incident review of cybersecurity incidents. We periodically 
test and evaluate such plans on a routine basis. 

As of the date of this Annual Report, we do not believe that any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of 
previous cybersecurity incidents, are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us, our business strategy, 
results of operations, or financial condition.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Traverse City, Michigan, and consist of approximately 109,500 square feet of 
office space at the main campus location under a lease agreement that expires in March 2036. In the U.S., we lease 
additional office space in Ohio, Colorado, Connecticut, and Michigan. Internationally, we lease offices in Canada, the 
U.K. and Germany. We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable for our current needs and that, should it be needed, 
suitable additional or alternative space will be available to accommodate our operations.

In 2022, Hagerty approved an initiative to increase operational efficiencies and flexibility by transitioning to a "remote 
first" work model for employees. As a result, we have subleased a portion of our office space in Ohio and Canada and 
intend to sublease portions of our office space in Colorado, Connecticut, and Michigan.

In addition, we have three Hagerty Garage + Social locations in the U.S., which includes one location in California, and 
two locations in Florida. In Canada, we have one location in Ontario.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are involved in various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. 
Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the ultimate 
resolution of these actions will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, liquidity or 
capital resources.

Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves and our partners by determining the scope, enforceability and 
validity of third party proprietary rights or to establish our proprietary rights. The results of any current or future litigation 
cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of 
defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Refer to Note 24 — Commitments and Contingencies in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information 
related to legal proceedings. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are traded on the NYSE under the symbols "HGTY" and "HGTY.WS", 
respectively. 

Stockholders of Record

As of March 1, 2024, there were 12 record holders of our Class A Common Stock and two record holders of our Class V 
Common Stock. Additionally, there were 15 record holders of our PIPE Warrants, two record holders of our OTM 
Warrants and nine record holders of our Public Warrants, Private Placement Warrants and Underwriter Warrants, in the 
aggregate, as of March 1, 2024. The number of record holders does not include persons who held shares of our common 
stock or warrants in nominee or "street name" accounts through brokers.
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Dividend Policy

We do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock. Any declaration and payment of 
dividends will be at the sole discretion of our Board, which may change our dividend policy at any time. Our Board will 
take into account:

• general economic and business conditions;

• our results of operations and financial condition;

• our available cash and current and anticipated cash needs;

• our capital requirements;

• contractual, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions and implications on the payment of dividends by us to our 
stockholders or by our subsidiaries (including The Hagerty Group) to us; and

• such other factors as our Board may deem relevant.

Subject to funds being legally available, we intend to cause The Hagerty Group to make pro rata distributions to the other 
unit holders and us in an amount at least sufficient to allow us and the other unit holders to pay all applicable taxes, to 
make payments under the TRA we entered into with The Hagerty Group unit holders and to pay our corporate and other 
overhead expenses.

Hagerty, Inc. is a holding company and does not have material assets other than its ownership of units of The Hagerty 
Group, and as a consequence, our ability to declare and pay dividends to the holders of our Class A Common Stock is 
subject to the ability of The Hagerty Group to provide distributions to us. If The Hagerty Group makes such distributions, 
The Hagerty Group unit holders will be entitled to receive pro-rata distributions from The Hagerty Group. However, 
because we must pay taxes, make payments under the TRA, and pay our expenses, amounts ultimately distributed as 
dividends to holders of our Class A Common Stock are expected to be less than the amounts distributed by The Hagerty 
Group to its unit holders on a per share basis.

Assuming The Hagerty Group makes distributions to its members in any given year, the determination to pay dividends, if 
any, to holders of our Class A Common Stock out of the portion, if any, of such distributions remaining after our payment 
of taxes, TRA payments and expenses (any such portion, an "excess distribution") will be made by our Board. Because 
our Board may determine to pay or not pay dividends to holders of our Class A Common Stock, holders of our Class A 
Common Stock may not necessarily receive dividend distributions relating to excess distributions, even if The Hagerty 
Group makes such distributions to us. 

Stock Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of 
the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by 
reference into any of our other filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The performance presentation shown below is being furnished as required by applicable rules of the SEC and was 
prepared using the following assumptions:

• A $100 investment was made in our Class A Common Stock, the Russell 2000 and our peer group as of 
December 3, 2021, which is the date our Class A Common Stock began trading on the NYSE;

• Investment in our peer group was weighted based on the stock market capitalization of each individual company 
within the peer group at the beginning of each period for which a return is indicated; and

• Dividends were reinvested on the relevant payment dates.
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Our customized peer group consists of the companies listed below. 

Safety Insurance Group, Inc. Universal Insurance Holdings, Inc. Heritage Insurance Holdings, Inc.
Erie Indemnity Company BRP Group, Inc. Palomar Holdings, Inc.
Ryan Specialty Holdings, Inc. Kinsale Capital Group, Inc. Goosehead Insurance, Inc.
Tiptree Inc. United Fire Group, Inc. American Coastal Insurance 

CorporationRLI Corp. Donegal Group Inc.
Horace Mann Educators Corporation

December 3, 
2021

December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Hagerty, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 133.02 $ 78.89 $ 73.17 
Russell 2000 $ 100.00 $ 101.88 $ 81.06 $ 94.78 
Customized Peer Group $ 100.00 $ 103.47 $ 107.57 $ 131.15 

ITEM 6. [ Reserved ]

Not applicable.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to provide the 
reader of the financial statements with a narrative from the perspective of management on the financial condition, results 
of operations, liquidity and certain other factors that may affect our operating results. The following discussion and 
analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and related Notes included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report. In addition to historical 
financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, 
uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those 
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed within "Risk 
Factors" in Item 1A of this report.

The following discussion contains references to the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. A discussion of the 
Company’s results of operations comparing results for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is included under 
the section entitled “Results of Operations” in Item 7 of Part II of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2022, and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Overview

We are a market leader in providing insurance for classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. Through our insurance model, we 
act as an MGA by underwriting, selling and servicing classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies. Then, due to 
our consistent track record of delivering strong underwriting results, we reinsure a large portion of the risks written by our 
MGA subsidiaries through our wholly owned subsidiary, Hagerty Re. In addition, we offer HDC memberships, which can 
be bundled with our insurance policies and give subscribers access to an array of products and services, including Hagerty 
Drivers Club Magazine, automotive enthusiast events, our proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside 
assistance, and special vehicle-related discounts. Lastly, to complement our insurance and membership offerings, we also 
offer Marketplace, where car enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance collector cars. Through these offerings, our goal is to 
be the world's most trusted and preferred brand for enthusiasts to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy the special cars that are 
their passion.

Business Review

In 2023, we conducted a review of certain components of our operations which resulted in the sale or reorganization of 
certain businesses, including Hagerty Garage + Social and DriveShare, as discussed below. This initiative supported our 
strategy to prioritize investments and resources in the areas of our business that offer the strongest growth and profit 
potential. As a result of this review, we recognized approximately $4.0 million of losses and impairments in the third 
quarter of 2023 related to actions taken with respect to Hagerty Garage + Social and DriveShare. We may incur additional 
losses and/or impairment charges in future periods as a result of actions which we may take related to this review.

Hagerty Garage + Social

On September 29, 2023, Hagerty Ventures LLC ("HV"), a wholly owned subsidiary of The Hagerty Group, entered into 
an agreement with HGS Hub Holdings LLC ("H3") to terminate the joint venture agreement governing Member Hubs 
Holding, LLC ("MHH"), which operates as Hagerty Garage + Social. In connection with this agreement, H3's 20% equity 
interest in MHH was redeemed and MHH's equity interests in the Palm Beach, Florida and Redmond, Washington 
locations of Hagerty Garage + Social were distributed to H3. Following the termination of the joint venture agreement, 
HV now owns 100% of MHH and its remaining Hagerty Garage + Social locations in Delray Beach, Florida; Miami, 
Florida; Van Nuys, California; and Burlington, Ontario. 

As a result of the joint venture termination, we recognized a loss of $2.9 million in the third quarter of 2023, as well as a 
$0.6 million loss related to the termination of the real estate lease held by the Culver City, California location of Hagerty 
Garage + Social. Following this lease termination, MHH no longer operates a Hagerty Garage + Social location in Culver 
City, California. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual 
Report for additional information.

Hagerty DriveShare

In the third quarter of 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into an agreement to sell Hagerty DriveShare, LLC 
("DriveShare"), a peer-to-peer rental platform for collector vehicles, to a third party. The sale was completed on October 
9, 2023. As a result of the sale, the Company recognized a $0.4 million loss in the third quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 10 
— Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information. 

Recent Developments

On January 12, 2024, our subsidiary, Hagerty Insurance Holdings, Inc., agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding 
capital stock of Consolidated National Insurance Company ("CNIC") for approximately $18.4 million, subject to upward 
or downward adjustment in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The closing price will be comprised of 
approximately $10 million for CNIC's approved state licenses and $8 million for the expected capital and surplus. We 
believe that the CNIC acquisition will allow us to continue driving high rates of written premium growth, better control 
our underwriting profits, and offer new products and coverages to fill an underserved segment of the enthusiast vehicle 
market. Subject to the satisfactory completion of various closing conditions, we expect to complete the CNIC acquisition 
during the second quarter of 2024. 

46



Key Performance Indicators

The tables below present a summary of our Key Performance Indicators, which include important operational metrics, as 
well as certain GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures as of and for the periods presented. We use these Key 
Performance Indicators to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends against planned initiatives, 
prepare financial projections, and make strategic decisions. We believe these Key Performance Indicators are useful in 
evaluating our performance when read together with our Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with 
GAAP.

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operational Metrics 
Total Written Premium (in thousands) (1) $ 907,175 $ 776,664 
Loss Ratio (2)  41.5 %  45.3 %
New Business Count — Insurance (3)  254,386  234,520 

GAAP Measures
Total Revenue (in thousands) $ 1,000,213 $ 787,588 
Operating Income (Loss) (in thousands) $ 10,408 $ (67,566) 
Net Income (in thousands) $ 28,179 $ 2,403 
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 0.19 $ 0.39 
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ 0.09 $ (0.07) 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands) (4) $ 88,162 $ (1,940) 
Adjusted Earnings (Loss) Per Share (4) $ 0.04 $ (0.20) 

December 31,
2023 2022

Operational Metrics
Policies in Force (5)  1,401,037  1,315,977 
Policies in Force Retention (6)  88.7 %  88.0 %
Vehicles in Force (7)  2,378,883  2,234,461 
HDC Paid Member Count (8)  815,007  752,754 
Net Promoter Score (9)  82  83 

(1) Total Written Premium is the total amount of insurance premium written by our MGA subsidiaries on policies that 
were bound by our insurance carrier partners during the period. We view Total Written Premium as an important 
metric as it most closely correlates with our growth in insurance commission revenue and Hagerty Re earned 
premium. Total Written Premium reflects the actual business volume and direct economic benefit generated from our 
policy acquisition efforts. 

(2) Loss Ratio, expressed as a percentage, is the ratio of (i) losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred to (ii) earned 
premium in Hagerty Re. We view Loss Ratio as an important metric because it is a powerful benchmark for 
profitability. This benchmark allows us to evaluate our historical loss patterns including incurred losses and make 
necessary and appropriate adjustments. In 2023, our Loss Ratio improved to 41.5% from 45.3% in the prior year due, 
in part, to better underwriting results. The comparison to the prior year is also favorably impacted by $10.0 million of 
catastrophe losses related to Hurricane Ian incurred in 2022 that were not repeated in the current year.

(3) New Business Count represents the number of new insurance policies issued by our MGA subsidiaries during the 
applicable period. We view New Business Count as an important metric to assess our financial performance because it 
is critical to achieving our growth objectives. While Hagerty benefits from strong renewal retention, new business 
policies more than offset those cancelled or non-renewed at expiration. Often new policies mean new relationships 
and an opportunity to sell additional products and services.

(4) Refer to "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for a description of this non-GAAP financial measure and a 
reconciliation to the most comparable GAAP amount.
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(5) Policies in Force ("PIF") represents the number of current and active insurance policies as of the applicable period end 
date. We view PIF as an important metric to assess our financial performance because policy growth drives our 
revenue growth, increases brand awareness and market penetration, generates additional insight to improve the 
performance of our platform, and provides key data to assist us in strategic decision making.

(6) PIF Retention represents the percentage of expiring insurance policies that are renewed on the renewal effective date, 
calculated on a rolling twelve months basis. We view PIF Retention as an important measurement of the number of 
policies retained each year, which contributes to recurring revenue streams from MGA commissions, membership 
fees, and earned premiums. It also contributes to maintaining our NPS, as discussed below.

(7) Vehicles in Force represents the number of current insured vehicles as of the applicable period end date. We view 
Vehicles in Force as an important metric to assess our financial performance because insured vehicle growth drives 
our revenue growth and increases market penetration.

(8) HDC Paid Member Count represents the number of current Members who pay an annual membership subscription as 
of the applicable period end date. We believe that HDC Paid Member Count is important because it helps us measure 
membership revenue growth and provides an opportunity to customize our value proposition and benefits to specific 
types of enthusiasts, both by demographic and vehicle interest.

(9) Hagerty uses Net Promoter Score ("NPS") as an important measure of the overall strength of our relationship with 
insurance policyholders and paid HDC subscribers (who are collectively referred to herein as Members). NPS is 
measured twice annually through a web-based survey sent by email invitation to a random sample of existing 
Members, which currently excludes customers in our new Marketplace business, and is reported annually using an 
average of the two surveys. Often referred to as a barometer of brand loyalty and engagement, NPS is well-known in 
our industry as a strong indicator of growth and retention.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

Commission and fee revenue

We generate commission and fee revenue through our MGA subsidiaries primarily from the underwriting, sale, and 
servicing of classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies on behalf of our insurance carrier partners. Commissions 
are earned for both new and renewed policies. In addition, under the terms of certain of our contracts with insurance 
carriers, we have the opportunity to earn a CUC based on written or earned premium and the loss ratio results of the 
insurance book of business. 

Historically, our MGA subsidiaries have earned, on average, a base commission of approximately 32% of written 
premium, as well as a CUC of up to 10%. In December 2023, our alliance agreement and associated agency agreement 
with Markel, which generated approximately 95% of our total commission revenue in 2023, was amended to increase the 
base commission rate to 37% and to adjust the profit share commission factors to scale from -5% to a maximum of +5% 
of written premium, with 80% of the expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024.

Commission and fee revenue is earned when the policy becomes effective, net of allowances for policy changes and 
cancellations, as our performance obligation is substantially complete when the policy is issued.

Earned premium

We earn reinsurance premium revenue for the risks assumed by Hagerty Re from the classic car and enthusiast vehicle 
insurance policies underwritten by our MGA subsidiaries. Hagerty Re is registered as a Class 3A reinsurer under the 
Bermuda Insurance Act of 1978.

Earned premium represents the earned portion of written premiums that Hagerty Re has assumed under quota share 
reinsurance agreements with our insurance carrier partners, net of premiums ceded to various reinsurers and the cost of 
catastrophe reinsurance coverage. Premiums assumed and ceded are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the term of the 
related reinsured policies, which is generally 12 months. The cost of catastrophe reinsurance coverage is recognized over 
the contract period in proportion to the related earned premium.
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Membership, marketplace and other revenue 

We earn subscription revenue through HDC memberships, which can be bundled with our insurance policies and give 
subscribers access to an array of products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive enthusiast 
events, our proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside assistance, and special vehicle-related discounts. We 
also earn fee-based revenue from Hagerty Garage + Social memberships, which include storage services in addition to the 
HDC Member benefits. Revenue from the sale of HDC and storage memberships is recognized ratably over the period of 
the membership. The membership is treated as a single performance obligation to provide access to stated member 
benefits over the life of the membership, which is currently one year.

Marketplace earns fee-based revenue primarily from the sale of collector cars through live auctions, time-based online 
auctions, and brokered private sales. In addition, Marketplace earns revenue from financing provided to qualified 
collectors and businesses secured by their collector cars. Fee-based revenue earned by Marketplace is recognized when 
the underlying sale is completed. Finance revenue is recognized when earned based on the amount of the outstanding loan, 
the applicable interest rate on the loan, and the length of time the loan was outstanding during the period. 

Lastly, other revenue includes sponsorship, admission, advertising, valuation and registration income. Other revenue is 
recognized when the performance obligation for the related product or service is satisfied.

Operating Expenses

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits consist primarily of costs related to employee compensation, payroll taxes, employee benefits, and 
employee development costs. Employee compensation includes wages paid to employees, as well as various incentive 
compensation plans. Employee benefits include the costs of various employee benefit plans, including retirement, 
medical, dental, and wellness plans. Costs related to employee education, training, and recruiting are included in 
employee development costs. Salaries and benefits are expensed as incurred except for those costs which are required to 
be capitalized, which are then amortized over the useful life of the asset created, primarily software. Salaries and benefits 
are expected to increase over time as the business continues to grow but will likely decrease as a percent of revenue.

Ceding commission, net

Ceding commission, net represents the commissions paid by Hagerty Re to insurance carrier partners for the risk assumed 
under the quota share agreements with those carriers. These commissions represent Hagerty Re's pro-rata share of the 
carrier's costs including (i) policy acquisition costs, which primarily consists of the commissions earned by our MGA 
subsidiaries, (ii) general and administrative costs, and (iii) other costs. Ceding commissions paid is recorded net of 
commissions received by Hagerty Re related to ceded reinsurance premiums. Ceding commission, net is recognized 
ratably over the term of the related reinsured policies, which is generally 12 months.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses represents our best estimate of the losses related to the risk assumed by Hagerty Re. 
Losses consist of claims paid, case reserves, and incurred but not reported ("IBNR") costs, which are recorded net of 
estimated recoveries from reinsurance, salvage and subrogation. Loss adjustment expenses consist of the cost associated 
with the investigation and settlement of claims. The estimates utilized in determining the amount of losses and loss 
adjustment expenses recorded in a period are based on statistical analysis performed by our internal and external actuarial 
team. Reserves are reviewed regularly and adjusted, as necessary, to reflect our estimate of the ultimate cost of settlement. 
(Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates" below.)

Sales expense

Sales expense includes costs related to the sale and servicing of insurance policies, as well as costs related to our 
Membership and Marketplace offerings, such as broker expense, cost of sales, promotion expense, and travel and 
entertainment expenses. Broker expense is the compensation paid to our agent partners and national broker partners when 
an insurance policy is written through a broker relationship. Broker expense generally tracks with written premium 
growth. Cost of sales includes payment processing fees, emergency roadside service costs, postage and other variable 
costs associated with the sale and servicing of a policy. Cost of sales also includes costs associated with vehicles held in 
our inventory and sold through Marketplace. Promotion expense includes various costs related to branding, events, 
advertising, marketing, and customer acquisition. Sales expenses, in general, are expensed as incurred and will trend with 
revenue growth.
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General and administrative services

General and administrative services primarily consist of expenses related to professional services, occupancy costs, and 
non-capitalized hardware and software. These costs are expensed as incurred. We expect this expense category to increase 
in dollar amount over time but will likely decrease as a percentage of revenue over the next few years after we reach scale 
to handle incoming business from new partnerships.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization reflects the recognition of the cost of our investments in various assets over their useful 
lives. Depreciation expense relates to leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment, vehicles, hardware, and 
purchased software. Amortization relates to investments associated with acquisitions, SaaS implementation, and internal 
software development, as well as investments made in and impairments of digital media content assets. Depreciation and 
amortization are expected to increase in dollar amount over time but will likely decrease as a percent of revenue as 
investments in platform technology reach scale.

Other Items

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

Our warrants are accounted for as liabilities and measured at fair value each reporting period, with changes in fair value 
recognized as non-operating income (expense) in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. In general, under the fair 
value accounting model, in periods when our stock price increases, the warrant liability increases, and we recognize 
additional expense. In periods when our stock price decreases, the warrant liability decreases, and we recognize additional 
income. (Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates" below.)

Interest and other income (expense)

Interest and other income (expense) primarily includes interest income related to our cash balances and interest expense 
related to outstanding borrowings, as well as changes in the value of the liability related to our TRA with Hagerty Holding 
Corp. ("HHC") and Markel. Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates" and Note 22 — Taxation in Item 8 of Part II of this 
Annual Report for additional information related to the TRA.

Income tax expense

The Hagerty Group is taxed as a pass-through ownership structure under provisions of the IRC and a similar section of 
state income tax law, except certain U.S. corporate subsidiaries and foreign subsidiaries. Any taxable income or loss 
generated by The Hagerty Group is passed through to and included in the taxable income or loss of all holders of The 
Hagerty Group units, including Hagerty, Inc. Hagerty, Inc. is taxed as a corporation and pays corporate federal, state, and 
local taxes with respect to income allocated from The Hagerty Group. 
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the dollar 
and percentage change between the two periods:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

REVENUE: in thousands (except percentages)
Commission and fee revenue $ 365,512 $ 307,238 $ 58,274  19.0 %
Earned premium  531,866  403,061  128,805  32.0 %
Membership, marketplace and other revenue  102,835  77,289  25,546  33.1 %
Total revenue  1,000,213  787,588  212,625  27.0 %

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and benefits  216,896  199,542  17,354  8.7 %
Ceding commission, net  251,805  191,150  60,655  31.7 %
Losses and loss adjustment expenses  220,658  182,402  38,256  21.0 %
Sales expense  156,378  140,781  15,597  11.1 %
General and administrative services  85,434  89,068  (3,634)  (4.1) %
Depreciation and amortization  45,809  33,887  11,922  35.2 %
Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net  8,812  18,324  (9,512)  (51.9) %
Losses and impairments related to divestitures  4,013  —  4,013  100.0 %

Total operating expenses  989,805  855,154  134,651  15.7 %
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)  10,408  (67,566)  77,974  115.4 %

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  11,543  41,899  (30,356)  (72.5) %
Revaluation gain on previously held equity method 
investment  —  34,735  (34,735)  (100.0) %
Interest and other income  22,821  2,028  20,793 N/M

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE  44,772  11,096  33,676 N/M
Income tax expense  (16,593)  (7,017)  (9,576)  (136.5) %
Loss from equity method investment, net of tax  —  (1,676)  1,676  100.0 %

NET INCOME $ 28,179 $ 2,403 $ 25,776 N/M

N/M = Not meaningful

Revenue

Commission and fee revenue

Commission and fee revenue was $365.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $58.3 million, or 
19.0%, compared to 2022, consisting of increases of $47.7 million related to renewal policies and $10.6 million related to 
new policies. 

The increase in revenue from renewal policies was primarily related to an increase of 17.0% in the underlying policy 
premiums, as well as continued strong policy retention. The increase in renewal policy premiums reflects sustained year-
over-year growth in PIF, as well as rate increases in several states due to inflation and higher vehicle repair costs, both of 
which contribute to higher premiums and, in turn, higher commission revenue.

The increase in revenue from new policies was driven by sustained year-over-year growth in New Business Count, as well 
as rate increases in several states. The average premium on a newly issued policy increased 7.0% when compared to the 
prior year period as a result of writing policies with higher insured values at higher premium rates. Accordingly, 
premiums from new policies increased $23.7 million, or 16.1%, during the year ended December 31, 2023. In turn, base 
commission revenue from newly issued policies grew by $7.6 million, or 16.5%, over the same period.

Commission and fee revenue from agent sources increased $34.3 million, or 20.6%, and Commission and fee revenue 
from direct sources increased $24.0 million, or 17.0%, during the year ended December 31, 2023. Commission rates vary 
based on geography, but do not differ by distribution channel (i.e., whether they are direct-sourced or agent-sourced).
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Earned premium

Earned premium at Hagerty Re was $531.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $128.8 million, 
or 32.0%, compared to 2022. This increase correlates with the $162.1 million, or 34.2%, increase in assumed premium 
resulting from an increase in Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share from 70% in 2022 to approximately 80% in 2023. 
Also contributing to the increase in Hagerty Re earned premium is the consistent growth in the volume of subject 
premiums written through our MGA subsidiaries in the U.S.  

The following table presents premiums assumed by Hagerty Re and the related quota share percentages for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
U.S. Canada U.K. Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Subject premium $ 754,746 $ 54,536 $ 9,129 $ 818,411 
Quota share percentage  81.0 %  35.0 %  80.0 %  77.8 %
Assumed premium in Hagerty Re  609,975  19,088  7,303  636,366 
Reinsurance premiums ceded  (33,070) 
Net assumed premium  603,296 
Change in unearned premiums  (81,813) 
Change in deferred reinsurance premiums  10,383 

Earned premium $ 531,866 

Year Ended December 31, 2022
U.S. Canada U.K. Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Subject premium $ 643,777 $ 50,434 $ 8,569 $ 702,780 
Quota share percentage  70.0 %  35.0 %  70.0 %  67.5 %
Assumed premium in Hagerty Re  450,644  17,652  5,998  474,294 
Reinsurance premiums ceded  (10,749) 
Net assumed premium  463,545 
Change in unearned premiums  (60,264) 
Change in deferred reinsurance premiums  (220) 

Earned premium $ 403,061 

Membership, marketplace and other revenue

Membership, marketplace and other revenue was $102.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of 
$25.5 million, or 33.1%, compared to 2022. 

Membership fee revenue was $52.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $7.2 million, or 16.0%, 
compared to 2022, which was primarily attributable to an increase in new policies issued with a bundled HDC 
membership, as well as an increase in storage revenue attributable to more Hagerty Garage + Social locations being in 
operation for most of the current year. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, membership fees 
were 51.0% and 58.5%, respectively, of total Membership, marketplace and other revenue. Refer to Note 10 — Losses 
and Impairments Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to 
Hagerty Garage + Social.

Marketplace revenue was $28.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $14.9 million, or 109.1%, 
compared to 2022, which was primarily attributable to the auction, private sale, and lending activities of Broad Arrow, 
which was acquired and consolidated into our results beginning in August 2022. For the years ended December 31, 2023 
and 2022, Marketplace revenue was 27.8% and 17.7%, respectively, of total Membership, marketplace and other revenue.

52



Other revenue, which primarily includes sponsorship, admission, advertising, valuation and registration income, was 
$21.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $3.4 million, or 18.6%, compared to 2022, primarily 
due to increased event sponsorship and admission revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022, other revenue was 21.2% and 23.8%, respectively, of total Membership, marketplace and other revenue.

Costs and Expenses

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits were $216.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $17.4 million, or 8.7%, 
compared to 2022. This increase was principally due to an increase in incentive compensation consistent with our 
improved year-over-year results, as well as an increase in stock-based compensation expense. The overall increase in 
Salaries and benefits was partially offset by headcount reductions associated with the voluntary retirement program (the 
"VRP") and reductions in force implemented in the fourth quarter of 2022 and first quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 15 — 
Restructuring, Impairment and Related Charges in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for information related to our 
restructuring plans.

Ceding commission, net

Ceding commission, net at Hagerty Re was $251.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of 
$60.7 million, or 31.7%, compared to 2022. This increase is consistent with the 32.0% increase in Hagerty Re Earned 
premium, as discussed above. 

The following table summarizes the components of Ceding commission, net for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands (except percentages)
Ceding commission: 

Ceding commission – reinsurance assumed $ 256,000 $ 191,150 
Ceding commission – reinsurance ceded  (4,195)  — 

Ceding commission, net $ 251,805 $ 191,150 
Percentage of earned premium  47.3 %  47.4 %

Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses at Hagerty Re were $220.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an 
increase of $38.3 million, or 21.0%, compared to 2022. This increase reflects higher 2023 incurred losses related to the 
increase in Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share during the period from 70% in 2022 to approximately 80% in 2023, as well as 
underlying growth in our business. While incurred losses increased, Hagerty Re's loss ratio improved to 41.5% for the 
year ended December 31, 2023. This improvement was due, in part, to better underwriting results in the current year. In 
addition, prior year results include $10.0 million of catastrophe losses related to Hurricane Ian. For the year ended 
December 31, 2022, Hagerty Re's loss ratio was 45.3%, including the impact of Hurricane Ian, and 42.8%, excluding the 
impact of Hurricane Ian.

Sales expense

Sales expense was $156.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $15.6 million, or 11.1%, 
compared to 2022, which was primarily attributable to an increase in broker expense of $9.4 million, consistent with 
written premium growth at our MGA subsidiaries across the agent distribution channel. In addition, cost of sales increased 
$7.2 million, primarily driven by Broad Arrow vehicles sales and related commissions. Lastly, credit card processing fees 
increased $2.1 million, primarily due to a shift in consumer preference towards credit cards as a payment method within 
our MGA subsidiaries. The overall increase in Sales expense was partially offset by reductions in promotion and travel 
and entertainment costs of $2.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
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General and administrative services

General and administrative services expense was $85.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $3.6 
million, or 4.1%, compared to 2022. This decrease was driven by a reduction in professional services of $7.0 million, 
primarily in digital technology consulting, as well as a continued focus by management on expense management. The 
overall decrease in General and administrative services expense was partially offset by a $4.8 million increase in software 
subscription licenses.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense was $45.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of 
$11.9 million, or 35.2%, compared to 2022. This increase was due, in part, to a higher base of capital assets in 2023 as a 
result of digital platform investments made in recent years, which resulted in an increase in Depreciation and amortization 
of approximately $5.8 million. Additionally, we incurred a $4.3 million loss related to digital media content asset 
impairments in 2023 due to lower than anticipated advertising and sponsorship revenue associated with these assets.

Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net

During the year ended December 31, 2022, management approved an initiative to increase operational efficiencies and 
flexibility by transitioning to a "remote-first" work model for employees. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2022, the 
Board approved the VRP, as well as a reduction in force (the "2022 RIF"). As a result, in 2022, we recognized 
restructuring, impairment and related charges of $18.3 million, which primarily consisted of $12.2 million in employee 
severance-related expenses related to the VRP and 2022 RIF and $6.2 million related to operating lease ROU asset 
impairments and related leasehold disposals.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board approved an additional reduction in force (the "2023 RIF") in the 
first quarter of 2023 and as a result, recognized $5.4 million in employee severance-related expenses and a $0.4 million 
impairment charge to write-down the value of certain digital media content assets. Additionally, in 2023, we recognized 
$3.1 million of charges associated with operating lease ROU asset impairments and related leasehold disposals in 
connection with the Company's ongoing transition to a "remote-first" work model.

Refer to Note 15 — Restructuring, Impairment and Related Charges in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for 
additional information with respect to our restructuring initiatives.

Losses and impairments related to divestitures

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $4.0 million of losses and impairments related to 
Hagerty Garage + Social and DriveShare, as discussed above under "Business Review". Refer to Note 10 — Losses and 
Impairments Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information.

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the change in the fair value of our warrant liabilities resulted in a 
gain of $11.5 million and $41.9 million, respectively. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements in Item 8 of Part II of 
this Annual Report for additional information with respect to our warrants.

Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized a revaluation gain on a previously held equity 
method investment of $34.7 million, which represents the remeasurement of our 40% equity interest in Broad Arrow 
immediately prior to the Broad Arrow Acquisition in August 2022. Refer to Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments in 
Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information with respect to our acquisition of Broad Arrow.

Interest and other income (expense)

Interest and other income (expense) was $22.8 million of income for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 
$2.0 million of income for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was primarily due to a $19.5 million increase 
in interest income on cash balances, resulting from higher variable interest rates and increased cash balances. In addition, 
the value of the TRA liability decreased by $2.6 million. These factors were partially offset by an increase in interest 
expense of $0.5 million related to outstanding JPM Credit Facility borrowings due to higher variable interest rates.
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Income tax expense 

Income tax expense was $16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $9.6 million compared to 
2022. The increase in income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022 was primarily due to 
an increase in income before income tax expense of $46.0 million within Hagerty Re, which is taxed as a corporation in 
the U.S. Refer to Note 22 — Taxation in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information with respect to 
items affecting our effective tax rate.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Maintaining a strong balance sheet and capital position is a top priority for us. We manage liquidity globally and across all 
operating subsidiaries.

Key Developments — Financing Activities

In 2023, we took a number of actions to enhance our capital structure, strengthen our liquidity position, and provide 
additional financial flexibility including the following:

• On June 23, 2023, Hagerty, Inc. issued 8,483,561 shares of our newly-designated Series A Convertible Preferred 
Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $80.0 million. This capital raise bolsters our cash balances and liquidity 
and provides working capital to drive profitable growth. Refer to Note 18 — Convertible Preferred Stock in Item 
8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

• On September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into an unsecured term loan credit facility with State Farm Mutual 
Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm") in the aggregate principal amount of $25.0 million (the "State 
Farm Term Loan"). As of December 31, 2023, Hagerty Re's statutory capital and surplus included $25.0 million 
related to the State Farm Term Loan, which is recorded for statutory purposes as "Other Fixed Capital" and is also 
eligible as "Tier 2 Ancillary Capital". This capital raise supports Hagerty Re's growth and we believe raising this 
additional capital was a positive factor that helped Hagerty Re be assigned a financial strength rating of A- 
(Excellent) from AM Best. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for 
additional information related to the State Farm Term Loan.

• On November 28, 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into a Tenth Amendment to the JPM Credit Agreement (as 
defined below), which provides additional operational flexibility to The Hagerty Group and its subsidiaries, and 
includes, among other things (i) additional baskets for investments, incurrence of indebtedness and liens; (ii) 
changes to financial covenants; and (iii) the ability to issue additional indebtedness in the form of either 
incremental debt on a pari-passu basis or on an asset-backed securitization basis. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term 
Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the JPM Credit Agreement.

• On December 21, 2023, Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as initial servicer, and its wholly owned subsidiary BAC 
Funding 2023-1, LLC, as borrower, entered into a revolving credit agreement with a certain lender (the "BAC 
Credit Agreement"). The BAC Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility (the "BAC Credit 
Facility") with an aggregate borrowing capacity of $75.0 million which will be used to fund the growth of BAC's 
asset-based lending activities. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for 
additional information related to the BAC Credit Facility.

Sources and Uses of Liquidity

Our sources of liquidity include our: (i) balances of cash and cash equivalents; (ii) net working capital; (iii) cash flows 
from operations; (iv) borrowings from the JPM Credit Facility (as defined below) to fund the general corporate needs of 
The Hagerty Group and its subsidiaries; and (v) borrowings from the BAC Credit Facility to fund a substantial portion of 
the lending activities of BAC. 

Our primary liquidity needs and capital requirements include cash required for: (i) the funding of business operations, 
including strategic investments; (ii) the servicing and repayment of borrowings under the JPM Credit Facility, the BAC 
Credit Facility, and the State Farm Term Loan; (iii) the payment of income taxes; and (iv) the funding of potential 
payments under the TRA. 
Based on our current expectations, we believe that these sources of liquidity will be sufficient to provide an adequate level 
of capital to support our anticipated short and long-term commitments, operating needs, and capital requirements.
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Financing Arrangements

JPM Credit Facility

The Hagerty Group has a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other 
financial institutions party thereto from time to time as lenders, as amended (the "JPM Credit Agreement"). The JPM 
Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility (the "JPM Credit Facility") with an aggregate borrowing 
capacity of $230.0 million. The JPM Credit Agreement matures in October 2026, but may be extended if agreed to by us 
and the lenders party thereto. As of December 31, 2023, total outstanding borrowings under the JPM Credit Facility were 
$77.3 million. JPM Credit Facility borrowings are collateralized by the assets of and equity interests in The Hagerty 
Group and its consolidated subsidiaries, except for (a) the assets held by the special purpose entities related to the BAC 
Credit Facility and (b) all or a portion of certain foreign and certain excluded or immaterial subsidiaries. Under the JPM 
Credit Agreement, we are required, among other things, to meet certain financial covenants, including a fixed charge 
coverage ratio and a leverage ratio. We were in compliance with these financial covenants as of December 31, 2023.

Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information on the JPM 
Credit Facility. 

BAC Credit Facility

On December 21, 2023, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and its wholly owned subsidiary BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC, as 
borrower, entered into the BAC Credit Agreement. The BAC Credit Agreement provides for the BAC Credit Facility, 
which has an aggregate borrowing capacity of $75.0 million and is subject to a borrowing base that is determined by a 
calculation that is primarily based upon a percentage of the carrying value of certain BAC notes receivable. As of 
December 31, 2023, the borrowing base for the BAC Credit Agreement was $25.8 million. 

The revolving borrowing period provided by the BAC Credit Agreement expires on December 21, 2025 and the BAC 
Credit Agreement matures on December 21, 2026. The revolving borrowing period and the maturity date of the BAC 
Credit Agreement may be extended by one year if requested by Broad Arrow Capital LLC and agreed to by the 
administrative agent. Broad Arrow Capital LLC is not a borrower or guarantor of the BAC Credit Facility.  

In conjunction with the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries transfer certain 
notes receivable originated by Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries to wholly owned, bankruptcy 
remote special purpose entities (each, an "SPE") to secure the borrowings under the BAC Credit Agreement. These SPEs 
have the limited purpose of acquiring notes receivable or a certificate representing beneficial ownership interest therein 
from Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries, with BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC also being the borrower 
under the BAC Credit Agreement. Assets transferred to each SPE are legally isolated from the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Further, the assets of each SPE are owned by such SPE and are not available to satisfy the debts or other 
obligations of the Company or any of its other subsidiaries. Broad Arrow Capital LLC continues to service the notes 
receivable transferred to the SPEs. 

Recourse to the Company and its subsidiaries that originated and transferred notes receivable that represent collateral 
under the BAC Credit Facility is limited to (i) an obligation of the applicable seller to repurchase a note receivable if it is 
determined that there was a breach of any representation or warranty relating to such note receivable as of the relevant 
date specified in the related transfer agreement and (ii) a limited guarantee covering certain liabilities that may result 
under certain foreign exchange hedging activity of one of the SPEs.

Under the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC are required, among other 
things, to meet certain financial covenants, including the requirement of Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as the servicer, to 
maintain a minimum tangible net worth, minimum liquidity balances, and an indebtedness to tangible net worth ratio. As 
of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the BAC Credit Agreement.

Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the 
BAC Credit Agreement.

Capital and Dividend Restrictions

Through our reinsurance subsidiary, Hagerty Re, we reinsure the same personal lines risks that are underwritten by our 
MGA subsidiaries on behalf of our insurance carrier partners. Hagerty Re's reinsurance operations are funded primarily 
through existing capital and net cash flows from operations. In addition, as discussed above under "Key Developments — 
Financing Activities," on September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re bolstered its balance of cash and cash equivalents with the 
$25.0 million in gross proceeds from the State Farm Term Loan. As of December 31, 2023, Hagerty Re had 
approximately $558.2 million in "Cash and cash equivalents" and "Restricted cash and cash equivalents". 
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We, and particularly Hagerty Re, pay close attention to the underlying underwriting and reserving risks by monitoring the 
pricing and loss development of the underlying business written through our MGA subsidiaries. Additionally, Hagerty Re 
manages its investment portfolio in accordance with an investment policy approved by its Board of Directors that seeks to 
generate an attractive total return on an after-tax basis on its investment assets, over the long-term, subject to compliance 
with several constraints and objectives including a requirement to assume only a modest amount of risk of principal loss.

Capital Restrictions

In Bermuda, Hagerty Re is subject to the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement ("BSCR") administered by the BMA. 
No regulatory action is taken by the BMA if an insurer’s capital and surplus is equal to or in excess of their enhanced 
capital requirement, as determined by the BSCR model. In addition, the BMA has established a target capital level for 
each insurer which is 120% of the enhanced capital requirement. Hagerty Re maintained sufficient statutory capital and 
surplus to comply with regulatory requirements as of December 31, 2023.

Dividend Restrictions

Under Bermuda law, Hagerty Re is prohibited from declaring or issuing a dividend if it fails to meet its minimum 
solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio. Prior approval from the BMA is also required if Hagerty Re's proposed 
dividend payments would exceed 25% of its prior year-end total statutory capital and surplus. The amount of dividends 
which could be paid by Hagerty Re in 2024 without prior approval is $54.7 million.

We believe that Hagerty Re's existing cash and cash equivalents, municipal securities, and cash flow from operations will 
be sufficient to support its working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. Hagerty 
Re's future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including its reinsurance premium growth rate, renewal 
rates, underwriting results, successful entry in new geographic markets, and the continuing market adoption of its product 
offerings.

Comparative Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

in thousands (except percentages)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 133,706 $ 55,328 $ 78,378  141.7 %
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities $ (52,647) $ (91,521) $ 38,874  42.5 %
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities $ 103,161 $ (28,084) $ 131,245 N/M

N/M = Not meaningful

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities primarily consists of net income, adjusted for non-cash items, and changes in 
working capital balances. Net cash provided by operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is 
presented below:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

in thousands (except percentages)
Net income $ 28,179 $ 2,403 $ 25,776 N/M
Non-cash adjustments to net income  71,294  (5,547)  76,841 N/M
Changes in operating assets and liabilities  34,233  58,472  (24,239)  (41.5) %

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 133,706 $ 55,328 $ 78,378  141.7 %

N/M = Not meaningful
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Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $133.7 million, an increase of 
$78.4 million, or 141.7%, compared to 2022. This increase was due to a $102.6 million increase in Net income, after 
excluding non-cash adjustments, partially offset by a $24.2 million decrease in cash from operating assets and liabilities.

The increase in Net income, after excluding non-cash adjustments, was primarily driven by organic growth across all 
areas of our business, as well as management's cost containment measures. Also contributing to the favorable comparison 
to the prior year is an increase in interest income due to higher variable interest rates earned on cash balances.

The decrease in cash from operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a decrease in Losses payable as a result of 
the settlement of claims, including those related to Hurricane Ian. Also contributing to the change in operating assets and 
liabilities was the increase in Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share percentage and organic revenue growth across our business.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 decreased $38.9 million when compared to 2022. 
The lower level of cash used in investing activities was primarily due to a decrease in spending on internally developed 
software, as well as a lower level of acquisitions. Also contributing to the year-over-year decrease is the $15.3 million 
Broad Arrow equity method investment made in January 2022 for which there was no comparable investment made in the 
current year. The overall decrease in cash used in investing activities was partially offset by net cash outflows associated 
with the lending activities of Broad Arrow, which increased $8.8 million compared to 2022. Refer to Note 4 — Notes 
Receivable and Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional 
information related to the acquisition of Broad Arrow and its lending activities. 

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased $131.2 million when compared to 
2022, primarily due to the issuance of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which resulted in net cash proceeds of 
$79.2 million, after deducting issuance costs. In addition, Hagerty Re entered into the State Farm Term Loan resulting in 
net cash inflows of $24.4 million, after deducting issuance costs, and Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as initial servicer, and its 
wholly owned subsidiary BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC, as borrower, entered into the BAC Credit Agreement, resulting in 
net cash inflows of $22.9 million, after deducting issuance costs.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Hagerty, Inc. expects to have adequate capital resources to meet the requirements and obligations under the TRA entered 
into with the Legacy Unit Holders on December 2, 2021. The TRA provides for the payment by Hagerty, Inc. to the 
Legacy Unit Holders of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, under U.S. federal, state and local income tax or 
franchise tax realized as a result of (i) any increase in tax basis of Hagerty, Inc.'s assets resulting from (a) the purchase of 
The Hagerty Group units from any of the Legacy Unit Holders using the net proceeds from any future offering, (b) 
redemptions or exchanges by the Legacy Unit Holders of Class V Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units for shares 
of Class A Common Stock or (c) payments under the TRA and (ii) tax benefits related to imputed interest deemed arising 
as a result of payments made under the TRA.

Legacy Unit Holders may, subject to certain conditions and transfer restrictions as described in the Legacy Unit Holders 
Exchange Agreement executed in connection with the Business Combination, redeem or exchange their Class V Common 
Stock and The Hagerty Group units for shares of Class A Common Stock of Hagerty, Inc. on a one-for-one basis. The 
Hagerty Group made an election under Section 754 of the IRC with the filing of its 2019 income tax return, which cannot 
be revoked without the permission of the IRS Commissioner and will be in place for any future exchange of The Hagerty 
Group units. The redemptions and exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and 
intangible assets of The Hagerty Group. These increases in tax basis may reduce the amount of tax that Hagerty, Inc. 
would otherwise be required to pay in the future. This payment obligation as a part of the TRA is an obligation of 
Hagerty, Inc. and not of The Hagerty Group. For purposes of the TRA, the cash tax savings in income tax will be 
computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of Hagerty, Inc. (calculated with certain assumptions) to the 
amount of such taxes that Hagerty, Inc. would have been required to pay had there been no increase to the tax basis of the 
assets of The Hagerty Group as a result of the redemptions or exchanges and had Hagerty, Inc. not entered into the TRA. 
Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the TRA is by nature imprecise, insofar as the calculation of 
amounts payable depends on a variety of factors.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and other commitments as of December 31, 2023:

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than 

1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than 

5 years
in thousands

Debt (1) $ 134,915 $ 3,654 $ 3,221 $ 103,040 $ 25,000 
Interest payments (2)  20,710  2,814  4,396  4,000  9,500 
Operating leases  71,113  9,067  16,893  15,867  29,286 
Purchase commitments  8,618  8,350  268  —  — 

Total $ 235,356 $ 23,885 $ 24,778 $ 122,907 $ 63,786 
(1) Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt within Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information regarding outstanding debt 

balances.
(2) Excludes variable rate debt interest payments and commitment fees related to borrowings under our JPM Credit Facility and BAC Credit 

Facility.

On June 23, 2023, we issued 8,483,561 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of 
$80.0 million. Dividends on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are cumulative and accrue from the date of issuance 
at the rate per annum of 7% of the Series A Purchase Price of each share, plus the amount of previously accrued 
dividends, compounded annually (the "Accruing Dividends"). The Company may elect to pay the Accruing Dividends 
either in cash or in additional shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. In addition, shares of the Series A 
Convertible Preferred Stock are contingently redeemable for cash under certain circumstances. The table of contractual 
obligations above excludes any potential cash payments related to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Refer to Note 
18 — Convertible Preferred Stock in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information on the Series A 
Convertible Preferred Stock.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2023.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make significant judgments, 
assumptions, and estimates that materially affect the amounts reported in the Company's Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Management's judgments, assumptions, and estimates are based on historical experience, future expectations, 
and other factors that are believed to be reasonable as of the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Actual results 
may ultimately differ from management's original estimates, as future events and circumstances sometimes do not develop 
as expected. The following is a discussion of the critical accounting estimates that may have a material impact on our 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Description

The provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is the difference between management's estimate of the 
ultimate cost of losses incurred by Hagerty Re and the amount of paid losses as of the reporting date. These reserves 
reflect management's best estimate of unpaid losses related to both reported claims and IBNR claims. These reserves also 
include management's best estimate of all expenses associated with processing and settling reported and unreported 
claims. Management regularly reviews its reserve estimates and updates those estimates as new information becomes 
available or as events emerge that may affect the resolution of unsettled claims. Updates made to reserve estimates based 
on new information may cause changes in prior reserve estimates. These changes are recorded within losses and loss 
adjustment expenses in the period such changes are determined. 
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The following table presents Hagerty Re's provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses, both gross and net of 
reinsurance recoverables, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31, 2023
Gross % of Total Net % of Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Outstanding losses reported $ 86,420  63.3 % $ 84,651  63.0 %
IBNR  50,087  36.7 %  49,621  37.0 %

Total provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 136,507  100.0 % $ 134,272  100.0 %

December 31, 2022
Gross % of Total Net % of Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Outstanding losses reported $ 66,824  59.8 % $ 65,981  59.5 %
IBNR  44,917  40.2 %  44,917  40.5 %

Total provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 111,741  100.0 % $ 110,898  100.0 %

The following table summarizes the development of management's estimate of gross and net ultimate losses and loss 
adjustment expenses for the 2019 to 2022 accident years:

Gross Ultimate Loss & Loss Adjustment 
Expenses

Net Ultimate Loss & Loss Adjustment 
Expenses

Accident Year 2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change
in thousands

2019 $ 60,495 $ 60,495 $ — $ 60,495 $ 60,495 $ — 
2020 $ 85,313 $ 86,113 $ (800) $ 85,313 $ 86,113 $ (800) 
2021 $ 126,391 $ 130,016 $ (3,625) $ 126,391 $ 130,016 $ (3,625) 
2022 $ 188,012 $ 191,815 $ (3,803) $ 183,188 $ 186,463 $ (3,275) 
2023 $ 231,231 N/A N/A $ 228,465 N/A N/A

Judgments and Uncertainties

Estimating the ultimate cost of claims and claims expenses is an inherently complex and subjective process that involves a 
high degree of judgment. The factors considered by management in estimating the provision for unpaid losses and loss 
adjustment expenses include the following:

• historical trends in claim frequency and severity;

• the changing mix of business due to the large growth in modern collectible cars which carry a different risk 
profile than the risks associated with classic cars;

• emerging economic and social trends; 

• inflation, both economic and social;

• retention limits under current catastrophe and treaty reinsurance programs; 

• legislative and judicial changes in the jurisdictions in which we write insurance; and

• management's assessment of broader industry experience and trends.
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Claims are analyzed and reported based on the year in which the loss occurred - i.e., on an accident year basis. Accident 
year data is classified and utilized within actuarial models to prepare estimates of required reserves for payments to be 
made in the future. The timing of claim settlement varies and depends on the type of claim being reported. Claims 
involving property damage are generally settled faster than bodily injury claims. Historical loss patterns are then applied 
to actual paid losses and reported losses by accident year to develop expectations of future claim payments. Implicit 
within the actuarial models are estimates of the impacts of inflation, especially for claims with longer expected cycle 
times. Refer to Note 12 — Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual 
Report for additional information regarding the methodologies used to estimate loss and loss adjustment expense reserves.

Reserves are reviewed quarterly and periodically throughout the year by combining historical results and current actual 
results to calculate new development factors. When estimating loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, our actuarial 
reserving group considers claim cycle time, claims settlement practices, adequacy of case reserves over time, the 
seasonality of our business, and current economic conditions. 

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Estimates and Assumptions

Because actual experience can differ from key assumptions used in estimating reserves, there may be significant variation 
in the development of reserves and the amount of actual losses and loss adjustment expenses ultimately paid in the future. 
Any adjustments to the provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses are recognized in our Consolidated Statements 
of Operations in the period in which management determines that an adjustment is required.

If the actual level of loss frequency and/or severity is higher or lower than our expectations, the ultimate cost of claims 
paid will differ from management's estimates. An illustration of the potential effect of higher or lower levels of loss 
frequency and severity on our ultimate cost of claims for the 2023 accident year is provided in the following table:

Change in both loss frequency and severity

Ultimate Cost of 
Claims 

Occurring in 
2023 Change

in thousands
3% Higher $ 242,379 $ 13,914 
2% Higher $ 237,695 $ 9,230 
1% Higher $ 233,057 $ 4,592 
Base Scenario $ 228,465 $ — 
1% Lower $ 223,919 $ (4,546) 
2% Lower $ 219,418 $ (9,047) 
3% Lower $ 214,963 $ (13,502) 

Deferred Income Taxes

Description

Where applicable, income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying values 
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax-credit carryforwards. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. In determining the provision for income taxes for financial 
statement purposes, we make estimates and judgments which affect our evaluation of the carrying value of our deferred 
tax assets, as well as our calculation of certain tax liabilities.

Judgments and Uncertainties

We evaluate the carrying value of our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. In completing this evaluation, we consider 
all available positive and negative evidence. Such evidence includes historical operating results, the existence of 
cumulative earnings and losses in the most recent fiscal years, taxable income in prior carryback year(s) if permitted under 
the tax law, expectations for future taxable income, the time period over which our temporary differences will reverse, and 
the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. Estimating future taxable income is inherently 
uncertain and requires judgment. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of this 
evidence, it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future 
periods. 
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded deferred tax assets of $184.2 million, of which $146.0 million 
relates to the difference between the outside tax basis and book basis of its investment in the assets of The Hagerty Group. 
As of December 31, 2023, based on an assessment of all available positive and negative evidence, management believes it 
is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets, including the deferred tax asset for the investment in the assets of 
The Hagerty Group, will not be realized. As a result, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $169.6 million 
against its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023.

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Estimates and Assumptions

If management's projections of future taxable income and other positive evidence considered in evaluating the need for the 
valuation allowance prove, with the benefit of hindsight, to be inaccurate, it could prove more difficult to support the 
realization of the net deferred tax asset. As a result, an additional valuation allowance could be required, which would 
have an adverse impact on the Company’s effective income tax rate and results. Conversely, if management determines 
that sufficient positive evidence exists in the jurisdiction in which a valuation allowance is recorded, the Company may 
reverse all or a portion of the valuation allowance in that jurisdiction. In such situations, the adjustment made to the 
deferred tax asset would have a favorable impact on the Company’s effective income tax rate and results in the period 
such determination was made.

Liabilities under Tax Receivable Agreement

Description

In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into a TRA with the Legacy Unit Holders. The TRA 
provides for payment to the Legacy Unit Holders of 85% of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax savings realized 
by Hagerty, Inc. as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits as outlined in the Business 
Combination Agreement (provided as Exhibit 2.1, incorporated by reference within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual 
Report) upon the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Hagerty, Inc. Class V Common Stock for Hagerty, Inc. Class 
A Common Stock or cash. The Hagerty Group made an election under Section 754 of the IRC with the filing of its 2019 
income tax return, which cannot be revoked without the permission of the IRS Commissioner and will be in place for any 
future exchange of The Hagerty Group units. The remaining 15% cash tax savings resulting from the basis adjustments 
will be retained by Hagerty, Inc.

Judgments and Uncertainties

The amount and timing of any payments under the TRA will vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not 
limited to, the increase in tax basis of The Hagerty Group's assets, the timing of any future redemptions, exchanges or 
purchases of The Hagerty Group units held by Legacy Unit Holders, the price of Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock at 
the time of the purchase, redemption or exchange, the extent to which redemptions or exchanges are taxable, the amount 
and timing of the taxable income that Hagerty, Inc. generates in the future, the tax rates then applicable and the portion of 
the payments under the TRA constituting imputed interest. 

If we do not generate sufficient taxable income in the aggregate over the term of the TRA to utilize the tax benefits, then 
we would not be required to make the related payment under the TRA. Therefore, we only recognize a liability for the 
TRA if we determine it is probable that we will generate sufficient future taxable income over the term of the TRA to 
utilize the related tax benefits. Estimating future taxable income is inherently uncertain and requires significant 
management judgment.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recognized a liability of $0.6 million relating to its obligations under the 
TRA, which is limited by its ability to currently utilize the related tax benefits. 

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Estimates and Assumptions

Changes in the liability resulting from historical exchanges under the TRA may occur based on changes in anticipated 
future taxable income, changes in applicable tax rates, or other changes in tax attributes that may occur and impact the 
expected future tax benefits to be received by the Company. Changes in the projected liability under the TRA are and will 
be recorded as a component of "Interest and other income (expense)" each period. Actual taxable income may differ from 
estimates, which could significantly impact the liability under the TRA and the Company's Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.  
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Description

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business 
combination. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested annually for impairment at the reporting unit level as of October 1 
and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist. These indicators could include a decline in the 
Company’s stock price and market capitalization, a significant change in the outlook for the reporting unit's business, 
lower than expected operating results, increased competition, legal factors, or the sale or disposition of a significant 
portion of a reporting unit. For reporting units with goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which 
the reporting unit's carrying value, including goodwill, exceeds its fair value. 

Our intangible assets are evaluated for impairment only when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable.

Judgments and Uncertainties

Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units and the 
determination of the estimated fair value of reporting units. For reporting units with goodwill, we perform a qualitative 
analysis to determine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. 
When assessing goodwill for impairment, our decision to perform a qualitative assessment for an individual reporting unit 
is based on a number of factors, including the carrying value of the reporting unit's goodwill, the amount of time in 
between quantitative fair value assessments, macro-economic conditions, industry and market conditions and the 
operating performance of the reporting unit. If it is determined, based on qualitative factors, that it is more likely than not 
that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is performed, in 
which we determine the estimated fair value of the reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis. This analysis 
requires significant judgment, including the estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, 
available industry/market data, the estimation of the long-term rate of growth for the reporting unit including expectations 
and assumptions regarding the impact of general economic conditions on the reporting unit, the estimation of the useful 
life over which cash flows will occur (including terminal multiples), the determination of the respective weighted average 
cost of capital and market participant assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the 
determination of estimated fair value and potential impairment for each reporting unit.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded goodwill of $114.2 million, including $103.6 million attributable to 
the Marketplace reporting unit, and intangible assets of $91.9 million, consisting principally of internally developed 
software, renewal rights, and trade names and trademarks.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Estimates and Assumptions

Fair value determinations require considerable judgment and are sensitive to changes in underlying assumptions and 
factors. As a result, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the annual 
goodwill impairment test will prove to be an accurate prediction of the future. Examples of events or circumstances that 
could reasonably be expected to negatively affect the underlying key assumptions and ultimately impact the estimated fair 
value of our reporting units may include such items as: (i) failure to meet business plans; (ii) deterioration of the U.S. 
economy; (iii) an increase in interest rates; or (iv) other unanticipated events and circumstances that may decrease the 
projected cash flows or increase the discount rates and could potentially result in an impairment charge.

While historical performance and current expectations have generally resulted in the conclusion that our goodwill is not 
impaired, if our assumptions are not realized, it is possible that an impairment charge may need to be recorded in the 
future. There can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the annual goodwill 
impairment tests will prove to be an accurate prediction of the future.

Warrant Liabilities

Description

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 5,750,000 Public Warrants outstanding, 257,500 Private Placement Warrants 
outstanding, 28,750 Underwriter Warrants, 1,300,000 OTM Warrants outstanding, and 12,147,300 PIPE Warrants 
outstanding. 

The Company accounts for these warrants as liabilities as they do not meet the criteria for equity treatment. Accordingly, 
the warrants are measured at fair value each reporting period with the change in fair value between reporting periods 
recorded within "Change in fair value of warrant liabilities" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
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Judgments and Uncertainties

The Company's Private Placement Warrants, Underwriter Warrants, OTM Warrants, and PIPE Warrants are Level 3 
within the fair value hierarchy. The Company utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation model to measure the fair value of these 
warrants. The Company’s Monte Carlo simulation model includes assumptions related to the expected stock price 
volatility, expected term, dividend yield, and risk-free interest rate.

The following table summarizes the significant inputs used in the valuation model for the private warrants as of 
December 31, 2023:

Inputs

Private 
Placement 
Warrants

Underwriter 
Warrants OTM Warrants PIPE Warrants

Exercise price $11.50 $11.50 $15.00 $11.50
Common stock price $7.80 $7.80 $7.80 $7.80
Volatility 48.6% 48.6% 46.0% 48.6%
Expected term of the warrants 2.92 2.92 7.93 2.92
Risk-free rate 4.00% 4.00% 3.90% 4.00%
Dividend yield —% —% —% —%

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Estimates and Assumptions

We believe that the significant inputs and assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation model are reasonable and 
appropriately value our Level 3 warrants. However, to the extent that the significant inputs and assumptions used in the 
valuation model change between reporting periods, the recorded amount of our warrant liabilities would be impacted, 
resulting in an increase or decrease to the liability and our earnings.

Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements, in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report, for additional information 
related to the significant inputs to the Monte Carlo simulation model.

New Accounting Standards

New accounting standards are described in Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting 
Standards, in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report, which are incorporated herein by reference.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA

We define Adjusted EBITDA as consolidated Net income excluding interest and other income (expense), income tax 
expense, and depreciation and amortization, adjusted to exclude (i) changes in the fair value of our warrant liabilities; (ii) 
share-based compensation expense; and when applicable, (iii) restructuring, impairment and related charges, net; (iv) the 
net gain or loss from asset disposals; (v) losses and impairments related to divestitures; (vi) the revaluation gain on a 
previously held equity method investment; and (vii) certain other unusual items. 

We present Adjusted EBITDA because we consider it to be an important supplemental measure of the Company's 
performance and believe it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties in the 
evaluation of companies in our industry. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA as a measure of the operating performance 
of our business on a consistent basis, as it removes the impact of items not directly resulting from our core operations.

By providing this non-GAAP financial measure, together with a reconciliation to net income (loss), which is the most 
comparable GAAP measure, we believe we are enhancing investors’ understanding of our business and our results of 
operations, as well as assisting investors in evaluating how well we are executing our strategic initiatives. However, 
Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation, or as an alternative to, 
or a substitute for net income (loss) or other financial statement data presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements 
as indicators of financial performance. Hagerty's definition of Adjusted EBITDA may be different than similarly titled 
measures used by other companies in our industry, which could reduce the usefulness of this non-GAAP financial 
measure when comparing our performance to that of other companies.
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The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, which is Net income:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Net income $ 28,179 $ 2,403 

Interest and other income  (22,821)  (2,028) 
Income tax expense  16,593  7,017 
Depreciation and amortization  45,809  33,887 

EBITDA  67,760  41,279 
Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net  8,812  18,324 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (11,543)  (41,899) 
Share-based compensation expense  17,729  12,129 
Losses and impairments related to divestitures  4,013  — 
Revaluation gain previously held equity method investment  —  (34,735) 
Net loss from asset disposals  —  1,970 
Other unusual items (1)  1,391  992 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 88,162 $ (1,940) 
(1) Other unusual items primarily includes certain legal settlement expenses (net) recognized in the years ended December 31, 2023 

and 2022, and certain non-restructuring severance expenses recognized in the year ended December 31, 2022.

Adjusted EPS

We define Adjusted Earnings (Loss) Per Share ("Adjusted EPS") as consolidated Net income (loss), less changes in the 
fair value of our warrant liabilities and, when applicable, the revaluation gain on a previously held equity method 
investment, divided by our outstanding and total potentially dilutive securities, which includes (i) the weighted-average 
issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock; (ii) all issued and outstanding non-controlling interest units of 
The Hagerty Group; (iii) all unexercised warrants; (iv) all unissued share-based compensation awards; and (v) all issued 
and outstanding shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock on an as-converted basis. 

The most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EPS is basic earnings per share ("Basic EPS"), which is 
calculated as Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders divided by the weighted average number of 
Class A Common Stock shares outstanding during the period.

We present Adjusted EPS because we consider it to be an important supplemental measure of our operating performance 
and believe it is used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in evaluating the consolidated 
performance of other companies in our industry. We also believe that Adjusted EPS, which compares our consolidated 
Net income (loss) with our outstanding and potentially dilutive shares, provides useful information to investors regarding 
our performance on a fully consolidated basis.

Management uses Adjusted EPS:

• as a measurement of operating performance of our business on a fully consolidated basis;

• to evaluate the performance and effectiveness of our operational strategies; and

• as a preferred predictor of core operating performance, comparisons to prior periods and competitive positioning.

We caution investors that Adjusted EPS is not a recognized measure under GAAP and should not be considered in 
isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, 
including Basic EPS, and that Adjusted EPS, as we define it, may be defined or calculated differently by other companies. 
In addition, Adjusted EPS has limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered as a measure of profit or loss 
per share.
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The following table reconciles Adjusted EPS to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, which is Basic EPS:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands (except per share 
amounts)

Numerator:
Net income available to Class A Common Stockholders (1) $ 15,881 $ 32,078 
Undistributed earnings allocated to Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  673  — 
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  3,677  — 
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest  7,948  (29,675) 

Consolidated net income  28,179  2,403 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (11,543)  (41,899) 
Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment  —  (34,735) 

Adjusted consolidated net income (loss) (2) $ 16,636 $ (74,231) 

Denominator:
Weighted average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding — basic (1) 84,180 82,728
Total potentially dilutive securities outstanding:

Conversion of non-controlling interest units of The Hagerty Group to Class A 
Common Stock  255,499  255,758 
Conversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to Class A Common Stock  6,785  — 
Total unissued share-based compensation awards  8,385  6,902 
Total warrants outstanding  19,484  19,484 

Potentially dilutive shares outstanding  290,153  282,144 
Fully dilutive shares outstanding (2)  374,333  364,872 

Basic EPS (1) $ 0.19 $ 0.39 

Adjusted EPS (2) $ 0.04 $ (0.20) 
(1) Numerator and Denominator, respectively, of the GAAP measure Basic EPS
(2) Numerator and Denominator, respectively, of the non-GAAP measure Adjusted EPS
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to interest rate risk as part of our ongoing business operations. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair 
value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in prevailing market interest rates. 

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $68.0 million of variable rate indebtedness (after taking into 
consideration $35.0 million in interest rate swaps which effectively convert variable-rate debt to fixed-rate debt), 
representing approximately 50% of our total debt outstanding, at an average interest rate during the year ended 
December 31, 2023 of approximately 7.30%. Based on variable-rate borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2023, a 
100-basis point (or 1.0%) change in our borrowing rates would result in our annual interest payments changing by 
approximately $0.7 million. 

We also have a portfolio of loans secured by collector cars of approximately $52.9 million as of December 31, 2023, upon 
which interest is earned predominately at variable rates including Prime Rate and Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate 
("SOFR"). 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Hagerty, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hagerty, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in 
temporary and stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, 
and the related notes and the schedules listed in the index at Item 8 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 
December 31, 2023, and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect 
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its 
internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's 
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Detroit, Michigan
March 12, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

REVENUE: in thousands (except per share amounts)
Commission and fee revenue $ 365,512 $ 307,238 $ 271,571 
Earned premium  531,866  403,061  295,824 
Membership, marketplace and other revenue  102,835  77,289  51,684 

Total revenue  1,000,213  787,588  619,079 
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Salaries and benefits  216,896  199,542  171,901 
Ceding commission, net  251,805  191,150  140,983 
Losses and loss adjustment expenses  220,658  182,402  122,080 
Sales expense  156,378  140,781  107,483 
General and administrative services  85,434  89,068  64,558 
Depreciation and amortization  45,809  33,887  22,144 
Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net  8,812  18,324  — 
Losses and impairments related to divestitures  4,013  —  — 

Total operating expenses  989,805  855,154  629,149 
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)  10,408  (67,566)  (10,070) 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  11,543  41,899  (42,540) 
Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment  —  34,735  — 
Interest and other income (expense)  22,821  2,028  (1,993) 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE  44,772  11,096  (54,603) 
Income tax expense  (16,593)  (7,017)  (6,751) 
Loss from equity method investment, net of tax  —  (1,676)  — 

NET INCOME (LOSS)  28,179  2,403  (61,354) 
Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest  (7,948)  29,675  398 
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest  —  —  14,598 
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  (3,677)  —  — 

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO CLASS A COMMON 
STOCKHOLDERS $ 16,554 $ 32,078 $ (46,358) 

Earnings (loss) per share of Class A Common Stock:
Basic $ 0.19 $ 0.39 $ (0.56) 
Diluted $ 0.09 $ (0.07) $ (0.56) 

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding:
Basic  84,180  82,728  82,327 
Diluted  340,323  336,147  82,327 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Net income (loss) $ 28,179 $ 2,403 (61,354) 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 1,564 (1,834) (792) 
Derivative instruments (1,060) 2,699 1,019 

Other comprehensive income 504 865 227 
Comprehensive income (loss) 28,683 3,268 (61,127) 

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest (8,327) 29,675 398 
Comprehensive loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest — — 14,598 
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (3,677) — — 

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Class A Common 
Stockholders $ 16,679 $ 32,943 $ (46,131) 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
2023 2022

ASSETS in thousands (except share amounts)
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,326 $ 95,172 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  615,950  444,019 
Accounts receivable  71,530  58,255 
Premiums receivable  137,525  100,700 
Commissions receivable  79,115  60,151 
Notes receivable  35,896  25,493 
Deferred acquisition costs, net  141,637  107,342 
Other current assets  60,239  45,651 

Total current assets  1,250,218  936,783 
Notes receivable  17,018  11,934 
Property and equipment, net  20,764  25,256 
Lease right-of-use assets  50,515  82,398 
Intangible assets, net  91,924  104,024 
Goodwill  114,214  115,041 
Other long-term assets  43,559  37,082 
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,588,212 $ 1,312,518 
LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 87,175 $ 77,049 
Losses payable  62,001  55,516 
Provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses  136,507  111,741 
Commissions payable  108,739  77,075 
Due to insurers  79,815  68,171 
Advanced premiums  20,471  17,084 
Unearned premiums  317,275  235,462 
Contract liabilities  30,316  25,257 

Total current liabilities  842,299  667,355 
Long-term lease liabilities  50,459  80,772 
Long-term debt, net  130,680  108,280 
Warrant liabilities  34,018  45,561 
Deferred tax liability  15,937  12,850 
Contract liabilities  17,335  19,169 
Other long-term liabilities  4,139  11,162 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,094,867  945,149 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 24)  —  — 
TEMPORARY EQUITY
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value (20,000,000 shares authorized, 8,483,561 Series A Convertible Preferred 
Stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and no shares issued and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2022)  82,836  — 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Class A Common Stock, $0.0001 par value (500,000,000 shares authorized, 84,588,536 and 83,202,969 
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively)  8  8 
Class V Common Stock, $0.0001 par value (300,000,000 authorized, 251,033,906 shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022)  25  25 
Additional paid-in capital  561,754  549,034 
Accumulated earnings (deficit)  (468,995)  (489,602) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (88)  (213) 

Total stockholders' equity  92,704  59,252 
Non-controlling interest  317,805  308,117 

Total equity (Note 19)  410,509  367,369 
TOTAL LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 1,588,212 $ 1,312,518 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES: in thousands
Net income (loss) $ 28,179 $ 2,403 $ (61,354) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (11,543)  (41,899)  42,540 
Loss on equity method investment  —  1,676  — 
Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment  —  (34,735)  — 
Depreciation and amortization  45,809  33,887  22,144 
Provision for deferred taxes  2,921  2,973  3,038 
Impairment of operating lease right-of-use assets  1,147  4,698  — 
Loss on disposals of equipment, software and other assets  1,894  4,316  2,425 
Losses and impairments related to divestitures  2,827  —  — 
Share-based compensation expense  18,017  12,129  — 
Non-cash lease expense  11,681  10,875  — 
Other  (1,459)  533  155 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts, premiums and commission receivable  (69,879)  (52,036)  (39,123) 
Deferred acquisition costs  (34,295)  (25,807)  (22,963) 
Losses payable  6,485  21,034  12,502 
Provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses  24,766  36,872  19,882 
Commissions payable  31,664  16,472  16,805 
Due to insurers  11,510  10,427  8,883 
Advanced premiums  3,370  3,259  124 
Unearned premiums  81,813  60,263  50,491 
Operating lease liabilities  (11,243)  (9,779)  — 
Other assets and liabilities, net  (9,958)  (2,233)  (13,268) 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  133,706  55,328  42,281 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Capital expenditures  (26,403)  (44,375)  (43,370) 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired  (8,683)  (15,404)  (14,609) 
Purchase of previously held equity method investment  —  (15,250)  — 
Issuance of note receivable to previously held equity method investment  —  (7,000)  — 
Issuance of notes receivable  (24,939)  (6,123)  — 
Collection of notes receivable  10,357  370  — 
Purchase of fixed income securities  (10,568)  (4,234)  (12,246) 
Maturities of fixed income securities  7,468  1,216  1,183 
Other investing activities  121  (721)  48 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  (52,647)  (91,521)  (68,994) 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Payments on long-term debt  (139,850)  (122,500)  (42,500) 
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of issuance costs  161,547  94,367  108,038 
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs  79,159  —  — 
Contribution from non-controlling interest  779  1,700  1,580 
Distributions  —  —  (4,056) 
Cash received in Business Combination  —  —  789,661 
Cash consideration to HHC at closing of Business Combination  —  —  (489,661) 
Payment of capitalized transaction costs  —  (1,651)  (30,991) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan  1,526  —  — 

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities  103,161  (28,084)  332,071 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents  865  (504)  (464) 

Change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents  185,085  (64,781)  304,894 
Beginning cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents  539,191  603,972  299,078 
Ending cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 724,276 $ 539,191 $ 603,972 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements

1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Standards

In these Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the terms "Hagerty," and "the Company" refer to Hagerty, Inc. 
and its consolidated subsidiaries, including The Hagerty Group, LLC ("The Hagerty Group"), unless the context requires 
otherwise. In addition, the Company's insurance policyholders and paid Hagerty Drivers Club ("HDC") subscribers are 
collectively referred to herein as "Members".

Description of Business — Hagerty is a market leader in providing insurance for classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. 
Through Hagerty's insurance model, the Company acts as a Managing General Agent ("MGA") by underwriting, selling 
and servicing classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies. The Company then reinsures a large portion of the risks 
written by its MGA subsidiaries through its wholly owned subsidiary, Hagerty Reinsurance Limited ("Hagerty Re"). In 
addition, Hagerty offers HDC memberships, which can be bundled with its insurance policies and give subscribers access 
to an array of products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive enthusiast events, Hagerty's 
proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside assistance, and special vehicle-related discounts. Lastly, to 
complement its insurance membership offerings, the Company offers Hagerty Marketplace ("Marketplace"), where car 
enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance collector cars. 

Basis of Presentation — The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and pursuant to the regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and include the accounts of Hagerty, Inc., which is comprised of The Hagerty Group and its 
consolidated subsidiaries. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all normal recurring adjustments and accruals that are, in the opinion of 
management, necessary for a fair statement of the Company's financial position and results of operations for periods 
presented.

Principles of Consolidation — The Consolidated Financial Statements contain the accounts of Hagerty, Inc. and its 
majority-owned or controlled subsidiaries. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, Hagerty, Inc. had economic ownership of 24.9% and 24.5%, respectively, of The 
Hagerty Group and is its sole managing member. Hagerty, Inc. reports a non-controlling interest representing the 
economic interest in The Hagerty Group held by other parties. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, The Hagerty Group owned 100% and approximately 80%, respectively, of Member 
Hubs Holding, LLC ("MHH"), which operates as Hagerty Garage + Social. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments 
Related to Divestitures for additional information related to MHH and Hagerty Garage + Social. 

The financial statements of The Hagerty Group and MHH are consolidated by the Company under the voting interest 
method guidance in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 810, Consolidations ("ASC 
810"). The non-controlling interests related to The Hagerty Group and MHH are presented separately on the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), Consolidated Balance Sheets, and 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Temporary Equity and Stockholders' Equity.

All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Variable Interest Entities — Broad Arrow Capital LLC ("BAC") and certain of its subsidiaries transfer notes receivable 
to wholly owned, bankruptcy-remote, special purpose entities (each, an "SPE") to secure borrowings under the BAC 
Credit Agreement (as defined in Note 17 — Long-Term Debt).

These SPEs are considered to be variable interest entities (each, a "VIE") under GAAP and their financial statements are 
consolidated by BAC, which is the primary beneficiary of the SPEs and a consolidated subsidiary of the Company. BAC 
is considered to be the primary beneficiary of the SPEs because it has (i) power over the significant activities of the SPEs 
through its role as servicer of the notes receivable used to secure borrowings under the BAC Credit Agreement and (ii) the 
obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns that could be significant through its interest in the residual cash 
flows of the SPEs. 

Refer to 4 — Notes Receivable and Note 17 — Long-Term Debt for additional information.
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The following table presents the assets and liabilities of the Company's consolidated variable interest entities:

December 31,
2023 2022

ASSETS in thousands
Cash and cash equivalents $ 83 $ — 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  961  — 
Accounts receivable  190  — 
Notes receivable  30,125  — 
Other assets  2,900  — 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 34,259 $ — 
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 1,881 $ — 
Long-term debt, net  25,782  — 

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 27,663 $ — 

Emerging Growth Company — The Company currently qualifies as an "emerging growth company" under the 
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 and can delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards until 
those standards would apply to private companies.

The Company intends to avail itself of this extended transition period and, therefore, the Company may not be subject to 
the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies or have 
opted out of using such extended transition period. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has not delayed the adoption 
of any new or revised accounting standards despite qualifying as an emerging growth company.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Although the estimates are considered reasonable, 
actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Significant estimates made by management include, but are not limited to: (i) the provision for unpaid losses and loss 
adjustment expenses, including incurred but not reported ("IBNR") claims (see Note 12); (ii) the valuation of the 
Company's deferred income tax assets (see Note 22); (iii) the amount of the liability associated with the Tax Receivable 
Agreement ("TRA") (see Note 22); (iv) the fair values of the reporting units used in assessing the recoverability of 
goodwill (see Note 11); (v) the valuation and useful lives of intangible assets (see Note 11); and (vi) the fair value of the 
Company's warrant liabilities (see Note 16). Although some variability is inherent in these estimates, management 
believes that the current estimates are reasonable in all material respects. These estimates are reviewed regularly and 
adjusted as necessary. Adjustments related to changes in estimates are reflected in the Company’s results of operations in 
the period during which those estimates changed. 

Segment Information — The Company has one operating segment and one reportable segment. The Company’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") is the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), who makes resource allocation decisions 
and assesses performance based on consolidated financial information. The Company’s segment presentation reflects a 
management approach that utilizes a decision making framework with its Members and customers at the center of all 
decisions, which requires the CODM to have a consolidated view of the Company's results.

Foreign Currency Translation — The Company translates its foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities into 
United States ("U.S.") dollars at current rates of exchange as of the balance sheet date, and foreign currency denominated 
income and expense items at the average exchange rate for the reporting period. Translation adjustments resulting from 
exchange rate fluctuations are recorded in "Foreign currency translation adjustments", a component of Accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss). Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recognized within "Interest and other 
income (expense)" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents includes 
amounts held in banks in operating accounts and money market funds. The Company considers money market funds with 
maturities within 90 days of the purchase date to be equivalent to cash. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s 
cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits.
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The Company's MGA subsidiaries collect premiums from insureds on behalf of insurance carriers. Prior to remittance to 
the insurance carrier, these funds are required to be held in trust and segregated from the Company's operating cash. These 
funds are recorded within "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" with a corresponding liability recorded within "Due to 
insurers" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Hagerty Re maintains a trust account for the benefit of the ceding insurer as security for their obligations for losses, loss 
expenses, unearned premium and profit-sharing commissions. The use of the funds in this trust account is restricted to the 
payment of these amounts and is reported within "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets.

Broad Arrow Capital LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries maintain bank accounts that are required for the operation of 
the BAC Credit Facility (as defined in Note 17 — Long-Term Debt). The funds in these bank accounts represent security 
under the BAC Credit Facility and their use is restricted to the servicing of the debt outstanding under that facility. The 
funds held in these bank accounts are reported within "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,326 $ 95,172 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  615,950  444,019 
Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 724,276 $ 539,191 

The table below presents information regarding the Company's non-cash investing and financing activities, as well as the 
cash paid for interest and taxes for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES: in thousands
Capital expenditures $ 282 $ 1,592 $ 4,668 
Broad Arrow acquisition $ — $ 73,253 $ — 
Other acquisitions and investments $ 2,142 $ 8,273 $ 3,774 
Warrant liabilities recognized in Business Combination $ — $ — $ 46,826 
Termination of MHH Joint Venture (Refer to Note 10) $ 2,929 $ — $ — 

CASH PAID FOR:
Interest $ 6,126 $ 4,868 $ 2,502 
Income taxes $ 10,500 $ 5,253 $ 2,160 

Deferred Acquisition Costs, net — Deferred acquisition costs are the ceding commissions paid by Hagerty Re to 
insurance carriers for the risk assumed under the quota share agreements with those carriers. Deferred acquisition costs are 
recorded net of commissions received by Hagerty Re for the risk ceded to various reinsurers. Net acquisition costs are 
deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the related policies, which is generally 12 months. 

Deferred acquisition costs are considered to be recoverable if the sum of expected future earned premiums exceeds 
expected future claims and expenses. Anticipated investment income is also a factor in the recoverability analysis. If, as a 
result of the recoverability analysis, a loss is determined to be probable, a premium deficiency reserve is recognized in the 
period in which such determination is made. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, deferred acquisition costs were considered 
fully recoverable and no premium deficiency reserve was recorded.
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Other Assets — Other assets, current and long-term, primarily consists of prepaid sales, general and administrative 
expenses, prepaid software-as-a-service ("SaaS") implementation costs, fixed income investments, and deferred 
reinsurance premiums ceded.

• Prepaid expenses are recorded at cost and amortized over the applicable service term.

• The Company expenses SaaS implementation costs incurred during the preliminary project stage and, upon 
management approval, capitalizes direct implementation costs once the development phase begins. Capitalized 
SaaS implementation costs are recorded within prepaid expenses and are amortized over the term of the 
underlying service agreement. The Company monitors SaaS implementation projects on an ongoing basis and 
capitalizes the costs of any major improvements or new functionality. Once the software is fully implemented, 
ongoing maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

• Fixed income investments consist of Canadian provincial and municipal bonds which qualify as debt securities 
under ASC Topic 320, Investments – Debt Securities. Fixed income investments are classified as held-to-maturity 
because the Company has the intent and ability to hold these investments to maturity. As a result, fixed income 
investments are carried at amortized cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortized cost is the amount at 
which an investment is acquired, adjusted for applicable accrued interest and accretion of discount or amortization 
of premium. Premium or discount is amortized on a straight-line basis to maturity. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value 
Measurements for additional information.

• Deferred reinsurance premiums ceded consists of the unearned portion of premiums ceded by Hagerty Re to 
various reinsurers. Deferred reinsurance premiums are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related 
reinsured policies as a reduction to "Earned premium" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Notes Receivable — Notes receivable includes loans underwritten by BAC secured by collector cars. Notes receivable 
are recorded on the date the loan is funded based on the amount stipulated in the underlying agreement. Loans made by 
BAC carry either a fixed or variable rate of interest and typically have an initial maturity of up to two years, often with an 
option for the borrower to renew for one year increments, provided the borrower remains in good standing. Finance 
revenue on the loans is recognized when earned based on the amount of the outstanding loan, the applicable interest rate 
on the loan, and the length of time the loan was outstanding during the period.

Notes receivable are recorded net of an allowance for expected credit losses, which is based on management's quarterly 
risk assessment and takes into consideration a number of factors including the level of historical losses for similar loans, 
the quality of collateral, the low loan-to-value ratio of the loans, management's overall assessment of the current 
circumstances and risks related to each loan, and, to a lesser extent, the circumstances related to each borrower. The 
valuation of collector cars is inherently subjective, and the realizable value of collector cars often fluctuates over time. 
Refer to Note 4 — Notes Receivable for additional information.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful life 
of each asset. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of either the lease term or the estimated useful lives 
of the improvements. Estimated useful lives range from three to seven years for computers, automobiles and office 
furniture. Building and building improvements have estimated useful lives of 39 years. Upon sale or retirement, the cost 
and related accumulated depreciation of the assets disposed are derecognized, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Annual depreciation is calculated based on the straight-line method. 
Maintenance, repair costs and minor renovations are expensed as incurred, while expenditures that increase the asset's 
estimated useful life are capitalized.

Leases — At inception, contracts are evaluated to determine whether they are or contain a lease. A contract is or contains 
a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. At commencement, leases are evaluated for classification as an operating lease or finance lease. 
Operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on 
the present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the Company's incremental borrowing rate. The 
Company estimates the incremental borrowing rate based on qualitative factors including company specific credit rating, 
lease term, impact of collateral, general economics and the interest rate environment. Operating lease liabilities represent 
the present value of lease payments not yet paid. Operating lease ROU assets are recorded based upon the operating lease 
liabilities adjusted for prepayments or accrued lease payments, initial direct costs, lease incentives, and previously 
recognized impairments. The Company does not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases. The 
Company has real estate lease agreements that contain lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a 
single lease component. 

The Company’s leases often contain fixed rent escalations over the lease term. The Company recognizes expense for these 
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company also has lease agreements that are subject to annual 
changes in the Consumer Price Index ("CPI"). While lease liabilities are not remeasured as a result of changes to the CPI, 
changes to the CPI are treated as variable lease payments and recognized in the period in which the obligation for those 
payments has incurred.
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The Company’s lease agreements may contain variable costs such as common area maintenance, operating expenses, real 
estate taxes or other costs. Variable lease costs are expensed as incurred within "General and administrative services" in 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company’s lease agreements generally do not contain any residual value 
guarantees or restrictive covenants.

The Company has the option to extend most of its lease agreements, with renewals ranging from one to 20 years. The 
Company includes renewal options in lease terms that are deemed reasonably certain of being exercised in the lease term. 
As it is not reasonably certain that the Company will exercise these renewal options, they are not included in the lease 
terms for purposes of calculating the Company's lease liability. The Company adopted ASC Topic 842, Leases ("ASC 
842") effective January 1, 2022 under the modified retrospective approach.

The Company’s primary operating leases consist of office space. The Company’s leases have remaining terms of one to 
13 years. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had not entered into any finance leases. Refer to Note 7 — 
Leases for additional information.

Intangible Assets — Intangible assets are recorded at cost and amortized over the estimated life of each intangible asset. 
Acquired intangible assets are initially recorded at fair value using generally accepted valuation methods appropriate for 
the type of intangible assets. Intangible assets primarily consist of insurance policy renewal rights, internally developed 
software, trade names, non-compete agreements and customer relationships. Amortization is recorded using the straight-
line method over their estimated lives as it approximates the pattern over which economic benefits are realized. Insurance 
policy renewal rights, internally developed software, trade names, non-complete agreements and customer relationships 
are amortized over three to 25 years. The Company expenses internally developed software costs incurred during the 
preliminary project stage and, upon management approval, capitalizes direct development costs including the associated 
payroll and related costs for employees working on development and outside contractor costs.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — The Company reviews all long-lived assets that have finite lives for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance with 
ASC Topic 360, Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ("ASC 360"). If it is determined the carrying amount of 
the asset (or asset group) is not recoverable, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as an operating expense in the 
current period in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

The determination of the recoverability of a long-lived asset (or asset group) is based on an estimate of the undiscounted 
cash flows resulting from the use of the asset (or asset group) and its eventual disposition. If the carrying value of the 
long-lived asset (or asset group) is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the 
extent that the carrying value exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques 
including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals, as necessary. 

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination, as defined in ASC Topic 805, Business 
Combinations ("ASC 805"), over the fair value of net assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill is 
not amortized, but is tested annually for impairment at the reporting unit level as of October 1 and between annual tests if 
indicators of potential impairment exist. 

For reporting units with goodwill, the Company performs a qualitative analysis to determine whether it is more likely than 
not the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. When assessing goodwill for impairment, the 
Company's decision to perform a qualitative assessment for an individual reporting unit is based on a number of factors, 
including the carrying value of the reporting unit's goodwill, the amount of time in between quantitative fair value 
assessments, macro-economic conditions, industry and market conditions and the operating performance of the reporting 
unit. If it is determined, based on qualitative factors, that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit 
is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is performed, in which the Company determines the 
estimated fair value of the reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis. This analysis requires significant 
judgment, including the estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, available industry/
market data, the estimation of the long-term rate of growth for the reporting unit including expectations and assumptions 
regarding the impact of general economic conditions on the reporting unit, the estimation of the useful life over which 
cash flows will occur (including terminal multiples), the determination of the respective weighted average cost of capital 
and market participant assumptions.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded goodwill of $114.2 million, including $103.6 million attributable to
the Marketplace reporting unit. The Company did not recognize any goodwill impairments during the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Losses Payable — Losses payable represents the amount due to insurance carriers by Hagerty Re for paid and billed 
losses as of the balance sheet date.
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Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses — The provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment 
expenses is the difference between management's estimate of the ultimate cost of losses and loss adjustment expenses 
incurred by Hagerty Re and the amount of paid losses as of the reporting date. These reserves reflects management’s best 
estimate of unpaid losses related to both reported claims and IBNR claims. 

Estimating the ultimate cost of claims and claims expenses is an inherently complex and subjective process that involves a 
high degree of judgment. Reserves are reviewed by management quarterly and periodically throughout the year by 
combining historical results and current actual results to calculate new development factors. When estimating loss and 
loss adjustment expense reserves, the Company's actuarial reserving group considers claim cycle time, claims settlement 
practices, adequacy of case reserves over time, seasonality, and current economic conditions. Because actual experience 
can differ from key assumptions used in estimating reserves, there may be significant variation in the development of 
reserves and the amount of actual losses and loss adjustment expenses ultimately paid in the future. Any adjustments to 
the provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses, and any related reinsurance recoverables, are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period in which management makes the determination that an adjustment is 
required.

The amount of any reinsurance recoverable is determined by applying the contract terms specific to Hagerty Re's various 
reinsurance treaties to incurred losses arising from a qualifying event. Reinsurance recoverables are recorded within 
"Other current assets" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Refer to Note 12 — Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses for additional information regarding the 
methodologies used to estimate loss and loss adjustment expense reserves.

Due to Insurers — Due to insurers represents the net amount of premium owed to insurance carriers by the Company's 
MGA subsidiaries based on the respective contract with each carrier. The net amount due is equal to the gross written 
premium less the Company’s commission for policies that have reached their effective date.

Advanced Premiums — Advanced premiums represent the gross written premium received by the Company's MGA 
subsidiaries from insurance Members prior to the effective date of the policy. At the effective date of the policy, 
"Advanced premiums" are reclassified to "Due to insurers" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and commission revenue is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Warrant Liabilities — The Company accounts for its outstanding warrants in accordance with ASC Topic 815, 
Derivatives and Hedging ("ASC 815"). The warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and as such, are 
recorded at fair value as a non-cash liability. The warrant liability is subject to remeasurement each reporting period with 
the change in fair value between reporting periods recorded within "Change in fair value of warrant liabilities" in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements for additional information.

Derivative Instruments — The Company enters into certain derivative financial instruments, when available on a cost-
effective basis, to mitigate its risk associated with changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. The 
Company accounts for derivatives in accordance with ASC 815, which establishes accounting and reporting standards 
requiring that all derivative instruments (including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts), whether 
designated as hedging relationships or not, be recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as either an asset or liability 
measured at fair value. If a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge for accounting purposes, the effective portion of 
the change in the fair value of the derivative is recorded in "Other comprehensive income". If a derivative is not 
designated as a hedge for accounting purposes, the change in fair value is recognized within "Interest and other income 
(expense)" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations each reporting period. All derivative instruments are managed on 
a consolidated basis to efficiently minimize exposures.

Gains and losses related to the derivative instruments are expected to be largely offset by gains and losses on the 
underlying asset or liability. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties on derivative contracts. It is 
the Company’s policy to manage its credit risk on these transactions by dealing only with financial institutions having a 
long-term credit rating of "A" or better.

Business Combinations — The Company accounts for acquisitions of entities or asset groups that qualify as a business
using the acquisition method in accordance with ASC 805. Purchase consideration is allocated to the tangible and 
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair values as of the acquisition date, which are 
measured in accordance with the principles outlined in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement ("ASC 820"). The 
determination of fair value requires management to make estimates about discount rates, future expected cash flows, 
market conditions and other future events that are highly subjective in nature. The excess of the total purchase 
consideration over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. The results of the acquired 
businesses are included in the results of operations beginning from the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred.
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During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record 
adjustments to the allocation of purchase consideration and to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed to 
the extent that additional information becomes available. After this period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Revenue Recognition — The Company recognizes revenue under both ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers ("ASC 606") and ASC Topic 944, Financial Services — Insurance ("ASC 944"). 

Commission and fee revenue

The Company's MGA subsidiaries earn commission and fee revenue primarily from the underwriting, sale, and servicing 
of classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies written on behalf of the Company's insurance carrier partners. 
Approximately 93% of commission and fee revenue is earned through the policies sold by Hagerty's U.S. MGAs. These 
policies are underwritten by a subsidiary of Markel Group, Inc. ("Markel"), which is a related party. Refer to Note 23 — 
Related-Party Transactions for additional information.

The Company has identified the insurance carrier as its customer and determined that the transaction price is the estimated 
commissions to be received over the term of the policy. The transaction price is determined based on an estimate of 
premiums placed, net of a constraint for policy changes and cancellations. These commissions and fees, including those 
paid via installment plan, are earned when the policy becomes effective, as our performance obligation is substantially 
complete when the policy is issued, all rights are passed to the insured, and the obligation to pay a claim resides with the 
carrier.

Under the terms of certain of its contracts with insurance carriers, the Company has the opportunity to earn a contingent 
underwriting commission ("CUC"), or profit share, based on written or earned premium and the loss ratio results of the 
insurance book of business. Each insurance carrier partner contract and related CUC is calculated independently. The 
CUCs represent a form of variable consideration associated with the placement of insurance coverage. Under ASC 606, 
the Company must estimate the amount of consideration that it will become entitled to receive during the calendar year 
such that a significant reversal of revenue is not probable. As such, CUCs are recognized as a contract asset within 
"Commissions receivable" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets in the period that the policy is issued using the applicable 
premium and payout factors based on the estimated loss ratio from the contract. 

Earned premium

Hagerty Re, which is registered as a Class 3A reinsurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act of 1978, earns reinsurance 
premium revenue for risks assumed primarily from the classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies underwritten 
by the Company's MGA subsidiaries. In the third quarter of 2023, AM Best assigned a financial strength rating of A- 
(Excellent) to Hagerty Re.  

Earned premium represents the earned portion of written premiums that Hagerty Re has assumed under quota share 
reinsurance agreements with the Company's insurance carrier partners, net of premiums ceded to various reinsurers and 
the cost of catastrophe reinsurance coverage. Premiums assumed and ceded are earned on a pro-rata basis over the term of 
the related insurance policies, which is generally 12 months, with the unearned portion recorded as "Unearned premiums" 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The cost of catastrophe reinsurance coverage is recognized over the contract period 
in proportion to the related earned premium.

Membership, marketplace and other revenue 

Subscription revenue is earned through HDC memberships, which can be bundled with the Company's insurance policies 
and give subscribers access to an array of products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive 
enthusiast events, the Company's proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside assistance, and special vehicle-
related discounts. The Company also earns fee-based revenue from Hagerty Garage + Social memberships, which include 
storage services in addition to the HDC Member benefits. Revenue from the sale of HDC and storage memberships is 
recognized ratably over the period of the membership. The membership is treated as a single performance obligation to 
provide access to stated member benefits over the life of the membership, which is currently one year.

Marketplace earns fee-based revenue from the sale of collector cars through live auctions, time-based online auctions, and 
brokered private sales. In addition, Marketplace earns revenue from financing provided to qualified collectors and 
businesses secured by their collector cars. Fee-based revenue earned by Marketplace is recognized when the underlying 
sale is completed. Finance revenue is recognized when earned based on the amount of the outstanding loan, the applicable 
interest rate on the loan and the length of time the loan was outstanding during the period. 

Lastly, other revenue includes sponsorship, admission, advertising, valuation and registration income. Other revenue is 
recognized when the performance obligation for the related product or service is satisfied.
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Contract Assets and Liabilities — The Company recognizes contract assets for amounts due to the Company's MGA 
subsidiaries for CUCs earned but not yet billed under terms of the contract. Contract assets are recorded within 
"Commissions receivable" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Contract liabilities are recorded primarily as deferred revenue when payments are received in advance of performance 
under a contract before the transfer of goods or services to a customer or fulfillment of the contract obligations. Contract 
liabilities consist primarily of an advanced commission payment, along with the obligation to fulfill HDC membership 
benefits over the one-year life of a membership.

Contract Costs — The Company accounts for contract costs under ASC Topic 340, Other Assets and Deferred Costs, 
("ASC 340"), which requires companies to defer certain incremental costs to obtain customer contracts and certain costs 
to fulfill customer contracts.

The Company capitalizes the incremental costs to obtain contracts, which are primarily related to commission payments 
on new policy sales. These deferred costs are amortized within "Sales expense" in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations based on the average expected life of the insurance policy and are included within "Other current assets" on 
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Advertising — Advertising and sales promotion costs are expensed the first time the advertising or sales promotion takes 
place. Advertising costs were $25.5 million, $27.8 million, and $24.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 
2022, and 2021, respectively, and are reflected as a component of "Sales expense" in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.

Income Taxes — The Hagerty Group is taxed as a pass-through ownership structure under the Internal Revenue Code 
("IRC") and a similar section of state income tax law, except for certain U.S. corporate subsidiaries and foreign 
subsidiaries. Any taxable income or loss generated by The Hagerty Group is passed through to and included in the taxable 
income or loss of all of The Hagerty Group unit holders, which includes Hagerty, Inc. Hagerty, Inc. is taxed as a 
corporation and pays corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from The Hagerty Group. 
Hagerty, Inc., Hagerty Re, Broad Arrow Group, Inc. ("Broad Arrow"), Hagerty Radwood, Inc., and various foreign 
subsidiaries are treated as taxable entities and income taxes are provided where applicable. Refer to Note 22 — Taxation 
for additional information.

Where applicable, income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying values 
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax-credit carryforwards. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change 
in tax rates is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period of the enactment date.

The Company evaluates the carrying value of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. In completing this evaluation, 
management considers all available positive and negative evidence. Such evidence includes historical operating results, 
the existence of cumulative earnings and losses in the most recent fiscal years, taxable income in prior carryback year(s) if 
permitted under the tax law, expectations for future pre-tax operating income, the time period over which temporary 
differences will reverse, and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. Estimating future taxable 
income is inherently uncertain and requires judgment. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based 
on the weight of this evidence, it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be 
realized in future periods. 

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability — In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into a TRA 
with Hagerty Holding Corp. ("HHC") and Markel (together the "Legacy Unit Holders"). The TRA provides for payment 
to the Legacy Unit Holders of 85% of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax savings realized by Hagerty, Inc. as a 
result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits as outlined in the Business Combination Agreement 
(provided as Exhibit 2.1, incorporated by reference within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual Report) upon the exchange of 
The Hagerty Group units and Class V Common Stock of the Company for Class A Common Stock of the Company or 
cash. The Hagerty Group made an election under Section 754 of the IRC with the filing of the 2019 income tax return, 
which cannot be revoked without the permission of the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") commissioner and will be in 
place for any future exchange of The Hagerty Group units. The remaining 15% cash tax savings resulting from the basis 
adjustments will be retained by Hagerty, Inc. Refer to Note 8 — Business Combination for additional information 
regarding the Business Combination.
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In general, cash tax savings result in a year when the tax liability of Hagerty, Inc. for the year, computed without regard to 
the deductions attributable to the amortization of the basis increase and other deductions that arise in connection with the 
payment of the cash consideration under the TRA or the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Class V Common 
Stock for Class A Common Stock, would be more than the tax liability for the year taking into account such deductions. 
Payments under the TRA will not be due until the Company produces taxable income and the resulting cash tax liability is 
reduced by deducting the amortization of the basis increase on a filed tax return. The payments under the TRA are 
expected to be substantial. The estimated value of the TRA is recorded in "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.

Hagerty, Inc. accounted for the effects of the basis increases as follows:

• Hagerty, Inc. recorded an increase in deferred tax assets for the income tax effects of the increases in tax basis 
based on enacted federal and state income tax rates at the date of the exchange.

• Hagerty, Inc. evaluated the ability to realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset based on an 
analysis that considered expectations of future earnings, among other things. If Hagerty, Inc. determined that the 
full benefit is not likely to be realized, a valuation allowance was established to reduce the amount of the deferred 
tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

• Hagerty, Inc. recorded 85% of the estimated realizable tax benefit as an increase to the liability due under the 
TRA, which is recorded within "Other long-term liabilities", with a decrease to "Additional paid-in capital" on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The remaining 15% of the estimated realizable tax benefit will be retained by 
Hagerty, Inc.

All of the effects of changes in any of the estimates after the date of the redemption or exchange are recorded within 
"Interest and other income (expense)" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Earnings Per Share — The Company calculates basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share ("EPS") in accordance with 
ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share ("ASC 260"). 

Basic EPS is computed under the Two-Class Method by using Net income (loss) available to Class A Common 
Stockholders divided by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period. 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated using diluted Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders 
divided by the weighted average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period, adjusted to 
give effect to potentially dilutive securities. The Company's potentially dilutive securities consist of (i) unexercised 
warrants, unvested share-based compensation awards, and shares issuable under the employee stock purchase plan, with 
the dilutive effect calculated using the Treasury Stock Method, and (ii) non-controlling interest units of The Hagerty 
Group and the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, with the dilutive effect calculated using the more dilutive of the If-
Converted Method and the Two-Class Method.

In periods in which the Company reports a net loss attributable to Class A Common Stockholders, diluted net loss per 
share attributable to Class A Common Stockholders would be equal to basic net loss per share since potentially dilutive 
Class A Common Stock is not assumed to be issued if their effect is anti-dilutive. 

Share-Based Compensation — The Company issues restricted stock units and performance restricted stock units under 
the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. The grant date fair value for restricted stock units is determined based on the closing price 
of the Company's Class A Common Stock on the business day prior to grant. The Company uses a Monte Carlo 
simulation model to estimate the fair value of performance restricted stock units when the terms of the grant are based on 
the Company's stock price. Share-based compensation expense is recognized over the applicable requisite service period 
of the award, generally using the straight-line method. Forfeitures are recorded in the period in which they occur. Refer to 
Note 21 — Share-Based Compensation for additional information.

Self-Insurance — The Company has elected to self-insure certain costs related to U.S. employee health benefit and short-
term disability programs. Costs resulting from self-insured losses are charged to expense when incurred. The Company 
has purchased insurance that limits its aggregate annual exposure for healthcare costs to approximately $16.3 million, 
$11.4 million, and $10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Total expenses for 
healthcare claims incurred for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were approximately $14.2 million, 
$13.2 million, and $10.9 million, respectively. Healthcare claims are recorded within "Salaries and benefits" on the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded approximately 
$1.4 million and $1.2 million as an estimate of IBNR claims, respectively. The amount of actual losses incurred could 
differ materially from the estimate reflected in these financial statements.
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Postretirement Benefits — The Company offers postretirement benefits. In the U.S., the Company offers a 401(k) plan 
covering substantially all U.S. employees. The plan provides for 4.0% matching contributions. Contributions to the plan 
were $6.0 million, $6.2 million, and $4.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Credit Losses — In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update 
("ASU") No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (ASC 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments, which amends previously issued guidance regarding the impairment of financial instruments by creating an 
impairment model that is based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. This standard requires financial assets 
measured on the amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The following financial 
assets held by the Company are within the scope of ASU No. 2016-13: (i) Accounts receivable, (ii) Premiums receivable, 
(iii) Commissions receivable, (iv) Notes receivable, (v) consignor advances, and (vi) certain fixed income securities. The 
amount of any required allowance for expected credit losses is determined utilizing historical loss rates, which are then 
adjusted, if necessary, for specific financial assets that are judged to have a higher-than-normal risk profile. Additional 
credit loss allowances may also be recorded after taking into account macro-economic and industry risk factors. For Notes 
receivable and consignor advances, to the extent necessary, the amount of any required allowance for credit losses takes 
into account the estimated realizable value of the collateral securing the loan or advance. The Company adopted ASU No. 
2016-13 on January 1, 2023 without a material effect on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and with no 
required cumulative-effect adjustment to "Accumulated earnings (deficit)" within the Consolidated Statements of Changes 
in Temporary Equity and Stockholders' Equity. 

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

Income Taxes — In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 - Income Taxes (ASC 740), Improvements to 
Income Tax Disclosures, which enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures through 
changes to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. ASU No. 2023-09 modifies the rules on income tax 
disclosures to require entities to disclose (i) specific categories in the rate reconciliation, (ii) the income or loss from 
continuing operations before income tax expense or benefit (separated between domestic and foreign), and (iii) income tax 
expense or benefit from continuing operations (separated by federal, state and foreign). ASU No. 2023-09 also requires 
entities to disclose their income tax payments to international, federal, state and local jurisdictions, among other changes. 
The effective date of ASU No. 2023-09 is for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is still 
assessing the impact of ASU No. 2023-09 and upon adoption may be required to include certain additional disclosure in 
the footnotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Segment Reporting — In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07 - Segment Reporting (ASC 280): 
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which enables investors to better understand an entity's overall 
performance and assess potential future cash flows through improved reportable segment disclosure requirements. The 
amendments enhance disclosures about significant segment expenses, clarify circumstances in which an entity can 
disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provide new segment disclosure requirements for entities with a 
single reportable segment, and contain other disclosure requirements. The effective date of ASU 2023-07 is for annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2023. The Company does not expect this standard to have a material impact on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures.

2 — Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue — The following tables present Hagerty's revenue by distribution channel, as well as a 
reconciliation to total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. Commission and fee revenue and 
contingent commission revenue earned from the agent distribution channel includes revenue generated through Hagerty's 
relationships with independent agents and brokers. Commission and fee revenue and contingent commission revenue 
earned from the direct distribution channel includes revenue generated by Hagerty's employee agents.
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Year Ended December 31, 2023
Agent Direct Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 158,354 $ 131,178 $ 289,532 
Contingent commission revenue  42,408  33,572  75,980 
Membership revenue  —  52,460  52,460 
Marketplace and other revenue  —  50,375  50,375 

Total revenue from customer contracts  200,762  267,585  468,347 
Earned premium  531,866 

Total revenue $ 1,000,213 

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Agent Direct Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 133,584 $ 113,864 $ 247,448 
Contingent commission revenue  32,899  26,891  59,790 
Membership revenue  —  45,234  45,234 
Marketplace and other revenue  —  32,055  32,055 

Total revenue from customer contracts  166,483  218,044  384,527 
Earned premium  403,061 

Total revenue $ 787,588 

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Agent Direct Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 115,310 $ 98,926 $ 214,236 
Contingent commission revenue  29,552  27,783  57,335 
Membership revenue  —  40,605  40,605 
Marketplace and other revenue  —  11,079  11,079 

Total revenue from customer contracts  144,862  178,393  323,255 
Earned premium  295,824 

Total revenue $ 619,079 

The following tables present Hagerty's revenue disaggregated by geographic area, as well as a reconciliation to total 
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
U.S. Canada Europe Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 264,137 $ 20,597 $ 4,798 $ 289,532 
Contingent commission revenue  75,810  —  170  75,980 
Membership revenue  48,902  3,558  —  52,460 
Marketplace and other revenue  45,769  1,594  3,012  50,375 

Total revenue from customer contracts  434,618  25,749  7,980  468,347 
Earned premium  531,866 

Total revenue $ 1,000,213 
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Year Ended December 31, 2022
U.S. Canada Europe Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 224,255 $ 19,142 $ 4,051 $ 247,448 
Contingent commission revenue  59,664  —  126  59,790 
Membership revenue  41,893  3,341  —  45,234 
Marketplace and other revenue  29,920  767  1,368  32,055 

Total revenue from customer contracts  355,732  23,250  5,545  384,527 
Earned premium  403,061 

Total revenue $ 787,588 

Year Ended December 31, 2021
U.S. Canada Europe Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 193,520 $ 16,782 $ 3,934 $ 214,236 
Contingent commission revenue  57,424  (383)  294  57,335 
Membership revenue  37,688  2,917  —  40,605 
Marketplace and other revenue  9,448  301  1,330  11,079 

Total revenue from customer contracts  298,080  19,617  5,558  323,255 
Earned premium  295,824 

Total revenue $ 619,079 

Refer to Note 13 — Reinsurance for information regarding "Earned premium" recognized under ASC 944.

Contract Assets and Liabilities — The following table is a summary of the Company's contract assets and liabilities as 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Contract assets $ 75,891 $ 60,151 
Contract liabilities $ 47,651 $ 44,426 

Contract assets, which are reported within "Commissions receivable" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, consist of CUC 
receivables, which are earned throughout the year and have historically been settled by a cash payment from the insurance 
carrier in the first quarter of the following year. In December 2023, the Company amended its alliance agreement and 
associated agency agreement with Markel and, as a result, beginning in 2024, 80% of the CUC receivables from Markel 
will be settled monthly rather than on an annual basis. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the increase in contract 
assets was primarily due to $74.9 million of CUC revenue that was recognized but not received, partially offset by $59.2 
million of CUC payments collected in the current year.

Contract liabilities consist of cash collected in advance of revenue recognition and primarily includes the unrecognized 
portion of HDC membership fees, as well as the unrecognized portion of the advanced commission payment received 
from State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm") in 2020 (refer to Note 23 — Related-Party 
Transactions for additional information). For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized approximately 
$56.5 million of net revenue that was in recorded in the contract liabilities balance as of December 31, 2022.
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3 — Deferred Acquisition Costs

The following table presents a reconciliation of the changes in deferred acquisition costs for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
in thousands

Deferred acquisition costs as of January 1, $ 107,342 $ 81,535 
Acquisition costs deferred, net  286,100  216,957 
Amortization of acquisition costs, net  (251,805)  (191,150) 

Deferred acquisition costs as of December 31, $ 141,637 $ 107,342 

4 — Notes Receivable

BAC provides financing solutions to qualified collectors and businesses by structuring loans secured by their collector 
cars. The loans underwritten by BAC include term loans and short-term bridge financings. BAC also provides advances to 
consignors who agree to sell their cars via auction or private sale through Broad Arrow subsidiaries. The loans 
underwritten by BAC are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets within "Notes receivable" while consignor 
advances are recorded within "Other current assets". 

Loans carry either a fixed or variable rate of interest and typically have an initial maturity of up to two years, often with an 
option for the borrower to renew for one year increments, provided the borrower remains in good standing. The carrying 
value of the BAC loan portfolio approximates its fair value due to the relatively short-term maturities and the market rates 
of interest associated with most loans.

In certain situations, BAC makes loans to refinance accounts receivable balances generated by Broad Arrow auction or 
private sale purchases. These loans are accounted for on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as non-cash reclassifications 
between "Accounts receivable" and "Notes receivable" and are, therefore, not presented within Investing Activities in the 
Company's Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Upon repayment, the cash received in settlement of such loans is 
classified within Operating Activities in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Beginning in December 2023, a substantial portion of the lending activities of BAC are funded with borrowings drawn 
from the BAC Credit Facility, with the remainder funded by the Company's available liquidity. Prior to December 2023, 
the lending activities of BAC were funded primarily by the Company's available liquidity. Refer to Note 17 — Long-
Term Debt for additional information regarding the BAC Credit Facility.

BAC aims to mitigate the risk associated with a potential devaluation in collateral by targeting a maximum loan-to-value 
("LTV") ratio of 65% (i.e., the principal loan amount divided by the estimated value of the collateral at the time of 
underwriting). The LTV ratio is reassessed on a quarterly basis or if the loan is renewed, and more frequently if there is a 
material change in the circumstances related to the loan, including the value of the collateral, the borrower's disposal plans 
for the collateral, or if an event of default occurs. If, as a result of this reassessment, the LTV ratio increases above the 
target level, the borrower may be asked to make principal payments and/or post sufficient additional collateral to reduce 
the LTV ratio as a condition of future financing, renewal, or to avoid a default. In the event of a default by a borrower, 
BAC is entitled to sell the collateral to recover the outstanding principal, accrued interest balance, and any expenses 
incurred with respect to the recovery process.

Management considers the valuation of the underlying collateral and the LTV ratio as the two most critical credit quality 
indicators for the loans made by BAC. In estimating the value of the underlying collateral for BAC's loans, management 
utilizes its expertise in the collector car market and considers an array of factors impacting the current and expected sale 
value of each car including the year, make, model, mileage, history, and in the case of classic cars, the provenance, quality 
of restoration (if applicable), the originality of the body, chassis, and mechanical components, and comparable market 
transaction values.

The repayment of BAC's loans can be adversely impacted by a decline in the collector car market in general or in the 
value of the collateral, which may be concentrated within certain marques, vintages, or types of cars. In addition, in 
situations when BAC’s claim on the collateral is subject to a legal process, the ability to realize proceeds from the 
collateral may be limited or delayed.

As of December 31, 2023, BAC's net notes receivable balance was $52.9 million, of which $35.9 million was classified 
within current assets and $17.0 million was classified within long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of 
December 31, 2022, BAC's net notes receivable balance was $37.4 million, of which $25.5 million was classified within 
current assets and $11.9 million was classified within long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 
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classification of a loan as current or long-term takes into account the contractual maturity date of the loan, as well as 
known renewals after the balance sheet date.

The table below provides the aggregate LTV ratio for BAC's loan portfolio as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Secured loans $ 52,914 $ 37,427 
Estimate of collateral value $ 108,496 $ 75,802 
Aggregate LTV ratio  48.8 %  49.4 %

As of December 31, 2023, two borrowers had loan balances that exceeded 10% of the total loan portfolio. These loans 
total $21.6 million, representing 41% of the total loan portfolio. The collateral related to these loans was $50.7 million, 
resulting in an aggregate LTV ratio of 43%.

Management considers a loan to be past due when an interest payment is not paid within 10 business days of the monthly 
due date, or if the principal amount is not repaid by the contractual maturity date. Typically, a loan becomes past due only 
for a short period of time during which the loan is renewed or collateral is sold to satisfy the borrower's obligations. As of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the amount of past due interest payments was immaterial and there were no past due 
principal payments.

A non-accrual loan is a loan for which future interest income is not recorded due to management’s determination that it is 
probable that future interest on the loan will not be collectible. BAC did not have any non-accrual loans as of 
December 31, 2023 or 2022. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the allowance for expected credit losses related to the BAC loan portfolio was not 
material based on management’s quarterly risk assessment, which takes into consideration a number of factors including 
the level of historical losses for similar loans, the quality of the collateral, the low LTV ratio of the loans, management's 
overall assessment of the current circumstances and risks related to each loan, and, to a lesser extent, the circumstances 
related to each borrower. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, management performed an analysis on the loan portfolio for indicators of impairment 
and determined that there were no impaired loans outstanding.

5 — Other Assets

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, other assets, current and long-term, consisted of:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Prepaid sales, general and administrative expenses $ 21,300 $ 24,234 
Prepaid SaaS implementation costs  21,941  18,501 
Fixed income investments  16,472  12,986 
Deferred reinsurance premiums ceded (1)  10,474  91 
Contract costs  8,851  6,576 
Inventory (2)  5,038  2,074 
Digital media content  2,151  5,580 
Deferred financing costs  5,053  1,387 
Other  12,518  11,304 

Other assets $ 103,798 $ 82,733 
(1) Deferred reinsurance premiums ceded consists of the unearned portion of premiums ceded by Hagerty Re to various reinsurers. Refer to Note 

13 — Reinsurance for additional information on the Company’s reinsurance programs.
(2) Inventory primarily includes vehicles owned by Broad Arrow that have been purchased for resale purposes.
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The reduction in digital media content when compared to December 31, 2022 is primarily attributable to $4.3 million of 
impairments recorded during 2023 as a result of lower than anticipated advertising and sponsorship revenue associated 
with these assets.

As of December 31, 2023, other primarily included $4.4 million of other investments, $2.8 million related to an 
outstanding reinsurance recoverable, $2.7 million of collector vehicle investments, and the $2.2 million fair value of an 
interest rate swap. As of December 31, 2022, other primarily included $4.0 million of other investments, the $3.3 million 
fair value of an interest rate swap, $2.5 million of collector vehicle investments, and $1.4 million related to an outstanding 
reinsurance recoverable.

6 — Property and Equipment

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, property and equipment consisted of:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Land and land improvements $ 930 $ 930 
Buildings  1,200  1,200 
Leasehold improvements  9,005  9,299 
Furniture and equipment  12,212  13,194 
Computer equipment and software  20,922  21,698 
Automobiles  697  791 

Total property and equipment  44,966  47,112 
Less: accumulated depreciation  (24,202)  (21,856) 

Property and equipment, net $ 20,764 $ 25,256 

Property and equipment depreciation expense was $6.2 million, $6.6 million, and $6.4 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

7 — Leases

The following table summarizes the components of the Company's operating lease expense for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Operating lease expense (1) $ 11,681 $ 10,737 
Short-term lease expense (1)  378  187 
Variable lease expense (1) (2)  4,307  3,943 
Sublease revenue (3)  (704)  (156) 

Lease cost, net $ 15,662 $ 14,711 
(1) Classified within "General and administrative services" on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(2) Amounts include payments for maintenance, taxes, insurance, and payments affected by the Consumer Price Index.
(3) Classified within "Membership, marketplace and other revenue" on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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The following tables summarize supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Operating lease ROU assets $ 50,515 $ 82,398 

Current lease liabilities (1)  6,500  7,556 
Long-term lease liabilities  50,459  80,772 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 56,959 $ 88,328 

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities (2) $ 632 $ 82,398 
Gains on sales and leaseback transactions, net $ — $ 4,314 
Weighted-average lease term 9.01 10.23
Weighted-average discount rate  4.8 %  5.5 %

(1) Current lease liabilities are recorded within "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets.

(2) Represents the amount of ROU assets obtained during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, which includes the transition adjustment 
of $72.8 million for operating lease ROU assets recorded as of January 1, 2022, upon the adoption of ASC 842.

The total decrease in operating lease ROU assets and liabilities when compared to December 31, 2022 was primarily 
attributable to the termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH, which resulted in the divestiture of certain 
Hagerty Garage + Social locations and the termination of the lease for the Hagerty Garage + Social location in Culver 
City, California. The termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH resulted in decreases of $14.8 million in 
operating lease ROU assets and $15.2 million in operating lease liabilities in the third quarter of 2023. The termination of 
the Culver City, California lease resulted in decreases of $9.3 million in operating lease ROU assets and $10.1 million in 
operating lease liabilities in the third quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures 
for additional information regarding the Company's termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH.

The following table summarizes information about the amount and timing of the Company's future operating lease 
commitments as of December 31, 2023:

in thousands
2024 $ 9,067 
2025  8,737 
2026  8,156 
2027  7,921 
2028  7,946 
Thereafter  29,286 

Total lease payments  71,113 
Less: imputed interest  (14,154) 

Total lease liabilities $ 56,959 
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8 — Business Combination

On December 2, 2021, through The Hagerty Group, the Company completed a business combination pursuant to the 
Business Combination Agreement, with Aldel Financial Inc. ("Aldel") and Aldel Merger Sub LLC ("Merger Sub"), a 
Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of Aldel (the "Business Combination"), with The 
Hagerty Group surviving as a subsidiary of the Company immediately following the Business Combination. In connection 
with the closing, (i) Aldel changed its name from Aldel Financial Inc. to Hagerty, Inc., and (ii) the Company reorganized 
into what is commonly known as an "Up-C" structure in which substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Hagerty, 
Inc. are held by The Hagerty Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement: (1) Merger Sub was merged with and into The Hagerty 
Group, whereupon the separate limited liability company existence of Merger Sub ceased to exist and The Hagerty Group 
became the surviving company and continues to exist under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act and (2) the 
existing limited liability company agreement of The Hagerty Group was amended and restated to, among other things, 
make Aldel a member of The Hagerty Group.

As outlined within the Business Combination Agreement, certain accredited investors or qualified institutional buyers (the 
"PIPE Investors") entered into the Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which the PIPE Investors agreed to purchase 
70,385,000 shares (the "PIPE Shares") of Class A Common Stock and 12,669,300 warrants to purchase shares of Class A 
Common Stock (the "PIPE Warrants" and, together with the PIPE Shares, the "PIPE Securities") for an aggregate 
purchase price of $703.9 million. The sale of the PIPE Securities was consummated concurrently with the closing of the 
Business Combination.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination:

• all of the existing limited liability company interests of The Hagerty Group held by HHC were converted into (1) 
$489.7 million in cash, (2) 176,033,906 units of The Hagerty Group, and (3) 176,033,906 shares of Class V 
Common Stock;

• all of the existing limited liability company interests of The Hagerty Group held by Markel were converted into 
(1) 75,000,000 units of The Hagerty Group, and (2) 75,000,000 shares of Class V Common Stock;

• 3,005,034 shares of Aldel's 11,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock subject to redemption were redeemed, 
resulting in 8,494,966 shares of Class A Common Stock remaining outstanding;

• all of the 2,875,000 outstanding shares of Aldel's Class B Common Stock were converted into shares of Class A 
Common Stock on a one-for-one basis; and

• 572,500 outstanding shares of Aldel Class A Common Stock became Hagerty Class A Common Stock.

Immediately after giving effect to the Business Combination, there were 82,327,466 shares of Hagerty Class A Common 
Stock outstanding, 251,033,906 shares of Hagerty Class V Common Stock outstanding and 20,005,550 warrants 
outstanding which can be converted on a one-for-one basis to Class A Common Stock. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value 
Measurements for additional information on the Company's warrants. 

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company incurred direct and incremental costs of approximately 
$41.9 million, consisting of primarily investment banking, insurance, and professional fees, of which $32.6 million were 
recorded as a reduction of "Additional-paid-in-capital" within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into the TRA with the Legacy Unit Holders. The 
TRA provides for payment to the Legacy Unit Holders of 85% of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax savings 
realized by Hagerty, Inc. as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits related to the transactions 
contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement upon the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Class V 
Common Stock for Class A Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units or cash. Refer to Note 22 — Taxation for 
additional information related to the TRA.
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The following table is a summary of the cash inflows and outflows related to the Business Combination:

Business 
Combination
in thousands

Cash in trust, net of redemptions $ 85,811 
Cash, PIPE  703,850 
Less: transaction costs and advisory fees  (41,859) 
Less: cash consideration to HHC at Closing  (489,661) 

Net cash received from Business Combination $ 258,141 

9 — Acquisitions and Investments

Broad Arrow Acquisition

In January 2022, the Company entered into a joint venture with Broad Arrow, pursuant to which it invested $15.3 million 
in cash in exchange for equity ownership of approximately 40% of Broad Arrow. Following its entry into the joint 
venture, the Company used the equity method of accounting for its investment in Broad Arrow with its share of income 
(loss) recorded within "Loss from equity method investment, net of tax" on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In August 2022, the Company acquired the remaining 60% of Broad Arrow from the former Broad Arrow shareholders in 
exchange for equity consideration consisting of shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock and The Hagerty Group 
units. The number of Class A Common Stock shares and The Hagerty Group units issued was calculated using a 20-day 
volume weighted average stock price of the Class A Common Stock prior to the closing date on August 16, 2022. The fair 
value of the purchase consideration of $73.3 million was calculated based on the Class A Common Stock price of $13.47 
as of the closing date. As a result of the Broad Arrow Acquisition, the Company and Broad Arrow are further leveraging 
their respective product offerings and continue to build Marketplace.

Fair Value of Consideration Transferred

The following table summarizes the fair value of Broad Arrow as of the date of the acquisition:

in thousands
Total equity consideration $ 73,253 
Fair value of previously held equity interest in Broad Arrow (1)  48,309 

Total consideration and value to be allocated to net assets $ 121,562 
(1) The Broad Arrow Acquisition was accounted for as a step acquisition. Accordingly, the Company remeasured its existing 40% equity interest 

in Broad Arrow immediately prior to the completion of the acquisition to its estimated fair value of $48.3 million. This fair value was derived 
from the Hagerty, Inc. stock price of $13.47 as of the closing date and thus represents a Level 1 fair value measurement. As a result of the 
remeasurement, the Company recorded a net gain of $34.7 million in the third quarter of 2022, representing the excess of the $48.3 million 
estimated fair value of its existing 40% equity interest over its closing date carrying value of $13.6 million.

93



Allocation of Consideration Transferred

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase consideration to the fair values of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the Broad Arrow Acquisition:

in thousands
Notes receivable (1) $ 21,594 
Intangible assets, net (2)  3,100 
Other assets (3)  11,756 
Other liabilities (4)  (13,449) 

Total identifiable net assets acquired  23,001 
Goodwill  98,561 

Total purchase consideration allocated to net assets acquired $ 121,562 
(1) Broad Arrow makes loans secured by collector cars. The fair value of the acquired loans approximated their carrying value due to the relatively 

short-term maturities and market rates of interest associated with most of the loans. Refer to Note 4 — Notes Receivable for additional 
information.

(2) The fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired is a Level 3 fair value measurement, estimated using significant assumptions that are 
not observable in the market through the use of a discounted cash flow model. Inputs utilized in this model include the discount rate and 
terminal growth rate, as well as the return on assets. Identifiable intangible assets acquired consisted of trade names of $3.1 million with a 5-year 
estimated useful life.

(3) Other assets includes $2.8 million of cash acquired, $2.6 million of Accounts receivable and $6.2 million of Other current assets.
(4) Other liabilities includes a $7.0 million Note payable, $5.3 million of Contract liabilities and $0.7 million of Accounts payable.

The excess of the purchase consideration over the aggregate estimated fair values of identifiable assets acquired, net of 
liabilities assumed, was recorded as goodwill. The goodwill recognized is primarily a result of the expected enhancement 
of Marketplace through Broad Arrow's various service offerings, including the buying, selling and financing of collector 
cars through live auctions and facilitating private sales, as well as the assembled workforce and various other factors. 

The acquisition of Broad Arrow was not material to the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. Therefore, pro 
forma results of operations related to this acquisition have not been presented. Following the Broad Arrow Acquisition, 
the financial statements of Broad Arrow are consolidated into the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Speed Digital Acquisition

In April 2022, Hagerty acquired Speed Digital LLC ("Speed Digital") for a purchase price of $15.0 million. The Company 
paid $7.5 million at closing with an additional two annual installments of $3.75 million to be paid in 2023 and 2024. The 
first annual installment was paid during the year ended December 31, 2023 and the second annual installment will be paid 
in the first quarter of 2024. Speed Digital was previously wholly owned indirectly by Robert Kauffman, a member of the 
Company's Board of Directors (the "Board"), who will receive 100% of the proceeds of the purchase price. Speed Digital 
operates a SaaS business primarily serving collector car dealers and auction houses, and an advertising and content 
syndication platform, which includes Motorious.com. The Company acquired Speed Digital to enhance the Marketplace 
business to establish relationships with their dealer partners and facilitate growth in Marketplace products; augment the 
Company's automotive intelligence data; and allow Motorious.com to drive audience engagement, content distribution, 
and advertising revenue.

10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures

In 2023, management conducted a review of certain components of the Company's operations which resulted in the sale or 
reorganization of certain businesses, including Hagerty Garage + Social and DriveShare, as discussed below. This 
initiative supported the Company's strategy to prioritize investments and resources in the areas of its business that offer 
the strongest growth and profit potential.

Hagerty Garage + Social

On September 29, 2023, Hagerty Ventures LLC ("HV"), a wholly owned subsidiary of The Hagerty Group, entered into 
an agreement with HGS Hub Holdings LLC ("H3") to terminate the joint venture agreement governing MHH, which 
operates as Hagerty Garage + Social. In connection with this agreement, H3's approximately 20% equity interest in MHH 
was redeemed and MHH's equity interests in the Palm Beach, Florida and Redmond, Washington locations of Hagerty 
Garage + Social were distributed to H3. Following the termination of the joint venture agreement, HV now owns 100% of 
MHH and its remaining Hagerty Garage + Social locations in Delray Beach, Florida; Miami, Florida; Van Nuys, 
California; and Burlington, Ontario. 

94



As a result of the joint venture termination, the Company recognized a loss of $2.9 million in the third quarter of 2023, 
representing the difference between the fair value of the approximately 20% equity interest in MHH received by HV and 
the carrying value of the equity interests distributed to H3. The fair value of the approximately 20% equity interest 
received by MHH is a Level 3 fair value measurement and was determined using a combination of the discounted cash 
flow model and the adjusted book value method. This loss is recorded within "Losses and impairments related to 
divestitures" on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Immediately prior to the joint venture termination, MHH entered into an agreement to terminate the real estate lease held 
by the Culver City, California location of Hagerty Garage + Social. In connection with this lease termination agreement, 
MHH paid a termination fee funded by the Company and H3 in exchange for the extinguishment of its remaining 
obligations under the lease. As a result of this lease termination, the Company recognized a loss of $0.6 million in the 
third quarter of 2023, consisting of the lease termination fee paid to the landlord, partially offset by the net effect of the 
derecognition of the assets and liabilities related to the lease. This loss is reported within "Losses and impairments related 
to divestitures" on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. Following this lease termination, MHH no 
longer operates a Hagerty Garage + Social location in Culver City, California.

Hagerty DriveShare

In the third quarter of 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into an agreement to sell Hagerty DriveShare, LLC 
("DriveShare"), a peer-to-peer rental platform for collector vehicles, to a third party. The sale was completed on October 
9, 2023 and the Company recognized a $0.4 million loss related to this sale. This loss is recorded within "Losses and 
impairments related to divestitures" on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

11 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The following is a reconciliation of the changes in the Company's goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022:

2023 2022
in thousands

Goodwill as of January 1, $ 115,041 $ 11,488 
Acquisitions  —  103,605 
Divestitures  (846)  — 
Effect of foreign currency translation  19  (52) 

Goodwill as of December 31, $ 114,214 $ 115,041 

The acquisition of Speed Digital in April 2022 and Broad Arrow in August 2022 together resulted in the recognition of 
$103.6 million of goodwill in the Marketplace reporting unit during the year ended December 31, 2022. Refer to Note 9 
— Acquisitions and Investments for additional information.

The termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH and the divestiture of DriveShare together resulted in the 
derecognition of $0.8 million of goodwill in the third quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments 
Related to Divestitures for additional information.
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Intangible Assets

The cost and accumulated amortization of intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Weighted 
Average Useful 

Life
December 31,

2023 2022
in thousands

Renewal rights 10.0 $ 20,226 $ 17,282 
Internally developed software 3.4 126,972 109,764 
Trade names and trademarks 14.0 12,541 12,541 
Relationships and customer lists 15.7 8,876 13,890 
Other 4.4 1,445 1,434 

Intangible assets 170,060 154,911 
Less: accumulated amortization (78,136) (50,887) 

Intangible assets, net $ 91,924 $ 104,024 

The termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH resulted in the derecognition of $5.0 million of 
relationships and customer lists in the third quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to 
Divestitures for information related to the termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH, which resulted in 
the divestiture of certain Hagerty Garage + Social locations.

Intangible asset amortization expense was $28.6 million, $21.8 million, and $12.8 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Estimated future aggregate amortization expense related to intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 is as follows:

in thousands
2024 $ 27,879 
2025 20,544 
2026 13,341 
2027 9,314 
2028 7,499 
Thereafter 13,347 

Total $ 91,924 
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13 — Reinsurance

The following table presents Hagerty Re's total premiums assumed and ceded on a written and earned basis for the years 
ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Premiums:

Assumed $ 636,366 $ 474,294 $ 353,925 
Ceded  (33,070)  (10,749)  (7,920) 

Net $ 603,296 $ 463,545 $ 346,005 

Premiums earned:
Assumed $ 554,553 $ 414,030 $ 303,434 
Ceded  (22,687)  (10,969)  (7,610) 

Net $ 531,866 $ 403,061 $ 295,824 

The following table presents gross, ceded, and net losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Gross losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 222,895 $ 187,754 $ 122,080 
Ceded losses and loss adjustment expenses  (2,237)  (5,352)  — 

Net losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 220,658 $ 182,402 $ 122,080 

Ceded Reinsurance

Hagerty Re purchases catastrophe reinsurance to protect its capital from large catastrophic events and to provide earnings 
protection and stability. Hagerty Re renegotiated its catastrophe reinsurance coverage effective January 1, 2024, with 
terms and limits similar to 2023. The 2024 catastrophe reinsurance program for accounts with total insured values ("TIV") 
of up to $5.0 million affords coverage in excess of a per event retention of $28.0 million in two layers; $22.0 million 
excess of $28.0 million, and $55.0 million excess of $50.0 million for a total of $105.0 million.

Beginning in 2023, Hagerty Re entered into quota share agreements with various reinsurers to cede 70% of its physical 
damage exposure on U.S. accounts written or renewed with TIV equal to or greater than $5.0 million ("High-Net-Worth 
Accounts"). These High-Net-Worth Accounts are assumed 100% from Evanston Insurance Company ("Evanston"). 
Commencing January 1, 2024, Hagerty Re will cede to various reinsurers 100% of its High-Net-Worth Accounts physical 
damage exposure. Some of the reinsurers involved in this quota share are related parties. Refer to Note 23 — Related-
Party Transactions for additional information. 
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Hagerty Re receives ceding commissions related to premiums ceded under reinsurance contracts related to High-Net-
Worth Accounts. Ceding commissions are recognized ratably over the terms of the related policies, which are generally 12 
months, and are recorded within "Ceding commission, net" in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
Deferred portions of ceding commissions received are included in "Deferred acquisition costs, net" on the Company's 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following table presents the reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses as of 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 548 $ 605 
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses  2,235  843 

Total reinsurance recoverable $ 2,783 $ 1,448 

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve Hagerty Re from its primary liability to the ceding carriers according to the terms of 
its reinsurance treaties. Failure of reinsurers to honor their obligations could result in additional losses to Hagerty Re. 
Hagerty Re evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentration of credit risk arising from its 
exposure to individual reinsurers. All of Hagerty Re's reinsurers have an A.M. Best rating of A- (Excellent) or better, or 
fully collateralize their maximum obligation under the treaty.

14 — Statutory Capital and Surplus

Dividend Restrictions — Under Bermuda law, Hagerty Re is prohibited from declaring or issuing a dividend if it fails to 
meet its minimum solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio. Prior approval from the Bermuda Monetary Authority 
("BMA") is also required if Hagerty Re's proposed dividend payments would exceed 25% of its prior year-end total 
statutory capital and surplus. The amount of dividends which could be paid in 2024 without prior approval is 
$54.7 million.

Capital Restrictions — In Bermuda, Hagerty Re is subject to the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement ("BSCR") 
administered by the BMA. No regulatory action is taken by the BMA if an insurer’s capital and surplus is equal to or in 
excess of its enhanced capital requirement, as determined by the BSCR model. In addition, the BMA has established a 
target capital level for each insurer, which is 120% of the enhanced capital requirement. Hagerty Re maintained sufficient 
statutory capital and surplus to comply with regulatory requirements as of December 31, 2023.

Statutory Financial Information — Hagerty Re prepares its statutory financial statements in conformity with the 
accounting principles set forth in the Bermuda Insurance Act 1978, amendments thereto and related regulations. As of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the general business statutory capital and surplus of Hagerty Re was $218.9 million and 
$131.7 million, respectively. Statutory capital and surplus as of December 31, 2023 included $25.0 million of "Other 
Fixed Capital" represented by the State Farm Term Loan to Hagerty Re. The general business statutory net income of 
Hagerty Re was $62.3 million, $24.4 million, and $25.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 
respectively.

15 — Restructuring, Impairment and Related Charges

In 2022, management approved an initiative to increase operational efficiencies and flexibility by transitioning to a 
"remote first" work model for employees. This initiative primarily included the rationalization of the Company's office 
space throughout the U.S., Canada, and the United Kingdom ("U.K.") Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2022, the 
Board approved a voluntary retirement program ("VRP") and a reduction in force (the "2022 RIF"). As a result of these 
actions (collectively, the "2022 Restructuring Actions"), the Company recognized $18.3 million within "Restructuring, 
impairment and related charges, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
These charges consisted of $8.0 million of severance-related costs associated with the 2022 RIF and $4.2 million of 
severance-related costs associated with the VRP, as well as an impairment charge of $4.7 million related to operating 
lease ROU assets and a $1.5 million loss on the disposal of leasehold improvements associated with the impaired leases.

In 2023, the Board approved a further reduction in force (the "2023 RIF") following a strategic review of business 
processes as the Company focuses on driving efficiencies in order to achieve growth and profitability goals. As a result of 
these actions (collectively, the "2023 Restructuring Actions"), the Company recognized $8.8 million within 
"Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. These charges 
consisted of $5.4 million of severance-related costs associated with the 2023 RIF and a $0.4 million impairment charge to 
write-down the value of certain digital media content assets. In addition, the Company recognized $3.1 million of charges 
associated with operating lease ROU assets and leasehold improvements for office space that was vacated and listed for 
sublease in the period as a result of the Company's continuing transition to a "remote first" work model. 
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The following is a reconciliation of the liability related to the 2022 Restructuring Actions and the 2023 Restructuring 
Actions, which is recorded within "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities" on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.

in thousands
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 9,470 

Costs incurred and charged to expense  8,812 
Costs paid or otherwise settled (1)  (18,282) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ — 
(1) Includes cash payments made for severance, as well as $3.1 million of impairment and related charges associated with operating lease ROU 

assets and associated leasehold improvements, a $0.4 million non-cash impairment related to certain digital media content assets and the non-
cash share-based compensation effects related to the 2023 RIF. 

16 — Fair Value Measurements

The Company's recurring significant fair value measurements primarily relate to interest rate swaps, warrant liabilities, 
and fixed income investments. The Company uses valuation techniques based on inputs such as observable data, 
independent market data, and/or unobservable data. Additionally, the Company makes assumptions in valuing its assets 
and liabilities, including assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation techniques.

The Company classifies fair value measurements within one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy. The level assigned 
to a fair value measurement is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgment. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are 
as follows:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the 
measurement date. Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

• Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable 
for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that management believes are predicated on the assumptions market participants 
would use to measure the asset or liability at fair value.

The Company's policy is to recognize significant transfers between levels, if any, at the end of the reporting period.

Recurring fair value measurements

Interest rate swaps

Interest rate swap agreements are used to fix the interest rate on a portion of the Company's existing variable rate debt to 
reduce the exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The notional amounts of the interest rate swap agreements are used to 
measure interest to be paid or received and do not represent the amount of exposure to credit loss. The differential paid or 
received on the interest rate swap agreements is recognized as an adjustment to interest expense within "Interest and other 
income (expense)" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had one outstanding interest rate swap, which was entered into in December 
2020, with an original notional amount of $35.0 million and maturity in December 2025. In September 2022, the interest 
rate swap was amended to replace LIBOR with Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") and, as a result, the 
fixed swap rate is now 0.81%. The estimated fair value of the interest rate swap is included within either "Other long-term 
assets" or "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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The Company designated its outstanding interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge and formally documented the relationship 
between the interest rate swap and the variable rate borrowings, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking the hedge transaction. The Company also assessed, at the hedge's inception and will continue to assess on an 
ongoing basis, whether the interest rate swap was highly effective in offsetting variability in the cash flows of the variable 
rate borrowings. The hedge is deemed effective, and therefore, the change in fair value is recorded within "Derivative 
instruments" in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). In the event the cash flow hedge is no 
longer deemed effective, such amounts would be reclassified into interest expense, net from "Other comprehensive 
income". There were no such reclassifications during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. The Company 
does not expect to have a reclassification into earnings within the next 12 months. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the interest swap was in an asset position and had a fair value of $2.2 million and 
$3.3 million, respectively.

Interest rate swaps are determined to be Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The significant inputs used to determine 
the fair value of interest rate swaps, such as the SOFR forward curve, are considered observable market inputs. The 
Company monitors the credit and nonperformance risk associated with its counterparty and believes them to be 
insignificant.

Warrant liabilities

The following table summarizes the Company's outstanding warrants as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Public warrants (1)  5,750  5,750 
Private placement warrants (2)  258  258 
Underwriter warrants (2)  29  29 
OTM warrants (3)  1,300  1,300 
PIPE warrants (2)  12,147  12,147 

Total  19,484  19,484 
(1) The Public warrants may be exercised on a cash basis only and expire in December 2026.
(2) The Private Placement, Underwriter and PIPE warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis and expire in December 2026.
(3) The OTM warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis and expire in December 2031.

The Company's Public Warrants are Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy as they are measured utilizing quoted market 
prices. The Company's Private Placement Warrants, Underwriter Warrants, OTM Warrants, and PIPE Warrants are Level 
3 within the fair value hierarchy. The Company utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation model to measure the fair value of these 
warrants. The Company’s Monte Carlo simulation model includes assumptions related to the expected stock price 
volatility, expected term, dividend yield, and risk-free interest rate.

The following table summarizes the significant inputs used in the valuation model for the private warrants as of 
December 31, 2023:

Inputs

Private 
Placement 
Warrants

Underwriter 
Warrants OTM Warrants PIPE Warrants

Exercise price $11.50 $11.50 $15.00 $11.50
Common stock price $7.80 $7.80 $7.80 $7.80
Volatility 48.6% 48.6% 46.0% 48.6%
Expected term of the warrants 2.92 2.92 7.93 2.92
Risk-free rate 4.00% 4.00% 3.90% 4.00%
Dividend yield —% —% —% —%

The Company estimates the volatility of its common stock based on factors including, but not limited to, implied volatility 
of the Public Warrants, the historical performance of comparable companies, and management's understanding of the 
volatility associated with similar instruments of other entities. 
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The risk-free rate is based on the yield of the U.S. Treasury Constant Maturity for a term that approximates the expected 
remaining life of the warrants, which is assumed to be the remaining contractual term. 

The dividend rate is based on the Company’s historical rate, which is expected to remain at zero.

The fair value of the Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
are shown in the tables below:

Estimated Fair Value as of December 31, 2023
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

in thousands
Financial Assets
Interest rate swaps $ 2,234 $ — $ 2,234 $ — 

Total $ 2,234 $ — $ 2,234 $ — 

Financial Liabilities
Public warrants $ 9,488 $ 9,488 $ — $ — 
Private placement warrants  476  —  —  476 
Underwriter warrants  53  —  —  53 
OTM warrants  3,981  —  —  3,981 
PIPE warrants  20,020  —  —  20,020 

Total $ 34,018 $ 9,488 $ — $ 24,530 

Estimated Fair Value as of December 31, 2022
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

in thousands
Financial Assets
Interest rate swaps $ 3,294 $ — $ 3,294 $ — 

Total $ 3,294 $ — $ 3,294 $ — 

Financial Liabilities
Public warrants $ 12,880 $ 12,880 $ — $ — 
Private placement warrants  673  —  —  673 
Underwriter warrants  75  —  —  75 
OTM warrants  4,706  —  —  4,706 
PIPE warrants  27,227  —  —  27,227 

Total $ 45,561 $ 12,880 $ — $ 32,681 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the Company's warrant liabilities that are classified as Level 3 within the 
fair value hierarchy for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Private 
Placement 
Warrants

Underwriter 
Warrants

OTM 
Warrants

PIPE 
Warrants Total

in thousands
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 1,248 $ 139 $ 6,849 $ 55,887 $ 64,123 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (575)  (64)  (2,143)  (26,754)  (29,536) 
Exercise of warrants  —  —  —  (1,906)  (1,906) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 673 $ 75 $ 4,706 $ 27,227 $ 32,681 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (197)  (22)  (725)  (7,207)  (8,151) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 476 $ 53 $ 3,981 $ 20,020 $ 24,530 
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, 522,000 PIPE warrants were exercised, on a cashless basis, for an equivalent 
of 124,748 shares of Class A Common Stock. The cashless exercise resulted in a decrease in "Warrant liabilities" and an 
increase in "Class A Common Stock" and "Additional paid-in capital" of $1.9 million on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
No warrants were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Fixed Income Investments

The Company has fixed income investments that consist of Canadian Sovereign, Provincial and Municipal fixed income 
securities held in a trust account to meet the requirements of a third-party insurer in connection with Hagerty Re's 
reinsurance agreement. These fixed income investments are classified as held-to-maturity because the Company has the 
intent and ability to hold these investments to maturity. The Company has determined that its fixed income investments 
are Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy, as these investments are valued using observable inputs such as quoted prices 
for similar assets at the measurement date. The critical credit quality indicator for the fixed income investments is the 
credit ratings of the issuer. Management considers all of the fixed income investments currently held by Hagerty Re to be 
investment grade.

The following table discloses the fair value and related carrying amount of fixed income investments held within Hagerty 
Re as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Carrying 
Amount

Estimated 
Fair Value

Carrying 
Amount

Estimated 
Fair Value

in thousands
Short-term $ 10,946 $ 10,864 $ 6,296 $ 6,205 
Long-term  5,526  5,398  6,690  6,316 

Total $ 16,472 $ 16,262 $ 12,986 $ 12,521 

Each reporting period management reviews the credit rating of each security to ensure it is considered investment grade. 
Based on the factors outlined above, as of December 31, 2023, the Company does not expect any credit losses related to 
the fixed income investments and therefore there is no allowance for credit losses recorded. The Company did not record 
any gains or losses on these securities during the years ended December 31, 2023 or 2022.

17 — Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, "Long-term debt, net" consisted of the following:

December 31,
Maturity 2023 2022

in thousands
JPM Credit Facility October 2026 $ 77,258 $ 105,000 
BAC Credit Facility December 2026  25,782  — 
State Farm Term Loan September 2033  25,000  — 
Notes payable 2024-2025  6,875  3,280 

Total debt  134,915  108,280 
Less: Notes payable, current portion  (3,654)  — 
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs  (581)  — 

Total long-term debt, net $ 130,680 $ 108,280 

JPM Credit Facility

The Hagerty Group has a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("JPM"), as administrative agent, and the 
other financial institutions party thereto from time to time as lenders, as amended (the "JPM Credit Agreement"). The 
JPM Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility (the "JPM Credit Facility") with an aggregate borrowing 
capacity of $230.0 million. The JPM Credit Agreement also provides for an uncommitted incremental facility under which 
the Company may request one or more increases in the amount of the commitments available under the JPM Credit 
Facility in an aggregate amount not to exceed $50.0 million. Additionally, the JPM Credit Agreement provides for the 
issuance of letters of credit of up to $25.0 million and borrowings in the British Pound and Euro of up to $25.0 million in 
the aggregate. The JPM Credit Agreement matures in October 2026, but may be extended if agreed to by the Company 
and the lenders party thereto. Any unpaid balance on the JPM Credit Facility is due at maturity. 
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In the fourth quarter of 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into a Tenth Amendment to the JPM Credit Agreement, which 
provides additional operational flexibility to The Hagerty Group and its subsidiaries, and includes, among other things, (i) 
additional baskets for investments, incurrence of indebtedness and liens; (ii) changes to financial covenants; and (iii) the 
ability to raise additional indebtedness in the form of either incremental debt on a pari-passu basis or on an asset-backed 
securitization basis. 

The JPM Credit Facility accrues interest at the applicable reference rate (primarily SOFR) depending on the currency of 
the borrowing plus an applicable margin determined by the Company's net leverage ratio for the preceding period (as 
defined in the Credit Agreement). The effective interest rate related to the JPM Credit Facility was 7.28% and 6.57% for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

JPM Credit Facility borrowings are collateralized by assets and equity interests in The Hagerty Group and its consolidated 
subsidiaries, except for (a) the assets held by the special purpose entities related to the BAC Credit Facility and (b) all or a 
portion of foreign and certain excluded or immaterial subsidiaries.

Under the JPM Credit Agreement, The Hagerty Group is required, among other things, to meet certain financial covenants 
(as defined in the JPM Credit Agreement), including a fixed charge coverage ratio and a leverage ratio. As of 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the JPM 
Credit Agreement.

BAC Credit Facility

On December 21, 2023, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and its wholly owned subsidiary BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC, as 
borrower, entered into the BAC Credit Agreement. The BAC Credit Agreement provides for the BAC Credit Facility, 
which has an aggregate borrowing capacity of $75.0 million and is subject to a borrowing base that is determined by a 
calculation that is primarily based upon a percentage of the carrying value of certain BAC notes receivable. As of 
December 31, 2023, the borrowing base for the BAC Credit Agreement was $25.8 million. 

The revolving borrowing period provided by the BAC Credit Agreement expires on December 21, 2025 and the BAC 
Credit Agreement matures on December 21, 2026. The revolving borrowing period and the maturity date of the BAC 
Credit Agreement may be extended by one year if requested by Broad Arrow Capital LLC and agreed to by the 
administrative agent. Broad Arrow Capital LLC is not a borrower or guarantor of the BAC Credit Facility. 

In conjunction with the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries transfer certain 
notes receivable originated by Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries to wholly owned, bankruptcy 
remote special purpose entities (each, an "SPE") to secure the borrowings under the BAC Credit Agreement. These SPEs 
have the limited purpose of acquiring notes receivable or a certificate representing beneficial ownership interest therein 
from Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries. Assets transferred to each SPE are legally isolated from the 
Company and its subsidiaries. Further, the assets of each SPE are owned by such SPE and are not available to satisfy the 
debts or other obligations of the Company or any of its other subsidiaries. Broad Arrow Capital LLC continues to service 
the notes receivable transferred to the SPEs. 

Recourse to the Company and its subsidiaries that originated and transferred notes receivable that represent collateral 
under the BAC Credit Facility is limited to (i) an obligation of the applicable seller to repurchase a note receivable if it is 
determined that there was a breach of any representation or warranty relating to such note receivable as of the relevant 
date specified in the related transfer agreement and (ii) a limited guarantee covering certain liabilities that may result 
under certain foreign exchange hedging activity of one of the SPEs.

Under the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC are required, among other 
things, to meet certain financial covenants, including the requirement of Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as the servicer, to 
maintain a minimum tangible net worth, minimum liquidity balances, and an indebtedness to tangible net worth ratio. As 
of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the BAC Credit Agreement.

State Farm Term Loan

On September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into an unsecured term loan credit facility with State Farm in the aggregate 
principal amount of $25.0 million (the "State Farm Term Loan"). The State Farm Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 
8.0% per annum and will mature on September 19, 2033. State Farm is a related party to the Company. Refer to Note 23 
— Related-Party Transactions for additional information.
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Notes Payable

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had outstanding notes payable, which are used to fund 
certain loans made by BAC in the U.K., totaling $6.9 million and $3.3 million, respectively. The effective interest rates 
for these notes payable range from 7.0% to 9.8% with repayment due between October 2024 and August 2025. Refer to 
Note 4 — Notes Receivable for additional information on the lending activities of BAC.

Letters of Credit

The Company authorized three letters of credit for a total of $11.1 million for operational purposes related to Section 
953(d) tax structuring election and lease down payment support. 

18 — Convertible Preferred Stock

On June 23, 2023, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with certain 
accredited investors (the "Investors"), pursuant to which it closed, issued and sold (the "Closing") to the Investors an 
aggregate of 8,483,561 shares of the Company’s newly-designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value 
$0.0001 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $80.0 million, at a per-share purchase price of $9.43 (the "Series A 
Purchase Price" and the transaction, the "Private Placement").  

The Investors include State Farm, Markel, and persons related to HHC. State Farm and Markel are both significant 
stockholders of the Company, each holding in excess of 5% of the outstanding common stock. McKeel Hagerty is the 
Company’s CEO and a member of the Company’s Board. Mr. Hagerty and Tammy Hagerty may be deemed to control 
HHC, which is the controlling stockholder of the Company. Prior to and continuing after the Private Placement, each of 
State Farm and Markel have the right to nominate one director to the Company’s Board and HHC has the right to 
nominate two directors to the Company’s Board. Refer to Note 19 — Stockholders' Equity and Note 23 — Related-Party 
Transactions for additional information.

The net proceeds from the Private Placement, after deducting issuance costs of approximately $0.8 million, were 
$79.2 million, which was recorded within Temporary Equity on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 
Company is using the net proceeds from the Private Placement for general corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2023, the estimated redemption value of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock was $123.4 
million, which represents the maximum cash payment, including cumulative dividends, that would be required to be paid 
if the Optional Term Redemption provision in the Certificate of Designations, as summarized below, is exercised as of the 
earliest possible redemption date of June 23, 2028. The decision to redeem the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for 
cash is made at the discretion of the Company; however, the Company is controlled by HHC through its voting control of 
the Company. Accordingly, the redemption of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is considered outside the control 
of the Company and, as a result, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is recorded within Temporary Equity on the 
Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

The Company has elected to apply the accretion method to adjust the carrying value of the Series A Convertible Preferred 
Stock to its estimated redemption value. Amounts recognized to accrete the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to its 
estimated redemption value are treated as a deemed dividend and are recorded as a reduction to "Additional paid-in 
capital". The estimated redemption value may vary in subsequent periods and the Company has elected to recognize such 
changes prospectively.

The captioned sections below provide a summary of the material terms of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, as set 
forth in the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the 
"Certificate of Designations").

Ranking — The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Class A Common Stock, the Class V Common 
Stock and each other class or series of shares of the Company that the Company may issue in the future the terms of 
which do not expressly provide that such class or series ranks equally with, or senior to, the Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights and/or rights upon liquidation, winding up or dissolution. 

Dividends — Dividends on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are cumulative and accrue from the date of issuance 
at the rate per annum of 7% of the Series A Purchase Price of each share, plus the amount of previously accrued 
dividends, compounded annually (the "Accruing Dividends"). The Company may elect to pay the Accruing Dividends 
either in cash or in additional shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Prior to the third anniversary of the Closing, 
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will participate on an as-converted basis in dividends declared and paid on the 
Class A Common Stock. 
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Conversion — Any shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock may, at the option of the holder, be converted at any 
time into shares of Class A Common Stock. The conversion price for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is initially 
$11.79 and is subject to adjustment upon certain events, including a stock split, a reverse stock split, or a dividend of the 
Class A Common Stock or Class V Common Stock to the Company’s common stockholders (as adjusted, the "Conversion 
Price"). The Company may require such conversion (i) if the closing price per share of Class A Common Stock, for at 
least twenty (20) of any thirty (30) consecutive trading days, exceeds: (a) on or after the third and prior to the seventh 
anniversary of the Closing, 150% of the Conversion Price; or (b) on or after the seventh and prior to the tenth anniversary 
of the Closing, 100% of the Conversion Price; and (ii) on or after the tenth anniversary of the Closing. The conversion rate 
in effect at any applicable time (the "Conversion Rate") is the quotient obtained by dividing the Series A Purchase Price 
by the Conversion Price. 

As of December 31, 2023, no shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have been converted and the outstanding 
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock was convertible into 6,785,410 shares of Class A Common Stock.

Voting — The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock votes together with the Class A Common Stock on an as-converted 
basis, and not as a separate class. The Investors have veto rights over (i) changes to the terms of the Certificate of 
Designations or the Company's certificate of incorporation or bylaws that adversely impact the Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock and (ii) the issuance of equity securities senior to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or other 
securities convertible thereto. 

Liquidation Preference — In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, each share of Series 
A Convertible Preferred Stock will be paid the greater of (i) the Series A Purchase Price plus any Accruing Dividends 
accrued but unpaid thereon, and (ii) the amount that such share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock would have 
received had it converted into the Class A Common Stock immediately prior to such liquidation, dissolution or winding 
up of the Company (the "Liquidation Preference"). After payment of the Liquidation Preference, the Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock will no longer be convertible and will not participate in any distribution made to the holders of the Class 
A Common Stock or Class V Common Stock. 

Change of Control — Upon a merger, consolidation, sale or other change of control transaction as described in the 
Certificate of Designations (a "Change of Control"), either (i) the Company may elect to redeem the Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock or (ii) each holder of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, individually, may require the Company to 
redeem all or any portion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The redemption price per share to be paid by the 
Company would be the greater of: (a) the Series A Purchase Price plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends 
multiplied by (i) if prior to or on the third anniversary of the Closing, 120%; (ii) if after the third but prior to or on the fifth 
anniversary of the Closing, 110%; (iii) if after the fifth anniversary of the Closing, 100%; and (b) the amount such share 
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock would have received had it converted into the Class A Common Stock prior to the 
Change of Control. Any shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock that are not so redeemed will automatically 
convert into shares of Class A Common Stock and be paid in connection with the Change of Control.  

Fundamental Transaction — In the event of any acquisition by the Company with a transaction value of at least 
$500.0 million or any equity or debt financing by the Company that raises at least $500.0 million, either (i) the Company 
may elect to redeem the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, or (ii) each holder of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, 
individually, may require the Company to redeem all or any portion of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The 
redemption price per share to be paid by the Company would be the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock plus any 
accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends multiplied by: (a) if prior to or on the third anniversary of the Closing, 120%; (b) 
if after the third but prior to or on the fifth anniversary of the Closing, 110%; (c) if after the fifth but prior to or on the 
sixth anniversary of the Closing, 108%; (d) if after the sixth but prior to or on the seventh anniversary of the Closing, 
106%; (e) if after the seventh but prior to or on the eighth anniversary of the Closing, 104%; (f) if after the eighth but prior 
to or on the ninth anniversary of the Closing, 102%; or (g) if after the ninth anniversary of the Closing, 100%. 

Optional Term Redemption — Any time after the fifth anniversary of the Closing, the Company may redeem all or any 
portion of the then-outstanding shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for cash (a "Term Redemption"). The 
redemption price per share to be paid by the Company would be equal to the greater of: (i) the Series A Purchase Price 
plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends multiplied by: (a) if after the fifth but prior to the sixth anniversary of the 
Closing, 110%; (b) if on or after the sixth but prior to the seventh anniversary of the Closing, 108%; (c) if on or after the 
seventh but prior to the eighth anniversary of the Closing, 106%; (d) if on or after the eighth but prior to the ninth 
anniversary of the Closing, 104%; (e) if on or after the ninth but prior to tenth anniversary of the Closing, 102%; or (f) if 
on or after the tenth anniversary of the Closing, 100%; and (ii) the amount such share of Series A Convertible Preferred 
Stock would have received had it converted into Class A Common Stock prior to the Term Redemption.  

Registration Rights Agreement — In connection with the Private Placement, the Company entered into a registration 
rights agreement with the Investors (the "Registration Rights Agreement") pursuant to which, the Investors will be entitled 
to certain demand, shelf and piggyback registration rights with respect to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and 
shares of the Class A Common Stock issuable upon conversion thereof.  
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19 — Stockholders' Equity

Class A Common Stock — Hagerty is authorized to issue 500,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock with a par value 
of $0.0001 per share. Holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share. As of December 31, 2023 
and December 31, 2022, there were 84,588,536 and 83,202,969 shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding, 
respectively.

Class V Common Stock — Hagerty is authorized to issue 300,000,000 shares of Class V Common Stock with a par value 
of $0.0001 per share. Class V Common Stock represents voting, non-economic interests in Hagerty. Holders of Class V 
Common Stock are entitled to 10 votes for each share. In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty issued 
shares of Class V Common Stock to the Legacy Unit Holders along with an equivalent number of The Hagerty Group 
units, as discussed below. Each share of Class V Common Stock, together with the corresponding unit of The Hagerty 
Group, is exchangeable for one share of Class A Common Stock. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there 
were 251,033,906 shares of Class V Common Stock issued and outstanding.

Preferred Stock — Hagerty is authorized to issue 20,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per 
share. Hagerty's Board has the authority to issue shares of Preferred Stock with such designations, voting and other rights 
and preferences as may be determined from time to time. 

On June 23, 2023, the Company issued 8,483,561 shares of the Company’s newly-designated Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $80.0 million, at a per-share purchase 
price of $9.43. As of December 31, 2023, there were 8,483,561 shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. Refer to 
Note 18 — Convertible Preferred Stock for additional information.

As of December 31, 2022, there were no shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding.
 
Non-controlling Interests — Hagerty, Inc. is the sole managing member of The Hagerty Group and, as a result, 
consolidates the financial statements of The Hagerty Group into its Consolidated Financial Statements. Hagerty, Inc. 
reports a non-controlling interest representing the economic interest in The Hagerty Group held by other unit holders of 
The Hagerty Group. Each Hagerty Group Unit and, if applicable, the associated share of Class V Common Stock, is 
exchangeable for one share of Class A Common Stock.

The following table summarizes the ownership of The Hagerty Group units as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Units Owned
Ownership 
Percentage Units Owned

Ownership 
Percentage

The Hagerty Group units held by Hagerty, Inc.  84,588,536  24.9 %  83,202,969  24.5 %
The Hagerty Group units held by other unit 
holders  255,499,164  75.1 %  255,758,466  75.5 %

Total  340,087,700  100.0 %  338,961,435  100.0 %

In connection with the Private Placement, the Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of 
The Hagerty Group was amended and restated in the form of a Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 
Agreement, to, among other things, create a new series of preferred units within The Hagerty Group ("The Hagerty Group 
Preferred Units"), which are all held by Hagerty, Inc., to parallel the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The Hagerty 
Group Preferred Units are recorded on the standalone unconsolidated financial statements of The Hagerty Group at their 
estimated redemption value, which represents the maximum cash payment, including cumulative dividends, that would be 
required to be paid to Hagerty, Inc. upon a Term Redemption of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Amounts 
recognized to accrete The Hagerty Group Preferred Units to their estimated redemption value are treated as a deemed 
dividend due to Hagerty, Inc. The amount of this deemed dividend is attributed entirely to Hagerty, Inc. prior to allocating 
the remainder of The Hagerty Group's net income between controlling and non-controlling interests. Refer to Note 18 — 
Convertible Preferred Stock for additional information on the Private Placement and the Series A Convertible Preferred 
Stock.

At the end of each reporting period, The Hagerty Group equity attributable to Hagerty, Inc. and the non-controlling unit 
holders, respectively, is reallocated to reflect their current ownership in The Hagerty Group.
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Redeemable Non-controlling Interest — In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into the 
Legacy Unit Holders Exchange Agreement. The Legacy Unit Holders Exchange Agreement permitted the Legacy Unit 
Holders to exchange shares of Class V Common Stock and the associated units of The Hagerty Group for an equivalent 
amount of shares of Class A Common Stock or, at the option of the Company, for cash. Because the Company had the 
option to redeem the non-controlling interest for cash and the Company is controlled by the Legacy Unit Holders through 
their voting control, the non-controlling interest was considered redeemable as the redemption was considered outside the 
Company's control. This redeemable non-controlling interest represented the economic interests of the Legacy Unit 
Holders. Income or loss was attributed to the redeemable non-controlling interest based on the weighted average 
ownership of The Hagerty Group units outstanding during the period held by the Legacy Unit Holders. 

The redeemable non-controlling interest was measured at the greater of the initial fair value or the redemption value and 
was required to be presented as Temporary Equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding adjustment 
to "Additional paid-in capital" and "Accumulated earnings (deficit)". The total redeemable non-controlling interest as of 
December 31, 2021 was $593.3 million. For the period from January 1, 2022 to March 23, 2022, additional accretion of 
$1.6 billion was recognized, with a corresponding adjustment of $162.1 million and $1.4 billion to "Additional paid-in 
capital" and "Accumulated earnings (deficit)", respectively.

On March 23, 2022, the Legacy Unit Holders Exchange Agreement was amended to revise the option for the Company to 
settle the exchange of Class V Common Stock and associated The Hagerty Group units in cash. Under the terms of the 
amendment, a cash exchange is only allowable in the event that net cash proceeds are received from a new permanent 
equity offering. The redeemable non-controlling interest balance of $2.1 billion as of March 23, 2022 was recorded in 
equity as non-controlling interest with corresponding adjustments of $1.4 billion, $528.6 million, and $215.6 million to 
"Accumulated earnings (deficit)", "Additional paid-in capital" and "Non-controlling interest", respectively.

20 — Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated under the Two-Class Method using Net income (loss) available to Class A 
Common Stockholders, divided by the weighted average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during 
the period. 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated using diluted Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders 
divided by the weighted average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period, adjusted to 
give effect to potentially dilutive securities.

The Company's potentially dilutive securities consist of (i) unexercised warrants, unvested share-based compensation 
awards, and shares issuable under the employee stock purchase plan, with the dilutive effect calculated using the Treasury 
Stock Method, and (ii) non-controlling interest units of The Hagerty Group and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, 
with the dilutive effect calculated using the more dilutive of the If-Converted Method and the Two-Class Method. 
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The following table summarizes the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations for the years ended December 31, 
2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands (except per share amounts)
Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock, Basic

Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders $ 15,881 $ 32,078 $ (46,358) 
Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding  84,180  82,728  82,327 
Net income (loss) per share of Class A Common Stock, basic $ 0.19 $ 0.39 $ (0.56) 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock, Diluted
Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders $ 31,769 $ (23,956) $ (46,358) 
Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding  340,323  336,147  82,327 
Net income (loss) per share of Class A Common Stock, Diluted $ 0.09 $ (0.07) $ (0.56) 

Net Income (Loss) Available to Class A Common Stockholders
Net income (loss) $ 28,179 $ 2,403 $ (61,354) 

Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest  (7,948)  29,675  398 
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest  —  —  14,598 
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  (3,677)  —  — 
Undistributed earnings allocated to Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  (673)  —  — 

Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders, Basic  15,881  32,078  (46,358) 
Undistributed earnings allocated to Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  347  —  — 
Adjustment for potentially dilutive units of The Hagerty Group  15,526  (28,642)  — 
Adjustment for potentially dilutive Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  —  —  — 
Adjustment for potentially dilutive share-based compensation awards  15  —  — 
Adjustment for potentially dilutive warrant liabilities  —  (27,392)  — 

Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders, Diluted $ 31,769 $ (23,956) $ (46,358) 

Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common Stock Outstanding
Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding, Basic  84,180  82,728  82,327 

Adjustment for potentially dilutive units of The Hagerty Group  255,559  252,806  — 
Adjustment for potentially dilutive Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  —  —  — 
Adjustment for potentially dilutive share-based compensation awards  584  —  — 
Adjustment for potentially dilutive warrants  —  613  — 

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding, Diluted  340,323  336,147  82,327 

The following table summarizes the weighted-average potential shares of Class A Common Stock excluded from diluted 
earnings (loss) per share of Class A Common Stock as their effect would be anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
The Hagerty Group units  —  —  251,034 
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  3,569  —  — 
Unvested shares associated with share-based compensation awards  3,767  7,048  — 
Warrants  19,484  7,050  20,006 

Total  26,820  14,098  271,040 
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21 — Share-Based Compensation

The Company's 2021 Equity Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of up to approximately 38.3 million shares of Class 
A Common Stock to employees and non-employee directors. The 2021 Equity Incentive Plan allows for the issuance of 
incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock 
units and performance restricted stock units. As of December 31, 2023, there were approximately 29.0 million shares 
available for future grants under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

Share-based compensation expense related to employees is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
within "Salaries and benefits" and, to a much lesser extent, when applicable, "Restructuring, impairment and related 
charges, net." Share-based compensation expense related to non-employee directors is recognized within "General and 
administrative services." The Company recognizes forfeitures of share-based compensation awards in the period in which 
they occur. 

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022. As the first share-based compensation grant occurred in the second quarter of 2022, there was no share-
based compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Restricted stock units $ 14,991 $ 9,814 
Performance restricted stock units  2,861  2,146 
Employee stock purchase plan  165  169 

Total share-based compensation expense $ 18,017 $ 12,129 

Restricted Stock Units

RSU grants typically vest over a two to five-year period. The grant date fair value is determined based on the closing 
market price of the Class A Common Stock on the business day prior to the grant date. The total fair value of RSUs that 
vested during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $10.0 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The 
weighted average grant date fair value of RSUs granted during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $9.12 
and $10.76, respectively. There was no share-based compensation activity during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The tax impact related to vested shares for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was not material to the 
Company's Consolidated Financial Statements due to the full valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset for the 
investment in the assets of The Hagerty Group. 

Unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs as of December 31, 2023 was $31.6 million, which the Company 
expects to recognize over a weighted average period of 3.35 years.

The following table provides a summary of the RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Restricted Stock 
Units

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2022 3,195,038 $ 10.76 
Granted 2,628,874  9.12 
Vested (927,891)  10.75 
Forfeited (217,989)  9.85 

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2023 4,678,032 $ 9.88 
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Performance Restricted Stock Units

In April 2022, the CEO was granted performance-based RSUs, which provide him the opportunity to receive up to 
3,707,136 shares of Class A Common Stock. The award had a grant date fair value of approximately $19.2 million, which 
was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The performance-based RSUs have both market-based and service-
based vesting conditions. Shares of Class A Common Stock issuable under this award will be earned based on the 
achievement of the following stock price targets: (i) 25% of the shares can be earned when the stock price of the Class A 
Common Stock exceeds $20.00 per share for 60 consecutive days, (ii) 25% of the shares can be earned when the stock 
price of the Class A Common Stock exceeds $25.00 per share for 60 consecutive days, and (iii) 50% of the shares can be 
earned when the stock price of the Class A Common Stock exceeds $30.00 per share for 60 consecutive days. These 
market-based conditions must be met in order for these performance-based RSUs to vest, and it is therefore possible that 
no shares will ultimately vest. If the market-based conditions are met, shares of Class A Common Stock earned will vest 
over the earlier of three years after achievement of the stock price target or the end of the seven-year performance period. 
The Company will recognize the entire $19.2 million of compensation expense for this award, regardless of whether such 
market-based conditions are met, over the requisite service period.

The following table summarizes the assumptions and related information used to determine the grant-date fair value of 
performance-based RSUs awarded in April 2022:

Inputs

Performance 
Restricted Stock 

Units
Weighted average grant-date fair value per share $5.19
Expected stock volatility 35%
Expected term (in years) 7.0
Risk-free interest rate 2.5%
Dividend yield —%

The following table provides a summary of performance-based RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Performance 
Restricted Stock 

Units

Weighted 
Average Fair 

Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022  3,707,136 $ 5.19 

Granted — —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 3,707,136 $ 5.19 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") allows substantially all of the Company's employees to purchase 
shares of the Class A Common Stock. The ESPP allows purchases of Class A Common Stock to be made at a discount of 
up to 15% and for the purchase price to occur at the lesser of the fair market value of the Class A Common Stock on (i) 
the offering date and (ii) the applicable purchase date. The Company's two previous offering periods offered discounts of 
10% and 5%. Employees are allowed to terminate their participation in the ESPP at any time during the purchase period 
prior to the purchase of shares. As of December 31, 2023, 197,819 shares had been purchased under the ESPP and there 
were approximately 11.3 million shares available for future purchases.
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22 — Taxation 

United States — The Hagerty Group is taxed as a pass-through ownership structure under provisions of the IRC and a 
similar section of state income tax law except for certain U.S. corporate subsidiaries and foreign subsidiaries. Any taxable 
income or loss generated by The Hagerty Group is passed through to and included in the taxable income or loss of The 
Hagerty Group unit holders, including Hagerty, Inc. Hagerty, Inc. is taxed as a corporation under the IRC and pays 
corporate, federal, state, and local taxes with respect to income allocated from The Hagerty Group. Hagerty, Inc., Hagerty 
Re, Broad Arrow, Hagerty Radwood, Inc., and various foreign subsidiaries are treated as taxable entities and income taxes 
are provided where applicable.

The Company has a TRA with the Legacy Unit Holders that requires the Company to pay 85% of the tax savings that are 
realized as a result of increases in the tax basis in The Hagerty Group's assets as a result of an exchange of The Hagerty 
Group units and Class V Common Stock for Class A Common Stock or cash. See "Tax Receivable Agreement Liability" 
below for additional information. 

Canada — Canadian entities are taxed as non-resident corporations and subject to income tax in Canada under provisions 
of the Canadian Revenue Agency.

United Kingdom — U.K. entities are taxed as corporations and subject to income tax in the U.K. under provisions of HM 
Revenue & Customs.

Bermuda — Hagerty Re made an irrevocable election under Section 953(d) of the U.S. IRC, as amended, to be taxed as a 
U.S. domestic corporation. As a result of this "domestic election", Hagerty Re is subject to U.S. taxation on its world-wide 
income as if it were a U.S. corporation. In accordance with an agreement between Hagerty Re and the IRS, Hagerty Re 
established an irrevocable letter of credit with the IRS in 2021.

Tax Legislation — In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act ("IRA") was enacted into law. Among the provisions in 
the IRA was a 15% corporate minimum tax effective for years beginning after December 31, 2022, and a 1% tax on share 
repurchases after December 31, 2022. The Company does not expect the tax provisions of the IRA to have a material 
impact on its effective tax rate or its Consolidated Financial Statements.

On December 27, 2023, Bermuda enacted legislation implementing a corporate income tax, effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2025. Without making an election, Hagerty Re would not be considered a Bermuda 
Constituent Entity since Hagerty, Inc. owns less than 80% of the economic value of Hagerty Re. Hagerty Re has not made 
and does not intend to make an election to be a Bermuda Constituent Entity and therefore is not subject to the corporate 
income tax regime in Bermuda.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD") has a framework to implement a global 
minimum corporate tax of 15% for companies with global revenues and profits above certain thresholds (referred to as 
"Pillar 2"), with certain aspects of Pillar 2 effective January 1, 2024 and other aspects effective January 1, 2025. While its 
uncertain whether the U.S. will enact legislation to adopt Pillar 2, certain countries in which the Company operates have 
adopted legislation, and other countries are in the process of introducing legislation to implement Pillar 2. The Company 
is still assessing the impact of Pillar 2. 

Income Tax Expense — Income (loss) before income tax expense includes the following components:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
United States $ 62,030 $ 24,778 $ (44,434) 
Foreign  (17,258)  (13,682)  (10,169) 

Total $ 44,772 $ 11,096 $ (54,603) 
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Total income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 
consists of the following components:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Current:

Federal $ 13,664 $ 4,041 $ 3,753 
State  8  3  — 
Foreign  —  —  (40) 

$ 13,672 $ 4,044 $ 3,713 
Deferred:

Federal $ 2,899 $ 2,999 $ 3,038 
State  22  (26)  — 
Foreign  —  —  — 

 2,921  2,973  3,038 
Total $ 16,593 $ 7,017 $ 6,751 

Income tax expense (benefit) reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements differs from the tax computed by 
applying the statutory U.S. federal rate of 21% to "Income (loss) before income tax expense" as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands (except percentages)
Income tax (benefit) expense at statutory rate $ 9,402  21 % $ 2,330  21 % $ (11,467)  21 %
State taxes  (232)  (1) %  (479)  (4) %  (163)  — %
Loss not subject to entity-level taxes  5,000  11 %  8,727  79 %  6,485  (12) %
Foreign rate differential  (529)  (1) %  (375)  (3) %  (276)  1 %
Change in valuation allowance  393  1 %  5,647  51 %  2,759  (5) %
Change in fair value of warrant liability  (2,424)  (5) %  (8,799)  (79) %  8,933  (16) %
Permanent items  914  2 %  852  8 %  477  (1) %
Effect of changes in tax rates  4,018  9 %  (851)  (8) %  —  — %
Other, net  51  — %  (35)  — %  3  — %

Income tax expense $ 16,593  37 % $ 7,017  65 % $ 6,751  (12) %
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities — Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amount recognized for tax purposes, as 
adjusted for foreign currency translation. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the tax effects of temporary differences that 
give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax provision are as follows:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Deferred tax assets:

Discount on provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 1,019 $ 802 
Unearned premiums  12,886  9,886 
Unrealized foreign currency gain  110  229 
Excess tax basis  145,970  159,337 
Net operating loss ("NOL") and other carryforwards  23,768  17,197 
Other  419  457 

Gross deferred tax assets  184,172  187,908 
Less: valuation allowance  (169,632)  (176,116) 
Total net deferred tax assets $ 14,540 $ 11,792 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred acquisition costs $ (29,744) $ (22,542) 
Excise tax accrual  —  (1,068) 
Unrealized foreign currency gain  (110)  (229) 
Unrealized investment gain  (46)  (37) 
Intangible assets  (555)  (759) 
Other  (22)  (7) 

Total deferred tax liabilities $ (30,477) $ (24,642) 
Net deferred tax liability $ (15,937) $ (12,850) 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded deferred tax assets of $184.2 million and $187.9 million, 
respectively, of which $146.0 million and $159.3 million, respectively, relates to the difference between the outside tax 
basis and book basis of its investment in the assets of The Hagerty Group. The Company's deferred tax assets are reduced 
by a valuation allowance when management believes it is more likely than not that some, or all, of the deferred tax assets 
will not be realized. After considering all positive and negative evidence of taxable income in the carryback and 
carryforward periods, as permitted by law, the Company believes it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets, 
including the deferred tax asset for the investment in the assets of The Hagerty Group, will not be realized. As a result, the 
Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $169.6 million and $176.1 million against its deferred tax assets as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In the event that management subsequently determines that it is more likely 
than not that the Company will realize its deferred tax assets in the future over the recorded amount, a decrease to the 
valuation allowance will be made, which will reduce the provision for income taxes.

117



The Company has income tax NOL carryforwards related to U.S. and foreign operations of approximately $129.1 million 
and $93.5 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset of 
$23.3 million reflecting the benefit of these loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2023. Of these deferred tax assets, 
$13.6 million does not expire, and the remaining $9.6 million expires as follows:

in thousands
2036 $ 404 
2037 $ 725 
2038 $ 867 
2039 $ — 
2040 $ 1,179 
2041 $ 1,459 
2042 $ 1,998 
2043 $ 3,018 

Tax Examinations — The Company is subject to taxation and files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, as 
well as many state and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2023, tax years 2020 to 2022 are subject to examination 
by various tax authorities. With few exceptions, as of December 31, 2023, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. 
federal, state, local or foreign examinations for years before 2020. The Hagerty Group is currently under audit by the IRS 
for the 2021 tax year. 

The Canadian statute of limitation for tax year 2018 was open as of December 31, 2023 and remains open because the 
Company is currently under examination by the Canadian Revenue Agency for that year.

Uncertain Tax Positions — The calculation of the Company's tax liabilities involves uncertainties in the application of 
complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions across its global operations. ASC 740 states that a tax 
benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained 
upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical merits. 

The Company records uncertain tax benefits ("UTB") as liabilities in accordance with ASC 740 and adjusts these 
liabilities when management's conclusion changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously 
available. Because of the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is 
materially different from the current estimate of the UTB liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or 
decreases to income tax expense in the period in which new information is available. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits and had no material accrued 
interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. If recorded, interest and penalties would be recorded within 
"Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability — The TRA provides for payment to the Legacy Unit Holders of 85% of the U.S. 
federal, state and local income tax savings realized by Hagerty, Inc. as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain 
other tax benefits as outlined in the Business Combination Agreement (provided as Exhibit 2.1, incorporated by reference 
within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual Report) upon the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Hagerty, Inc. Class V 
Common Stock for Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock or cash. The Hagerty Group made an election under Section 754 
of the IRC with the filing of its 2019 income tax return, which cannot be revoked without the permission of the IRS 
Commissioner and will be in place for any future exchange of The Hagerty Group units. The remaining 15% cash tax 
savings resulting from the basis adjustments will be retained by Hagerty, Inc.

The amount and timing of any payments under the TRA will vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not 
limited to, the increase in tax basis of The Hagerty Group's assets, the timing of any future redemptions, exchanges or 
purchases of The Hagerty Group units held by Legacy Unit Holders, the price of Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock at 
the time of the purchase, redemption, or exchange, the extent to which redemptions or exchanges are taxable, the amount 
and timing of the taxable income that Hagerty, Inc. generates in the future, the tax rates then applicable and the portion of 
the payments under the TRA constituting imputed interest. The estimated value of the TRA recorded by the Company 
within "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets was $0.6 million and $3.2 million as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which was limited by the ability to currently utilize tax benefits. The decrease 
in value of $2.7 million was recorded in "Interest and other income (expense)" within the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.
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In general, cash tax savings result in a year when the tax liability of Hagerty, Inc. for the year, computed without regard to 
the deductions attributable to the amortization of the basis increase and other deductions that arise in connection with the 
payment of the cash consideration under the TRA or the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Hagerty, Inc. Class V 
Common Stock for Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock, would be more than the tax liability for the year taking into 
account such deductions. Payments under the TRA will not be due until the Company produces taxable income and the 
resulting cash tax liability is reduced by deducting the amortization of the basis increase on a filed tax return. The 
payments under the TRA are expected to be substantial. 

23 — Related-Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2023, Markel and State Farm had the following equity interests in Hagerty and as a result, are 
considered related parties:

Markel State Farm

Equity Interest Shares/Units
Percentage of total 

outstanding (1) Shares/Units
Percentage of total 

outstanding (1)

Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock  3,000,000  3.5 %  50,000,000  59.1 %
Hagerty, Inc. Class V Common Stock  75,000,000  29.9 %  —  — %
Hagerty, Inc. Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock  1,590,668  18.8 %  5,302,226  62.5 %
The Hagerty Group units  75,000,000  22.1 %  —  — %

Controlling Interest  3,000,000  3.5 %  50,000,000  59.1 %
Non-controlling Interest  75,000,000  29.4 %  —  — 

(1) The percentages reflected represent only the ownership of the specific security identified in each row, and are not reflective of the total 
economic ownership in Hagerty. Further, these percentages do not reflect any ownership of warrants.

Refer to Note 19 — Stockholders' Equity for a description of each equity interest in the table above.

State Farm

Alliance Agreement 

Hagerty has a 10-year master alliance agreement with State Farm under which State Farm’s customers, through State 
Farm agents, are able to access Hagerty's features and services. This program began issuing policies in four initial states in 
September 2023. Under this agreement, State Farm paid Hagerty an advanced commission of $20.0 million in 2020, 
which is being recognized as "Commission and fee revenue" over the remaining life of the arrangement.

In conjunction with the master alliance agreement, the Company also entered into a managing general underwriter 
agreement whereby the State Farm Classic+ policy is offered through State Farm Classic Insurance Company, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of State Farm. The State Farm Classic+ policy is available to new and existing State Farm customers 
through their agents on a state-by-state basis. Hagerty is paid a commission under the managing general underwriter 
agreement and ancillary agreements for servicing the State Farm Classic+ policies. Additionally, the Company has the 
opportunity to offer HDC membership to State Farm Classic+ customers which provides Hagerty an additional revenue 
opportunity. Commission revenue associated with the State Farm Classic+ policies issued were not material for the year 
ended December 31, 2023. 
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Reinsurance Agreement

Effective March 1, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into a quota share reinsurance agreement to cede 50% of the risk assumed 
from Evanston in relation to High-Net-Worth Accounts to Oglesby Reinsurance Company, a subsidiary of State Farm. 
Refer to Note 13 — Reinsurance for additional information on the Company's reinsurance programs.

The following tables summarize all balances related to the risk ceded by Hagerty Re to State Farm subsidiaries:

December 31,
2023

Assets: in thousands
Commissions receivable $ 1,963 
Deferred acquisition costs, net (1)  (3,898) 
Other current assets  9,268 

Total assets $ 7,333 
Liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 3,775 
Total liabilities $ 3,775 

(1) Represents unearned ceding commission received from State Farm subsidiaries. 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2023
Revenue: in thousands

Earned premium (1) $ (5,883) 
Expenses:

Ceding commission, net (2) $ (3,059) 
Losses and loss adjustment expenses (3)  (1,877) 

Total expenses $ (4,936) 
(1) Represents premiums ceded to State Farm subsidiaries, which are accounted for as a reduction to Earned premium. 
(2) Represents commissions from State Farm subsidiaries related to ceded reinsurance, which are accounted for as a reduction to Ceding 

commission, net. 
(3) Represents loss recoveries associated with reinsurance ceded to State Farm subsidiaries, which are accounted for as a reduction to Losses and 

loss adjustment expenses.

State Farm Term Loan

On September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into an unsecured term loan facility with State Farm in an aggregate principal 
amount of $25.0 million and an interest rate of 8.0% per annum. The State Farm Term Loan will mature on September 19, 
2033. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt for additional information. 
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Markel

Alliance Agreement

The Company and Markel have an alliance agreement (the "Markel Alliance Agreement") and associated agency 
agreement pursuant to which policies sold by Hagerty's U.S. MGAs are underwritten by Essentia Insurance Company 
("Essentia") and reinsured with Essentia's affiliate, Evanston, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Markel.

On December 18, 2023, the Markel Alliance Agreement was amended to, among other things, (i) include a new definition 
of "Enthusiast Business" and remove Enthusiast Business from both definitions of "Restricted Business" and "Alliance 
Business"; (ii) delay the Company's acquisition rights to Essentia until 2026 at the earliest and 2030 at the latest and; (iii) 
grant the Company a new waiver to pursue a strategic opportunity with a third party insurance company. In connection 
with the amendments to the Markel Alliance Agreement, the Company and Markel also amended the agency agreement 
referenced in the Markel Alliance Agreement to increase the base commission rate earned on personal lines U.S. auto 
coverage to 37% and to adjust the profit share commission factors to scale from -5% to a maximum +5% of written 
premium, with 80% of the expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024.

The following tables provide information related to Markel-affiliated Due to insurer liabilities and Commission revenue 
associated with the Markel Alliance Agreement:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands (except percentages)
Due to insurer $ 75,922 $ 64,873 
Percent of total  95 %  95 %

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
in thousands (except percentages)

Commission revenue $ 340,534 $ 285,254 $ 239,432 
Percent of total  95 %  95 %  90 %

Reinsurance Agreement

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, under a quota share agreement with Evanston, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Markel, Hagerty Re assumed approximately 80% and 70%, respectively, of the risks written through the 
Company’s U.S. MGAs. Additionally, under a quota share agreement with Markel International Insurance Company 
Limited, Hagerty Re reinsured approximately 80% and 70% of the risks for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively, written through the Company’s U.K. MGA. 

Effective January 1, 2023, the quota share agreement with Evanston was amended to increase Hagerty Re's participation 
on High-Net-Worth Accounts from 80% to 100%. At the same time, Hagerty Re entered into a reinsurance agreement to 
cede 10% of the High-Net-Worth Accounts physical damage risks assumed from Evanston to Markel International, a 
subsidiary of Markel. 
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The following tables summarize all balances related to the Company's reinsurance business with Markel affiliates:

December 31,
2023 2022

Assets: in thousands
Premiums receivable $ 134,376 $ 97,897 
Commissions receivable  630  — 
Deferred acquisition costs, net  141,880  103,869 
Other current assets  1,915  — 

Total assets $ 278,801 $ 201,766 
Liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 1,553 $ — 
Losses payable  60,253  53,800 
Provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses  129,267  106,436 
Commissions payable  107,286  75,898 
Unearned premiums  307,504  227,192 

Total liabilities $ 605,863 $ 463,326 

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenue: in thousands
Earned premium $ 535,352 $ 386,696 $ 281,794 

Expenses:
Ceding commission, net $ 247,918 $ 184,124 $ 134,946 
Losses and loss adjustment expenses  214,401  182,340  116,396 

Total expenses $ 462,319 $ 366,464 $ 251,342 

Pursuant to the terms of the quota share agreement with Evanston, Hagerty Re maintains funds in trust for the benefit of 
Evanston. These funds are included within "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" in the Company's Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The balance held in trust for the benefit of Evanston was $517.2 million and $360.2 million as of December 31, 
2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Broad Arrow

In January 2022, the Company entered into a joint venture with Broad Arrow and acquired approximately 40% equity 
ownership interest in Broad Arrow. In August 2022, the Company acquired the remaining 60% of Broad Arrow in 
exchange for $73.3 million of Class A Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units exchangeable for Class A Common 
Stock. Prior to the Company's joint venture with Broad Arrow in January 2022, Broad Arrow was majority owned by 
Kenneth Ahn, the President of Marketplace, who received The Hagerty Group units as a part of this transaction. Refer to 
Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments for additional information.

Speed Digital

In April 2022, Hagerty acquired Speed Digital for a purchase price of $15.0 million. Speed Digital was previously wholly 
owned indirectly by Robert Kauffman, a director on Hagerty's Board, who will receive 100% of the proceeds of the 
purchase price. Refer to Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments for additional information.

Other Related Party Transactions

From time-to-time, in the ordinary course of business, related parties, such as members of the Board and management, 
buy and sell collector cars through Marketplace auctions or private sales.
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24 — Commitments and Contingencies

Employee Compensation Agreements — In the ordinary course of conducting its business, the Company enters into certain 
employee compensation agreements from time to time which commit the Company to severance obligations in the event 
an employee terminates employment with the Company. If applicable, these obligations are included in the accrued 
expenses lines of the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Litigation — From time to time, the Company is involved in various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary 
course of business. Management is required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes related to these 
legal contingencies, as well as potential ranges of probable or reasonably possible losses. The determination of the amount 
of any losses to be recorded or disclosed as a result of these contingencies is based on a careful analysis of each individual 
exposure with, in some cases, the assistance of outside legal counsel. The amount of losses recorded or disclosed for such 
contingencies may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or a change in legal or settlement 
strategy. While the impact of any one or more legal claims or proceedings could be material to the Company's operating 
results in any period, management does not believe that the outcome of any of these pending claims or proceedings 
(including the Data Security Incident discussed below), individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse 
effect on the Company's consolidated financial condition.

Data Security Incident — In 2021, the Company experienced an unauthorized access into its online insurance quote 
feature whereby attackers used personal information already in their possession to obtain additional consumer data, 
including driver’s license numbers. The unauthorized access issue has been remediated. This incident is the subject of 
coordinated industry-wide regulatory investigations in New York state. The Company could be subject to litigation, fines 
and/or penalties related to this incident. In 2023, the Company accrued an estimated liability related to this incident based 
on the facts known by management and developed through its assessment of the current status of ongoing dialog with the 
regulatory investigators. The amount of the estimated liability is not material to the Company's Consolidated Financial 
Statements. The amount of any fines, penalties, and/or settlements related to this incident could differ from the amount 
currently accrued and such difference is not currently estimable.

25 — Subsequent Events

On January 12, 2024, the Company's subsidiary, Hagerty Insurance Holdings, Inc., agreed to acquire all of the issued and 
outstanding capital stock of Consolidated National Insurance Company ("CNIC") for approximately $18.4 million, subject 
to upward or downward adjustment in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The closing price will be comprised 
of approximately $10 million for CNIC's approved state licenses and $8 million for the expected capital and surplus. 
Subject to the satisfactory completion of various closing conditions, the Company expects to complete the CNIC 
acquisition during the second quarter of 2024.
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Schedule I - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant Parent Company

Hagerty, Inc.
Condensed Statement of Operations (Parent Company Only)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

OPERATING EXPENSES: (in thousands)
Sales expense $ 7 $ 14 $ — 
General and administrative services  791  1,018  43 

Total operating expenses  798  1,032  43 
OPERATING LOSS  (798)  (1,032)  (43) 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  11,543  41,899  (42,540) 
Interest and other income (expense)  2,788  529  — 
Intercompany dividend income (1)  3,677  —  — 
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE  17,210  41,396  (42,583) 
Income tax expense  —  (3)  — 
Equity earnings (loss) in subsidiaries, net of tax  10,969  (38,990)  (18,771) 

NET INCOME (LOSS)  28,179  2,403  (61,354) 
Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest  (7,948)  29,675  398 
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest  —  —  14,598 
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock  (3,677)  —  — 

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO CLASS A COMMON 
STOCKHOLDERS $ 16,554 $ 32,078 $ (46,358) 

(1) Eliminated in consolidation.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Condensed Balance Sheets (Parent Company Only)

December 31,
2023 2022

ASSETS
in thousands (except share 

amounts)
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 604 $ 24,177 
Other current assets  549  514 

Total current assets  1,153  24,691 
Other long-term assets  1,498  2,011 
Investment in subsidiaries (1)  526,130  395,580 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 528,781 $ 422,282 
LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ — $ 30 
Intercompany payable (1)  846  6,114 

Total current liabilities  846  6,144 
Warrant liabilities  34,018  45,561 
Other long-term liabilities  572  3,208 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  35,436  54,913 
TEMPORARY EQUITY
Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value (20,000,000 shares authorized, 8,483,561 Series 
A Convertible Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 
no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022)  82,836  — 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Class A Common Stock, $0.0001 par value (500,000,000 shares authorized, 
84,588,536 and 83,202,969 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, respectively)  8  8 
Class V Common Stock, $0.0001 par value (300,000,000 authorized, 251,033,906 
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022)  25  25 
Additional paid-in capital  561,754  549,034 
Accumulated deficit  (468,995)  (489,602) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (88)  (213) 

Total stockholders' equity  92,704  59,252 
Non-controlling interest  317,805  308,117 

Total equity  410,509  367,369 
TOTAL LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' 
EQUITY $ 528,781 $ 422,282 

(1) Eliminated in consolidation.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (Parent Company Only)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ 28,179 $ 2,403 $ (61,354) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating 
activities:

Equity in undistributed income (loss) of subsidiaries  (14,646)  38,990  18,771 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (11,543)  (41,899)  42,540 
Other  (2,636)  (300)  — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets  478  513  (3,038) 
Intercompany payable (1)  —  1,616  (1,334) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (32)  (50)  140 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities  (200)  1,273  (4,275) 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Investment in subsidiaries (1)  (102,635)  (30,000)  (210,179) 
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  (102,635)  (30,000)  (210,179) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs  79,262  —  — 
Cash received in Business Combination  —  —  789,661 
Cash consideration to HHC at closing of Business Combination  —  —  (489,661) 
Payment of capitalized transaction costs  —  (1,651)  (30,991) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase 
plan  —  —  — 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities  79,262  (1,651)  269,009 
Change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  (23,573)  (30,378)  54,555 
Beginning cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  24,177  54,555  — 
Ending cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 604 $ 24,177 $ 54,555 

CASH PAID FOR:
Taxes $ — $ 3 $ — 

(1) Eliminated in consolidation.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Parent Company Only)

1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations — Hagerty, Inc. (the "Parent Company") was formed in 2020 as a Delaware corporation and is a 
holding company with no direct operations. The Parent Company's assets and liabilities primarily consist of its equity 
interest in The Hagerty Group and its consolidated subsidiaries, as well as its warrant liabilities. 

Basis of Presentation — The Parent Company's Condensed Financial Statements have been prepared using the equity 
method, whereby the investment in consolidated subsidiaries is stated at cost plus equity in undistributed earnings of 
consolidated subsidiaries since the date of acquisition. These Condensed Financial Statements should be read in 
conjunction with the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of the Parent Company's Condensed Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Although the estimates are considered reasonable, 
actual results could materially differ from those estimates.
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Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Additions

in thousands

Balance at 
beginning of 

period

Charged to 
costs and 
expenses

Charge to 
other 

accounts (Deductions)
Balance at 

end of period
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets $ 176,116 $ 393 $ (6,877) $ — $ 169,632 

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets $ 174,821 $ 5,647 $ (4,352) $ — $ 176,116 

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets $ 4,771 $ 2,759 $ 167,291 $ — $ 174,821 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as 
of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. 

Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls 
and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2023 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be 
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms specified by the SEC and (ii) accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended 
December 31, 2023, which were identified in connection with management's evaluation required by paragraph (d) of 
Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange act, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such 
term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, with 
assistance from other members of management, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2023, based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 
(2013 Framework), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its 
evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 
2023.

Inherent Limitations over Internal Controls

Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
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Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Company's 
internal controls will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and 
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, 
the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not 
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As we are an "emerging growth company" under the JOBS Act of 2012, the Company's independent registered public 
accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, is not required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting and no attestation report has been included in this Annual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

A portion of the compensation of our executive officers is delivered in the form of deferred equity awards, including time 
and performance-based restricted stock unit awards. This compensation design is intended to align our executive 
compensation with the interests of our stockholders. Following the delivery of shares of our Class A Common Stock 
under those equity awards, once any applicable service time vesting standards have been satisfied, our executive officers 
from time to time may engage in the open-market sale of some of those shares. Our executive officers may also engage 
from time to time in other transactions involving our securities.

Transactions in our securities by our executive officers are required to be made in accordance with our Insider Trading 
Policy, which, among other things, requires that the transactions be in accordance with applicable U.S. federal securities 
laws that prohibit trading while in possession of material nonpublic information. Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act 
provides an affirmative defense that enables prearranged transactions in securities in a manner that avoids concerns about 
initiating transactions at a future date while possibly in possession of material nonpublic information. Our Insider Trading 
Policy permits our executive officers to enter into trading plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1. Accordingly, sales 
under these plans may occur at any time, including possibly before, simultaneously with, or immediately after significant 
events involving our company.

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer of the Company has adopted or terminated a 
"Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of 
Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTION THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in 
connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 
120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 ("2024 Proxy Statement"). 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 
reference. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNER AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 
reference. 
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 
reference. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 
reference. 
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial statements and financial statement schedules filed as part of this report are listed in the index included in 
Item 8 of Part II Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this report.

(b) Exhibits. The following exhibits, as required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K, are filed with or incorporated by 
reference in this report as stated below.

Exhibit No. Description

2.1*

Business Combination Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, by and among Aldel Financial Inc. Aldel 
Merger Sub LLC and The Hagerty Group, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 18, 2021).

3.1

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated December 2, 2021 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Amendment No.3 to Form S-1 (File No. 
333-261810), filed with the SEC on January 20, 2023).

3.2
Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company, dated December 2, 2021 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

3.3

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company 
dated June 23, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 
001-40244), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023).

4.1
Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the 
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.2
Form of Class V Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the 
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.3
Form of Warrant Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.4

Warrant Agreement, dated April 8, 2021, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the 
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 333-253166), 
filed with the SEC on April 13, 2021).

4.5

Warrant Agreement, dated December 2, 2021, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and 
the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), 
filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.6 Description of Registrant's Securities, filed herewith.

10.1

Form of Subscription Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, by and between the Company and certain 
institutional and accredited investors party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the 
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 18, 2021).

10.2

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, among the Company, 
Aldel Investors LLC, FG SPAC Partners LP, ThinkEquity, a division of Fordham Financial Management, 
Inc., HHC, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, Markel Corporation, and certain other 
parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed 
with the SEC on August 18, 2021).

10.3

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, among Hagerty Holding Corp., State Farm Mutual 
Automobile Insurance Company, Markel Corporation and the Company (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 18, 2021).

10.4

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2021, by and between the Company, Hagerty Holding 
Corp. and Markel Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File 
No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.5

Amendment No. 1 to Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and among the Company, 
The Hagerty Group, LLC, Hagerty Holding Corp. and Markel Group Inc (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023).

10.6

Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of The Hagerty Group, LLC, dated 
December 18, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 
001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 22, 2023).

10.7

Sponsor Warrant Lock-Up Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2021, by and among the Company, Aldel 
Investors LLC and FG SPAC Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).
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10.8

Amended and Restated Exchange Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2022, by and among the Company, The 
Hagerty Group, LLC, Markel Corporation, and Hagerty Holding Corp. Form of Indemnification Agreement 
by and between the Company and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the 
Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.9†

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its directors and officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the 
SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.10†
Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.11†
Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the 
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.12*

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and among the Company, State Farm Mutual 
Automobile Insurance Company, Markel Group Inc., McKeel O Hagerty Revocable Trust dated September 
18, 2003, and First Restated Tammy J. Hagerty Revocable Trust dated September 2, 2004 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on June 23, 
2023).

10.13

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and among the Company, State Farm Mutual 
Automobile Insurance Company, Markel Group Inc., McKeel O Hagerty Revocable Trust dated September 
18, 2003, and First Restated Tammy J. Hagerty Revocable Trust dated September 2, 2004 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on June 23, 
2023).

10.14†

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2021, by and between The Hagerty Group, LLC and Paul 
E. Rehrig (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), 
filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.15†

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2023, by and between the Company and Paul E. 
Rehrig (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed 
with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.16†

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2018, by and between Hagerty Holding Corp. and McKeel 
O Hagerty (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), 
filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.17†

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated March 10, 2023, by and between the Company and McKeel 
O Hagerty (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), 
filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.18†

Employment Agreement, dated August 19, 2022, by and between the Company and Patrick McClymont 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the 
SEC on August 23, 2022).

10.19†

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2023, by and between the Company and Patrick 
McClymont (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), 
filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.20†

Employment Agreement, dated December 1, 2021, by and between the Company and Kenneth Ahn  
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with 
the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.21†

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2023, by and between the Company and 
Kenneth Ahn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 
001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.22†

Executive Retention, Transition and Release Agreement, dated July 31, 2023, by and between The Hagerty 
Group, LLC and Barbara Matthews (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 2, 2023).

10.23†

Employment Agreement, dated August 1, 2023, by and between the Company and Diana Chafey 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the 
SEC on November 8, 2023). 

10.24

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2023, among The 
Hagerty Group LLC, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent to the Lenders 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the 
SEC on May 9, 2023).

10.25

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2023, among The 
Hagerty Group LLC, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent to the Lenders 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the 
SEC on May 9, 2023).
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10.26*

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2023, among The 
Hagerty Group LLC, Broad Arrow Capital Europe Limited, Broad Arrow Capital UK Limited, the Lenders 
party hereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 8, 2023).

10.27

Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2023, among 
The Hagerty Group LLC, Broad Arrow Capital Europe Limited, Broad Arrow Capital UK Limited, the 
Lenders party hereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on November 8, 
2023).

10.28*

Tenth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 28, 2023, among 
The Hagerty Group, LLC, the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers party hereto, the Lenders party hereto, and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the 
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 1, 2023).

10.29*

Fifth Amended and Restated Master Alliance Agreement between the Company, The Hagerty Group, LLC, 
and Markel Corporation, dated December 18, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the 
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 22, 2023).

10.30†

Form 1 of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to the Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Stock Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the Company's Form S-8 (File No. 333-263989), filed with the 
SEC on March 30, 2022).

10.31†

Form 2 of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to the Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Stock Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 of the Company's Form S-8 (File No. 333-263989), filed with the 
SEC on March 30, 2022).

10.32†

Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to the Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Stock Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.5 of the Company's Form S-8 (File No. 333-263989), filed with the 
SEC on March 30, 2022).

10.33†
Amended and Restated Annual Incentive Plan of The Hagerty Group, LLC., effective January 1, 2023, filed 
herewith.

10.34†
Amended and Restated Deferred Incentive Awards Plan of Hagerty Insurance Agency, LLC., effective 
January 1, 2019, filed herewith.

19.1 Hagerty Insider Trading Policy, dated December 14, 2023, filed herewith.
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company, filed herewith

23.1
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accountant of the Company, filed 
herewith.

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the Signature Pages of this Annual Report on Form 10-K), filed herewith
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), filed herewith.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), filed herewith.
32.1# Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, filed herewith.
32.2# Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, filed herewith.

97.1
Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Incentive Compensation, adopted by the Board of the 
Company dated November 16, 2023, filed herewith. 

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL).

* The schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation 
S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request.

† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
# This certification is deemed not filed for purpose of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject 

to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the 
Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 12, 2024.

HAGERTY, INC.

By: /s/ McKeel O Hagerty
McKeel O Hagerty
Chief Executive Officer
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Power Of Attorney
 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and 
appoints McKeel O Hagerty and Diana M. Chafey, jointly and severally, his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power 
of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and 
to file the same with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, 
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 12, 2024.

Name Title Date

/s/ McKeel O Hagerty
McKeel O Hagerty Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Patrick McClymont
Patrick McClymont Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) March 12, 2024

/s/ Kevin M. Delaney

Kevin M. Delaney
Chief Accounting Officer and Controller (Principal Accounting 
Officer)

March 12, 2024

/s/ Michael E. Angelina
Michael E. Angelina Chairman of the Board March 12, 2024

/s/ F. Michael Crowley
F. Michael Crowley Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Laurie L. Harris
Laurie L. Harris Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Robert I. Kauffman
Robert I. Kauffman Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Sabrina Kay
Sabrina Kay Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Mika Salmi
Mika Salmi Director March 12, 2024

/s/ William H. Swanson
William H. Swanson Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Randall Harbert
Randall Harbert Director March 12, 2024

136






